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Preface

R A e

Accounting Trends & Techniques—2003, Fifty-Seventh Edition (the current edition), is a compila-
tion of data obtained by a survey of 600 annual reports to stockholders undertaken for the purpose
of analyzing the accounting information disclosed in such reports. The annual reports surveyed were
those of selected industrial, merchandising, technology, and service companies for fiscal periods ending
between February 23, 2002 and February 2, 2003.

Significant accounting trends, as revealed by a comparison of current survey findings with those
of prior years, are highlighted in numerous comparative tabulations throughout this publication. These
tables show trends in such diverse accounting matters as financial statement format and terminology
and the accounting treatment of transactions and events reflected in the financial statements.

Accounting techniques are illustrated by excerpts from the annual reports of the survey companies.
References (in the form of a listing of company reference numbers—see the following paragraph) to
additional illustrations of an accounting technique may be requested from the American Institute of
Certified Public Accountants by contacting Yury lofe, Senior Editor, at:

Harborside Financial Center
201 Plaza Three, Jersey City, NJ 07311-3881
Telephone: (201) 938-3491
Fax: (201) 938-3780
E-mail: yiofe@aicpa.org

Each of the 600 survey companies included in the current edition has been assigned a company
reference number which is used for reference in the discussion of pertinent information. Companies
not included from the prior edition were eliminated because of a business combination with another
company or a delisting by the SEC. The identification numbers of the eliminated companies have not
been reused. Over the years, company reference numbers 601 through 1070 have been assigned to the
replacement companies. In the current edition, company reference numbers 1071 through 1094 have
been assigned to additional replacement companies. The 600 companies in the current edition are listed
in the Appendix of 600 Companies both alphabetically and by company reference number.

We would appreciate your feedback! We hope the additions described above are informative and
useful. However, we urge you to give us your comments regarding the content of this publication,
suggested improvements for future editions, and any other feedback. Please direct your comments to
Yu:¥ é‘,fe a:t the above address or phone numbers. All comments will be considered and kept strictly
confidential.

Robert Durak, CPA, Senior Manager—Accounting and Auditing Publications
AMERICAN INSTITUTE OF CERTIFIED PUBLIC ACCOUNTANTS

Order/technical information:
Accounting Trends & Techniques: (201) 938-3491

AICPA Technical Hotline: (888) 777-7077, option 5
AICPA Member Satisfaction (order department): (888) 777-7077, option 1
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COMPANIES SELECTED FOR SURVEY

1.01 This section is concerned with general information
about the 600 companies selected for the survey and with
certain accounting information usually disclosed in notes ac-
companying the basic financial statements.

1.02 All 600 companies included in the survey are regis-
tered with the Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC).
Many of the survey companies have securities traded on one
of the major stock exchanges—80% on the New York and
2% on the American. The remaining 18% were traded on
“over-the-counter” exchanges. Table 1-1 presents an indus-
try classification of the 600 survey companies.

1.03 Each year, companies are selected from the latest
Fortune 1000 listing to replace those companies that were
deleted from the survey (see the Appendix of 600 Companies
for a comprehensive listing of the 600 companies as well as
those that were added and removed in this edition). Compa-
nies are deleted from the survey when they have either been
acquired, have become privately held (and are, therefore, no
longer registered with the SEC), or have ceased operations.

AICPA Accounting Trends & Techniques
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1.04
TABLE 1-1: INDUSTRY CLASSIFICATIONS
2002 2001
Advertising, marketing............cccoveerecneesennnnnennns 4 3
Aerospace...........eceecenees - 17 17
Apparel......... 14 16
Beverages..........c.cesvuveeenn. 9 8
Building materials, glass... 9 11
Chemicals..........cccocreerernrenns 29 29
Computer and data Services..........c.coerererereereerenes 16 15
Computer peripherals.........cc.cocoecrinenerenecnscnnecnnns 7 6
Computer SOfIWAre...........cveeereeereruerecemersennenns 9 8
Computers, office equipment......... 1 1
Diversified outsourcing services................ 7 8
Electronics, electrical equipment............... 41 41
Engineering, construction...... 11 11
Entertainment.................... 6 5
1070+ O 27 27
Food and drug Stores...........coeeecerreonereeincncnnns 13 12
FOOU SEIVICES......coovererrriercesiscisnnrannasesseressseasensens 6 4
Forest and paper products..............couiarireienninens 19 20
FUMIUTE ....cooeo vt eee s seesenns 10 9
General Merchandisers............cccoeevrrmreereneeeeserens 10 10
Health care.........cccoccovcnnce. 9 9
Hotels, Casinos, reSOMS..........ccvvrervescrnssrarernsserenns 8 9
Industrial and farm equipment....... 34 35
Medical products and equipment............c.c.cccoveevens 12 12
Metal products...........occocverrciecrrcanee 21 22
Metals......crnrverrerreerrresnrrenens 17 17
Mining, crude-oil production.. 13 13
Miscellaneous............c..cc........ 1 12
Motor vehicles and parts... 17 16
Network communications...... 6 6
Petroleum refining............. 13 12
Pharmaceuticals....... 10 11
Publishing, printing........c....... 20 20
Rubber and plastic products............c.coeerevecucenee 6 6
Scientific, photographic, and control equipment... 20 19
Semiconductors........ 14 14
Soaps, cosmetics..... 8 8
Specialty retailers......... 18 19
Telecommunications.... 18 19
Temporary help............ 5 5
TEXKIES .....cvoeveevecece e 6 7
TODACCO..... v 6 6
Toys, sporting goods..........eerereeeermresceeeeereenens 2 3
Transportation equipment. 4 4
Trucking, truck leasing...... 5 1
Waste management......... 3 3
Wholesalers...........coveenircninennensneeseenserienseseens 19 21
Total Companies 600 600
ATT-SEC 1.04
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1.05 Table 1-2 indicates the relative size of the survey com-
panies as measured by dollar amount of revenue.

1.06
TABLE 1-2: REVENUE OF SURVEY COMPANIES
2002 2001 2000 1999

Less than $100,000,000.................. 23 18 25 23
Between $100,000,000 and

$500,000,000.........c0rvvrrerreeriennn. 44 50 53 60
Between $500,000,000 and

$1,000,000,000........................... 55 41 43 48
Between $1,000,000,000 and

$2,000,000,000........cccorvrvirenenne. 128 123 110 121
More than $2,000,000,000.............. 350 368 369 348
Total Companies........c.ccocevueerrernen. 600 600 600 600

INFORMATION REQUIRED BY RULE 14a-3
TO BE INCLUDED IN ANNUAL REPORTS
TO STOCKHOLDERS

1.07 Rule 14a-3, Information to Be Furnished to Security
Holders, of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, states that
annual reports furnished to stockholders in connection with
the annual meetings of stockholders should include audited
financial statements—balance sheets as of the 2 most recent
fiscal years, and statements of income and of cash flows for
each of the 3 most recent fiscal years. Rule 14a-3 also states
that the following information, as specified in Securities and
Exchange Commission (SEC) Regulation S-K, Standard In-
structions for Filing Forms Under the Securities Act of 1933,
Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and Energy Policy and Con-
servation Act of 1975, should be included in the annual report
to stockholders:

Selected quarterly financial data.

Disagreements with accountants on accounting and

financial disclosure.

Summary of selected financial data for last 5

years.

. Description of business activities.

. Segment information.

Listing of company directors and executive

officers.

. Market price of Company’s common stock for each
quarterly period within the two most recent fiscal
years.

. Management’s discussion and analysis of financial
condition and results of operations.

9. Quantitative and qualitative disclosures about mar-

ket risk.

N ook~ 0 M~

(o]

1.08 Examples of items 1, 3, 8, and 9 follow. Included with
the item 8 examples are excerpts from management’s dis-
cussion and analysis as to forward looking information, euro
conversion, and environmental matters.

1.09 Examples of segment information disclosures are pre-
sented under “Segment Information” in this section.

ATT-SEC 1.05
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Quarterly Financial Data
1.10
GANNETT CO., INC. (DEC)

NOTES TO SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA
Quarterly Statements of Income (Unaudited)
(In thousands of dollars)
Fiscal Year Ended December 29, 2002 Ist Quarter 2nd Quarter 3rd Quarter 4th Quarter Total
Net operating revenues
Newspaper advertising $ 969,803 $1,045,938 $1,006,923 $1,100,021 $4,122,685
Newspaper circulation(”) 299,262 293,990 292,659 296,192 1,182,103
Broadcasting 167,186 191,299 184,039 228,779 771,303
All other 76,907 81,963 86,058 101,230 346,158
Total 1,513,158 1,613,190 1,569,679 1,726,222 6,422,249
Operating expenses
Cost of sales and operating expenses,

exclusive of depreciation(” 807,116 799,255 808,882 838,750 3,254,003
Selling, general and administrative

expenses, exclusive of depreciation 248,331 254,534 253,735 262,893 1,019,493
Depreciation 53,369 53,362 54,572 53,814 215,117
Amortization of intangible assets 1,833 1,834 1,830 1,830 7,327
Total 1,110,649 1,108,985 1,119,019 1,157,287 4,495,940
Operating income 402,509 504,205 450,660 568,935 1,926,309
Non-operating (expense) income
Interest expense (28,754) (41,101) (39,709) (36,795) (146,359)
Other (2,292) (81) (6,015) (7,034) (15,422)
Total (31,046) (41,182) (45,724) (43,829) (161,781)
Income before income taxes 371,463 463,023 404,936 525,106 1,764,528
Provision for income taxes 127,900 159,100 139,300 178,100 604,400
Net income $ 243,563 $ 303,923 $ 265,636 $ 347,006 $1,160,128
Net income per share—basic $ 92 $ 1.14 $ .99 $ 1.30 $ 4.35
Net income per share—diluted® $ 91 $ 1.13 $ 99 $ 1.29 $ 4.3

() At the end of 2002, certain immaterial charges relating to sales promotions have been reclassified from cost of sales and operating expenses
to a reduction of circulation revenue; the reclassification had no effect on operating income or net income for any period. Circulation revenue
and cost of sales amounts in prior quarters have been reclassified to conform to the fourth quarter 2002 presentation.

@ As a result of rounding, the total of the four quarters’ earnings per share does not equal the earnings per share for the year.
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Quarterly Statements of Income (Unaudited)

(In thousands of dollars)

Accounting Trends & Techniques

Fiscal Year Ended December 30, 2001 1st Quarter 2nd Quarter 3rd Quarter 4th Quarter Total
Net operating revenues
Newspaper advertising $1,020,934 $1,057,899 $ 988,045 $1,052,895 $4,119,773
Newspaper circulation 301,949 294,461 295,098 296,959 1,188,467
Broadcasting 155,613 178,692 148,229 180,118 662,652
All other 85,392 84,622 75,515 83,185 328,714
Total 1,563,888 1,615,674 1,506,887 1,613,157 6,299,606
Operating expenses
Cost of sales and operating expenses,

exclusive of depreciationt" 828,487 812,472 813,798 820,765 3,275,522
Selling, general and administrative

expenses, exclusive of depreciation 254,738 246,324 244,308 245,102 990,472
Depreciation 53,281 51,059 50,916 47,200 202,456
Amortization of intangible assets 59,343 59,457 61,267 61,254 241,321
Total 1,195,849 1,169,312 1,170,289 1,174,321 4,709,771
Operating income 368,039 446,362 336,598 438,836 1,589,835
Non-operating (expense) income
Interest expense (80,442) (61,728) (48,600) (31,084) (221,854)
Other 448 528 530 1,110 2,616
Total (79,994) (61,200) (48,070) (29,974) (219,238)
Income before income taxes 288,045 385,162 288,528 408,862 1,370,597
Provision for income taxes 113,500 151,700 113,700 160,500 539,400
Net income $ 174545 $ 233,462 $ 174,828 $ 248,362 $ 831,197
Net income per share—basic $ .66 $ .88 $ .66 $ 94 $ 3.14
Net income per share—diluted® $ 66 $ 88 $ 66 $ 93 $ 312

() At the end of 2002, certain immaterial charges relating to sales promotions have been reclassified from cost of sales and operating expenses
to areduction of circulation revenue; the reclassification had no effect on operating income or net income for any period. Circulation revenue

and cost of sales amounts in prior years have been classified to conform to the 2002 presentation.
@ As a result of rounding, the total of the four quarters’ earnings per share does not equal the earnings per share for the year.
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THE GILLETTE COMPANY AND SUBSIDIARY

COMPANIES (DEC)

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Quarterly Financial Information (Unaudited)

Three Months Ended

(Millions, except per share amounts) March 31 June 30 September 30 December 31 Total Year
2002
Net sales $1,732 $2,024 $2,168 $2,529 $8,453
Gross profit 1,038 1,226 1,286 1,392 4,942
Profit from operations 328 449 522 510 1,809
Income from continuing operations before income taxes 323 425 513 491 1,752
Discontinued operations, net of tax — — — 7 7
Net income 223 293 354 346 1,216
Net income per common share, basic®
Continuing operations 21 .28 33 32 1.15
Discontinued operations — — — .01 —
Net income 21 .28 33 33 1.15
Net income per common share, assuming full dilution'®
Continuing operations 21 .28 33 32 1.14
Discontinued operations — — — 01 01
Net income 21 28 .33 33 1.15
Dividends paid per common share 16 16Y% .16 .16% .65
Stock price range:

High 34.98 37.30 34.47 31.66 37.30

Low 31.28 33.02 27.75 27.57 27.57
2001
Net sales $1,621 $1,922 $2,123 $2,418 $8,084
Gross profit 998 1,150 1,201 1,328 4,677
Profit from operations 319 375 473 33 1,498
Income from continuing operations before income taxes 264 336 429 313 1,342
Net income 182 232 296 200 910
Net income per common share, basic and assuming full

dilution® A7 22 .28 19 .86
Dividends paid per common share 6% 16 .16 16% .85
Stock price range:

High 36.38 31.98 32.08 35.31 36.38

Low 29.50 24.50 26.00 29.00 24.50

@ Net income per common share is computed independently for each of the periods presented and, therefore, may not add up to the total for

the year.

AICPA Accounting Trends & Techniques
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Selected Information for Five Years
1.12
BALL CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES (DEC)

FIVE-YEAR REVIEW OF SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

($ in millions, except per share amounts) 2002 2001 2000 1999 1998
Net sales $3,858.9 $3,686.1 $3,664.7 $3,707.2 $2,995.7
Earnings (loss) before extraordinary item and cumulative effect of

accounting change!" 159.3 (99.2) 68.2 104.2 32.0
Early debt extinguishment costs, net of tax (3.2) — - — (12.1)
Cumulative effect of accounting change, net of tax — — — — (3.3
Net eaming (loss)(" 156.1 (99.2) 68.2 104.2 16.6
Preferred dividends, net of tax — (2.0) (2.6) (2.7) (2.8)
Earnings (loss) attributable to common shareholders(" $ 156.1 $ (101.2) $ 656 $ 1015 $ 138
Return on average common shareholders’ equity 31.3% (17.7%) 10.1% 16.2% 2.3%

Basic eamnings per share:"®
Earnings (loss) before extraordinary item and cumulative effect

of accounting change $ 283 $ (1.85 $ 113 $ 168 $ 048
Early debt extinguishment costs, net of tax (0.06) — — — (0.20)
Cumulative effect of accounting change, net of tax — — — — (0.05)
Basic eamings (loss) per share $ 277 $ (1.85) $ 113 $ 168 $ 023

Weighted average common shares outstanding (000s)@ 56,317 54,880 58,080 60,340 60,776

Diluted earnings per share:(®
Earnings (loss) before extraordinary item and cumulative effect

of accounting change $ 277 $ (1.85) $ 107 $ 158 $ 046
Extraordinary item, net of tax (0.06) — — —_— (0.19)
Cumulative effect of accounting changes, net of tax — — — — (0.05)
Diluted earnings (loss) per share $ 27 $ (1.85) $ 107 $ 158 $ 022

Diluted weighted average common shares outstanding (000s)® 57,538 58,858 62,034 64,900 65,184
Property, plant and equipment additions $ 1584 $ 685 $ 987 $ 107.0 $ 842
Depreciation and amortization $ 149.2 $ 1525 $ 159.1 $ 1629 $ 1450
Total assets $4,132.4 $2,313.6 $2,649.8 $2,732.1 $2,854.8
Total interest bearing debt and capital lease obligations $1,981.0 $1,064.1 $1,137.3 $1,196.7 $1,356.6
Common shareholders’ equity $ 4929 $ 504.1 $ 639.6 $ 655.2 $ 594.6
Capitalization®® $2,220.3 $1,494.8 $1,808.7 $1,8715 $1,969.2
Net debt to capitalization® 77.5% 65.6% 60.6% 60.9% 66.0%
Cash dividends® $ 036 $ 030 $ 030 $ 030 $ 030
Book value® $ 869 $ 872 $ 1140 $ 10.99 $ 976
Market value® $ 51.19 $ 3535 $ 23.03 $ 19.69 $ 2288
Annual return to common shareholderst) 46.0% 55.3% 19.2% (12.7%) 31.4%
Working capital $ 155.6 $ 2188 $ 3102 $ 225.7 $ 198.0
Current ratio 1.15 1.38 1.47 1.34 1.29

M Includes business consolidation costs and other items affecting comparability of pretax income of $2.3 million in 2002 and pretax expense
of $271.2 million, $76.4 million and $73.9 million in 2001, 2000 and 1998, respectively.

@ Amounts have been retroactively restated for a two-for-one stock split, which was effective on February 22, 2002.

@ Capitalization is defined as the total of net debt, minority interests and shareholders’ equity. Net debt is total debt less cash and cash
equivalents.

@) Change in stock price plus dividend yield assuming reinvestment of dividends.
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1.13
COMPUTER SCIENCES CORPORATION (MAR)

FIVE-YEAR REVIEW

(In millions except per-share amounts) March 29, 2002 March 30, 2001 March 31, 2000 April 2, 1999 April 3, 1998
Total assets $8,610.5 $8,174.8 $5,874.1 $5,260.4 $4,274.1
Debt:
Long-term 1,873.1 1,029.4 652.4 399.7 739.0
Short-term 309.6 1,195.7 238.1 436.4 1241
Current maturities 214 158.9 11.1 167.5 228
Total debt 2,204.1 2,384.0 901.6 1,003.6 773.9
Stockholders’ equity 3,623.6 32152 3,044.0 2,588.5 2171.0
Working capital 596.2 (384.9) 782.4 661.5 845.8
Property and equipment:
At cost 3,884.4 3,507.4 2,744.2 2,368.8 1,992.2
Accumulated depreciation
and amortization 1,976.4 1,649.0 1,469.3 1,256.6 1,012.6
Property and equipment, net 1,908.0 1,858.4 1,274.9 1,112.2 979.6
Current assets to current liabilities 1.2:1 0.9:1 1.4:1 1.3:1 1.7:1
Debt to total capitalization 37.8% 42.6% 22.9% 27.9% 26.3%
Book value per share $ 2117 $ 19.06 $ 1817 $ 15.67 $ 1333
Stock price range (high) 5347 99.88 94.94 74.88 56.75
(low) 28.99 29.50 52.38 46.25 28.94
Fiscal Year
{In millions except per-share amounts) 2002 2001 2000 1999 1998
Revenues $11,426.0 $10,524.0 $9,370.7 $8,111.4 $7,027.9
Costs of services 9,222.8 8,425.1 7,352.5 6,349.5 5,500.5
Selling, general and administrative 706.3 796.6 7794 735.7 640.6
Depreciation and amortization 857.6 649.3 545.7 456.9 397.8
Interest, net 142.5 89.8 405 344 414
Special items 232.9 411 233.2
Total costs and expenses 10,929.2 10,193.7 8,759.2 7,576.5 6,813.5
Income before taxes 496.8 330.3 611.5 534.9 2144
Taxes on income 152.7 97.1 208.6 179.4 (60.2)
Net income $ 3441 $ 2332 $ 402.9 $ 3555 $ 2746
Basic earnings per common share $ 202 $ 139 $ 242 $ 247 $ 17
Diluted earnings per common share $ 201 $ 137 $ 237 $ 212 $ 167
Average common shares outstanding 170.054 168.260 166.311 164.124 160.881
Average common shares outstanding assuming
dilution 171.279 170.767 169.749 167.986 164.501
Notes $20.7 (8 cents per share after tax) related to CSC'’s response

A discussion of “Income Before Taxes” and “Net Income and
Earnings per Share” before and after special items is included
in Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Con-
dition and Resuits of Operations (“MD&A”). A discussion of
“Special Items” for fiscal 2001 and 2000 is also included in
MDG&A. The fiscal 1998 special items consist of (a) a net spe-
cial credit of $1.7 (1 cent per share after tax) of costs, ex-
penses and benefits associated with developments at CSC
Enterprises that generated a pre-tax charge of $208.4 ($133.3
after tax) and a tax benefit of $135; (b) pre-tax charge of

AICPA Accounting Trends & Techniques

to a failed take-over attempt and (c) merger-related charges
of $4.1 (2 cents per share after tax) associated with several
acquisitions made by Nichols Research Corporation which
was subsequently acquired by CSC and accounted for as a
pooling of interests.

The selected financial data has been restated for fiscal
1998 and 1999 to include the results of business combina-
tions accounted for as poolings of interests.

No dividends were paid by CSC during the five years
presented.
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis of
Financial Condition and Results of Operations

1.14
BRIGGS & STRATTON CORPORATION (JUN)

ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND
ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND
RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

Results of Operations
Fiscal 2002 Compared to Fiscal 2001

Sales

Fiscal 2002 net sales were approximately $1.5 billion, an in-
crease of $219 milllion, or 17% compared to the previous
year. Generac Portable Products (GPP), included for a full
fiscal year first time, added $186 million in sales the fiscal
year. Our engine unit volume increase of 8%, offset by an un-
favorable sales mix weighted towards lower priced engines
accounts for the majority of the remaining increase.

Gross Profit

The total Company gross profit rate of approximately 18%
was comparable with fiscal 2001. The Engine segment gross
profit rate remained approximately 18% in fiscal 2002. Re-
ductions in manufacturing costs of $25 million (primarily,
repairs and maintenance, processing supplies, utilities and
warranty) were offset by $17 million of increased costs (pri-
marily, fringe benefits which included rising healthcare costs).
GPP margins were approximately 9% for fiscal 2002, similar
to their results for the 12 months ended June, 2001.

Engineering, Selling, General and Administrative Costs

Engineering, selling, general and administrative costs in-
creased $16 million or 12% compared to fiscal 2001. The
increase is entirely attributable to the inclusion of $18 million
of GPP engineering, selling, general, and administrative costs
for a full year. The Engine segment Engineering, Selling and
Administrative cost category experienced increased salaries
and fringe benefit expenses of approximately $8 million, but
these increases were offset by a $6 million impact of lower
bad debt write-off experience and a bad debt recovery, and
$3 million of lower marketing expenses.

Interest Expense

Interest expense increased $14 million in fiscal 2002 com-
pared to fiscal 2001, essentially the impact of increased bor-
rowings associated with the GPP acquisition.

Other Income

Other income increased $3 million in fiscal 2002 compared
to fiscal 2001. This increase is attributable to a $9 million
increase in foreign currency transaction gains offset by
$5 million in derivative losses and $1 million in amortization
of deferred financing costs from the GPP acquisition.
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Provision for Income Taxes

The effective tax rate increased to 34.0% in fiscal 2002 from
33.2%. The effective rates both reflect a refund on Foreign
Sales Corporation tax benefits, however, the fiscal 2001 re-
fund was larger.

Fiscal 2001 Compared to Fiscal 2000

Acquisition

On May 15, 2001, Briggs & Stratton acquired GPP for net
cash of $267 million. Refer to Note 3 to the Consolidated
Financial Statements for additional information on the acqui-
sition.

Sales

Net sales for fiscal 2001 totaled approximately $1.3 billion,
a decrease of $281 million or 18% compared to the preced-
ing year. The primary factors were a 10% decline in engine
unit volume, 15% lower sales of service components due to
Briggs & Stratton’s distributors having an adequate stock of
parts, and an unfavorable sales mix as the entire 10% engine
unit decline was made up of larger horsepower engines. In-
ventories of riding equipment at the OEMs and retailers were
more than adequate to address soft demand for riding lawn
and garden equipment.

The other major factor adversely affecting the fiscal year
was the weak Euro which lowered revenues by $24 million.
Additionally, these revenues decreased because Briggs &
Stratton’s pricing reflected the need to remain competitive
in the European market.

The acquisition of GPP added $30 million in sales.

Gross Profit

The gross profit rate decreased to 18% from 21% in fiscal
2000. The major reasons for the decrease were lower plant
utilization having a $32 million impact and the weak Euro of
$24 million. Offsetting these factors was the favorable pen-
sion income impact of $12 million. Pension income included
in gross profit totaled $24 million in fiscal 2001.

Engineering, Selling, General and Administrative Expenses

Engineering, selling, general and administrative expenses in-
creased $5 million or 4% compared to fiscal 2000. Expenses
in this category increased almost $20 million. The majority
of the increase was due to the following factors: a $16 mil-
lion planned expansion of staff and expenditures for business
development and introduction of new product, a $3 million
bad debt write-off, and $3 million of GPP’s operating costs
incurred since the acquisition. The increased costs were off-
set by $14 million of lower employee benefit costs for profit
sharing and increased pension income. Pension income in
this category was $4 million in fiscal 2001.

Interest Expense

Interest expense increased $9 million or 44% in fiscal 2001
compared to fiscal 2000 because the level of borrowings was
greater in fiscal 2001. The increased level of borrowings re-
sulted from increased seasonal working capital needs and
the funding of the GPP acquisition.
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Other Income

Other income decreased $13 million in fiscal 2001 compared
to fiscal 2000. This decrease is attributed primarily to an
$8 million reduction in equity income from joint ventures and
investments and $5 million in foreign currency transaction
losses.

Provision for Income Taxes

The effective tax rate decreased to 33.2% in fiscal 2001 from
37.0% in the previous year. The majority of the decrease was
the result of the finalization and approval by the Congres-
sional Joint Committee on Taxation of a refund on our Federal
taxes related to Foreign Sales Corporation tax benefits.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Fiscal Years 2002, 2001 and 2000

Cash flow from operating activities was $200 million, $68
million and $77 million, in fiscal 2002, 2001 and 2000,
respectively.

The fiscal 2002 cash flow from operating activities in-
creased $132 million, which was driven primarily by a re-
duction in inventory and an increase in accounts payable
and accrued liabilities. The decrease in inventory levels was
achieved through increased sales volume, while holding pro-
duction levels consistent between years.

The fiscal 2001 cash flow from operating activities de-
creased $10 million, which reflects lower gains on the dis-
position of plant and equipment of $16 million. The lower
gains from disposition of plant and equipment were because
fiscal 2000 contained the disposition of the foundry assets.
The increase in inventories was $114 million less in fiscal
2001 compared to the fiscal 2000 increase. This decrease
was the result of planned inventory increases in fiscal 2000
to replenish abnormally low inventories to more normal levels.
The change in accounts payable and accrued liabilities was
$48 million less in fiscal 2001 due to timing of payments and
lack of accruals for profit sharing due to lower performance.
The $18 million increase in pension income is attributable to
Briggs & Stratton’s over funded pension plan.

The fiscal 2000 cash flow from operating activities de-
creased $38 million. This reflects increased net income of
$30 million offset by the gain on disposition of foundry as-
sets of $17 million and an increased requirement for operating
capital of $41 million caused by increases in inventories at
the end of fiscal 2000 offset by lower accounts receivable.

Net cash used in investing activities amounted to $38 mil-
lion, $318 million and $43 million in fiscal 2002, 2001 and
2000, respectively. These cash flows include capital expen-
ditures of $44 million, $61 million and $71 million in fiscal
2002, 2001 and 2000, respectively. These capital expendi-
tures relate primarily to reinvestment in equipment, capacity
additions and new products.

The fiscal 2001 cash used in investing activities includes
$267 million of cash paid for the GPP acquisition, net of cash
acquired. The fiscal 2000 cash used in investing activities is
net of $24 million of proceeds received on disposition of plant
and equipment.

Briggs & Stratton used cash in financing activities totalling
$38 million and $77 million in fiscal 2002 and 2000, respec-
tively. Briggs & Stratton provided cash through financing
activites totalling $324 million in fiscal 2001. During fiscal
2002 Briggs & Stratton repaid $10 million of its 7.25% Senior
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Notes due 2007. Financing activities in fiscal 2001 included
$399 million of proceeds received from issuing the 5.00%
Convertible Senior Notes due 2006 and the 8.875% Senior
Notes due 2011, in order to fund the acquisition of GPP
and payment of short term borrowings. During fiscal 2000,
Briggs & Stratton repaid the remaining $30 million on the
9.21% Senior Notes due 2001. Briggs & Stratton repur-
chased $6 million and $69 million of common shares in fiscal
2001 and 2000, respectively. There were no common shares
repurchased in fiscal 2002.

Briggs & Stratton’s significant contractual obligations are
its pension plans, post retirement benefit obligations and de-
ferred compensation arrangements. All of these obligations
are recorded on our Balance Sheets and disclosed more fully
in the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements. In ad-
dition, Briggs & Stratton is subject to certain financial and
operating restrictions under its domestic debt agreements.
As is fully disclosed in Note 6 of the notes to consolidated
financial statements, these restrictions limit our ability to: pay
dividends; incur further indebtedness; create liens; enter into
sale and/or leaseback transactions; consolidate, sell or lease
all or substantially all of our assets; and dispose of assets
or the proceeds of our assets, in addition to certain finan-
cial covenants. We believe we will remain in compliance with
these covenants in fiscal 2003.

Future Liquidity and Capital Resources

Briggs & Stratton has a three-year $300 million revolving
credit facility. This credit facility is used to fund seasonal
working capital requirements and other financing needs. This
facility and Briggs & Stratton’s other indebtedness contain
certain restrictive covenants. Refer to Note 6 to the Consoli-
dated Financial Statements.

Briggs & Stratton expects capital expenditures to be
$60 million for fiscal 2003. These anticipated expendi-
tures are for continued investments in equipment and new
products.

Management believes that available cash, the credit facil-
ity, cash generated from operations, existing lines of credit
and access to debt markets will be adequate to fund Briggs &
Stratton’s capital requirements for the foreseeable future.

Financial Strategy

Management believes that the value of Briggs & Stratton is
enhanced if the capital invested in operations yields a cash
return that is greater than the cost of capital. In addition,
Management believes that when capital cannot be invested
for returns greater than the cost of capital, they should re-
turn the capital to the capital providers. Briggs & Stratton
also believes that the substitution of lower (after-tax) cost
debt for equity in its permanent capital structure will reduce
its overall cost of capital. Examples of the above beliefs are
the repurchase of common stock from fiscal 1997 to 2001
when capital was not required for operational expansion and
the fiscal 2001 increase of capital through debt for an acqui-
sition. Briggs & Stratton believes its profitability and strong
cash flows will accommodate the increased use of debt with-
out impairing its ability to finance growth or increase cash
dividends per share on its common stock.

Briggs & Stratton has remaining authorization to buy up to
1.8 million shares of its stock in open market or private trans-
actions under the June 2000 Board of Directors’ authorization
to repurchase up to 2.0 million shares. Briggs & Stratton did

ATT-SEC 1.14



10 Accounting Trends & Techniques

not repurchase shares in fiscal 2002 and does not anticipate
any repurchases in fiscal 2003.

Also as a part of its financial strategy, subject to the dis-
cretion of its Board of Directors and the requirements of ap-
plicable law and debt covenants, Briggs & Stratton currently
intends to increase future cash dividends per share at a rate
approximating the inflation rate.

Other Matters

Early Retirement Incentive Program

In the second quarter of fiscal 2002, Briggs & Stratton offered
and finalized an early retirement incentive program. The net
reduction in the global salaried workforce was approximately
7%.

The impact for fiscal year 2002 was a reduction in net in-
come on an after-tax basis of $2.5 million, after consideration
of approximately $3 million in savings for lower salary related
expenditures. The majority of the impact on net income was
the result of recognizing the cost of the special termination
benefits, which reduced net periodic pension income. The
anticipated net income impact of salary related savings for
fiscal 2003 is projected to be approximately $6 million on an
after-tax basis.

General

In July 2001, Briggs & Stratton extended its collective
bargaining agreement with one of its unions. This agree-
ment expires in 2006, and contains provisions for future
wage increases, medical cost sharing and increased pension
benefits.

Emissions

Briggs & Stratton implemented a supplemental compliance
plan for model years 2000 and 2001 with the California Air
Resources Board (CARB), as required of companies that
sold more than a threshold number of Class | engines into
California. The objective of the plan was to achieve additional
reductions in extreme non-attainment areas. While CARB’s
aggressive program resulted in a reduced product offering
by Briggs & Stratton in California, the California program did
not have a material effect on Briggs & Stratton’s financial
condition or results of operations.

The U.S. Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) has de-
veloped national emission standards under a two phase pro-
cess for small air cooled engines. Briggs & Stratton currently
has a complete product offering which complies with the
EPA’s Phase | engine emission standards. The Phase Il pro-
gram imposes more stringent standards over the useful life
of the engine and is being phased in from 2001 to 2005 for
Class Il (225 or greater cubic centimeter displacement) en-
gines and from 2003 to 2008 for Class | (under 225 cubic
centimeter displacement) engines. Briggs & Stratton does
not believe compliance with the new standards will have a
material adverse effect on its financial position or results of
operations.

Critical Accounting Policies

Briggs & Stratton’s accounting policies are more fully de-
scribed in Note 1 of the Notes to the Consolidated Financial
Statements. As discussed in Note 1, the preparation of fi-
nancial statements in conformity with accounting principles
generally accepted in the U.S. requires management to make
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estimates and assumptions about future events that affect
the amounts reported in the financial statements and ac-
companying notes. Future events and their effects cannot be
determined with absolute certainty. Therefore, the determi-
nation of estimates requires the exercise of judgment. Actual
results inevitably will differ from those estimates, and such
difference may be material to the financial statements.

The most significant accounting estimates inherent in the
preparation of our financial statements include estimates as
to the recovery of accounts receivable, as well as those used
in the determination of liabilities related to customer rebates, -
pension obligations, warranty, product liability, group health
insurance and taxation. Various assumptions and other fac-
tors underlie the determination of these significant estimates.
The process of determining significant estimates is fact spe-
cific and takes into account factors such as historical expe-
rience, current and expected economic conditions, product
mix, and in some instances actuarial techniques. Briggs &
Stratton reevaluates these significant factors as facts and
circumstances change. Historically, actual results have not
differed significantly from our estimates.

New Accounting Pronouncements

The Emerging Issues Task Force (EITF) issued EITF Abstract
No. 01-09, “Accounting for Consideration Given by a Ven-
dor to a Customer (Including a Reseller of Vendor’s Prod-
ucts)”. This was adopted during fiscal 2002. Pursuant to EITF
No. 01-09, Briggs & Stratton was required to reclassify co-op
advertising expense previously reported as selling expense
to a reduction in net sales. The impact of adopting EITF 01-
09 was to reduce net sales by $7.2 million, $2.3 million and
$1.3 million in fiscal 2002, 2001 and 2000, respectively.

In June 2001, the Financial Accounting Standards Board
issued Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (SFAS)
No. 141, “Business Combinations” and SFAS No. 142,
“Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets”. SFAS No. 141 pro-
vides for the elimination of the pooling-of-interests method
of accounting for business combinations with an acquisi-
tion date of July 1, 2001 or later. SFAS No. 142 prohibits
the amortization of goodwill and other intangible assets
with indefinite lives and requires periodic reassessment of
the underlying value of such assets for impairment. SFAS
No. 142 is effective for fiscal years beginning after December
15, 2001. On July 2, 2001, Briggs & Stratton adopted SFAS
No. 142. Application of the nonamortization provision of
SFAS No. 142 resulted in an increase in net income of ap-
proximately $.7 million in fiscal 2002.

In August 2001, the Financial Accounting Standards Board
issued SFAS No. 144, “Accounting for the Impairment or
Disposal of Long-Lived Assets,” which supersedes SFAS
No. 121, “Accounting for the Impairment of Long-Lived As-
sets and for Long-Lived Assets to be Disposed of.” SFAS
No. 144 also supersedes the accounting and reporting pro-
visions of APB Opinion No. 30, related to the disposal of
a segment of a business. Briggs & Stratton adopted SFAS
No. 144 on July 1, 2002. Management does not expect
that SFAS No. 144 will have a material impact on Briggs &
Stratton’s consolidated financial statements.

In June 2002, the FASB issued SFAS No. 146, “Account-
ing for Costs Associated with Exit or Disposal Activities”.
SFAS No. 146 nullifies Emerging Issues Task Force Issue
No. 94-3, “Liability Recognition for Certain Employee Termi-
nation Benefits and Other Costs to Exit an Activity (including
Certain Costs Incurred in a Restructuring)” and requires that
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a liability for a cost associated with an exit or disposal activity
be recognized when the liability is incurred. SFAS No. 146 is
effective for exit or disposal activities that are initiated after
December 31, 2002. Briggs & Stratton does not expect that
the adoption of this statement will have a material impact on
its results of operations or financial position.

1.15
FOOT LOCKER, INC. (JAN)

MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS
OF OPERATIONS

Foot Locker, Inc., through its subsidiaries (Foot Locker, Inc.
and its subsidiaries being hereafter referred to as the “Com-
pany”) operates in two reportable segments—Athletic Stores
and Direct-to-Customers. The Athletic Stores segment is
one of the largest athletic footwear and apparel retailers in
the world, whose formats include Foot Locker, Lady Foot
Locker, Kids Foot Locker and Champs Sports. The Direct-
to-Customers segment reflects Footlocker.com, Inc., which
sells, through its affiliates, including Eastbay, Inc., to cus-
tomers through catalogs and Internet websites.

All references to comparable-store sales for a given period
relate to sales of stores that are open at the period-end and
that have been open for more than one year. Accordingly,
stores opened and closed during the period are not included.
All comparable-store sales increases and decreases exclude
the impact of foreign currency fluctuations.

The following table summarizes sales by segment, after
reclassification for businesses disposed. The disposed cat-
egory is included in continuing operations and represents
all business formats sold or closed other than discontinued
business segments. The disposition of all businesses previ-
ously held for disposal was completed in 2001. The 2002 and
2001 reporting years included 52 weeks compared with the
2000 reporting year, which included 53 weeks.

(In millions) 2002 2001 2000
Athletic stores $4,160 $3,999 $3,953
Direct-to-customers 349 326 279
4,509 4,325 4,232

Disposed'” — 54 124
$4,509 $4,379 $4,356

Operating profit before corporate expense, net reflects in-
come from continuing operations before income taxes, cor-
porate expense, non-operating income and net interest ex-
pense. The following table reconciles operating profit before
corporate expense, net by segment to income from contin-
uing operations before income taxes.
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(In millions) 2002 2001 2000
Athletic stores $279  $283  $269
Direct-to-customers 40 24 1
Operating profit before corporate

expense, net from ongoing operations 319 307 270
Disposed(” — (12) )
Restructuring income (charges)® 2 (33) @
Gain (loss) on sale of businesses® — 1 (1)
Total operating profit before corporate

expense, net 321 263 260
Corporate expense®®) 52 65 79
Total operating profit 269 198 181
Non-operating income 3 1 17
Interest expense, net 26 24 22
Income from continuing operations before

income taxes® $246  $175  $176

(

Includes The San Francisco Music Box Company, Foot Locker
Outlets, Going to the Game!, Randy River Canada, Burger King
and Popeye’s franchises and Foot Locker Asia.

Restructuring income of $2 million in 2002 and restructuring
charges of $33 million and $7 million in 2001 and 2000, respec-
tively, reflect the disposition of non-core businesses and an ac-
celerated store closing program.

2001 reflects a $1 million adjustment to the $164 million gain on
sale of Afterthoughts in 1999, 2000 reflects a $1 million adjust-
ment to the gain of $19 million recognized on the sale of Garden
Centers in 1998.

2001 includes a $1 million restructuring charge related to the 1999
closure of a distribution center, 2000 includes a $6 million reduc-
tion in previous restructuring charges.

2000 includes $16 million from the 53rd week.

@

@

@

[t

Corporate expense included depreciation and amortization
of $26 million in 2002, $28 million in 2001 and $29 million in
2000. Corporate expense in 2002 declined compared with
2001 primarily reflecting decreased payroll expenses related
to reductions in headcount. Corporate expense in 2002 was
also reduced by a net foreign exchange gain of $4 million
related to intercompany foreign currency denominated firm
commitments. Corporate expense decreased in 2001 com-
pared with 2000 primarily as a result of decreased compen-
sation costs for incentive bonuses.

Sales

Sales of $4,509 million in 2002 increased 3.0 percent
from sales of $4,379 million in 2001. Excluding sales from
businesses disposed and the effect of foreign currency fluc-
tuations, 2002 sales increased by 3.1 percent as compared
with 2001 primarily as a result of the new store opening pro-
gram. Comparable-store sales increased by 0.1 percent.
Sales of $4,379 million in 2001 increased 0.5 percent from
sales of $4,356 million in 2000. Excluding sales from busi-
nesses disposed, the 53rd week in 2000, and the effect
of foreign currency fluctuations, 2001 sales increased by
4.4 percent as compared with 2000, reflecting an increase of
4.9 percent in comparable-store sales for ongoing formats.
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Results of Operations

Gross Margin

Gross margin, as a percentage of sales, of 29.8 percent de-
clined by 10 basis points in 2002 as compared with 29.9 per-
cent in 2001, primarily resulting from the increase in the cost
of merchandise, as a percentage of sales, due to increased
markdown activity. Vendor allowances increased by $13 mil-
lion as compared with the prior year period. The impact of
these vendor allowances was an improvement in gross mar-
gin in 2002, as a percentage of sales, of 30 basis points as
compared with 2001.

Gross margin, as a percentage of sales, of 29.9 percent de-
clined by 20 basis points in 2001 from 30.1 percent in 2000,
reflecting increased occupancy and buying costs. Exclud-
ing the impact of the 53rd week in 2000, gross margin, as a
percentage of sales, was unchanged in 2001.

Selling, General and Administrative Expenses

Selling, general and administrative expenses (“SG&A”) in-
creased by $5 million in 2002 to $928 million. The increase in-
cluded $13 million related to new store openings, $11 million
related to the impact of foreign currency fluctuations primarily
related to the euro and $10 million related to increased pen-
sion costs. The increase in pension costs resulted from the
decline in plan asset values and the expected long-term rate
of return used to determine the expense. These increases
were partially offset by $29 million in the reduction in SG8A
expenses related to the dispositions of The San Francisco
Music Box Company and the Burger King and Popeye’s fran-
chises during the third quarter of 2001 and a $3 million in-
crease in income related to the postretirement plan. The in-
crease in postretirement income of $3 million resulted from
the amortization of the associated gains. SG&A, as a per-
centage of sales, decreased to 20.6 percent in 2002 from
21.1 percent in 2001. During 2002, the Company recorded
asset impairment charges of $6 million and $1 million related
to the Kids Foot Locker and Lady Foot Locker formats, re-
spectively, compared with $2 million in 2001 for the Lady Foot
Locker format. SG&A in 2002 was reduced by a net foreign
exchange gain of $4 million related to intercompany foreign
currency denominated firm commitments.

SG&A declined by $52 million in 2001 to 21.1 percent, as
a percentage of sales, compared with 22.4 percent in 2000.
These declines reflect the operating efficiencies achieved by
the ongoing store base during 2001 as compared with a year
earlier, as a result of previous cost-cutting initiatives and re-
structuring programs. The completion of the sales of The
San Francisco Music Box Company and Burger King and
Popeye’s franchises significantly contributed to the reduc-
tion in SG&A expenses. Salaries and payroll expenses have
declined year-over-year, primarily reflecting reduced bonus
expense during 2001. The impact of the 53rd week in 2000
was not material. SG&A included income of $8 million in
2001 and $5 million in 2000, which primarily reflected the
amortization of gains associated with the Company’s postre-
tirement benefits. The increase in 2001 reflected income of
$3 million related to a change in the postretirement benefit
plans. As a result of this change, new retirees will be charged
the full expected cost of the medical plan, and existing re-
tirees will incur 100 percent of the expected future increase
in medical plan costs. In 2001 and 2000, SG&A also included
$4 million of income related to the Company’s pension plan,
as the expected return on the plan assets exceeded the cost
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to provide benefits. SG&A also included an asset impairment
charge of $2 million in 2001 for the Lady Foot Locker format.
There were no material asset impairment charges in 2000.

Depreciation and Amortization

Depreciation and amortization of $149 million decreased
by 3.2 percent in 2002 from $154 million in 2001. The im-
pact of no longer amortizing goodwill, as required by SFAS
No. 142, which was adopted by the Company effective
February 3, 2002, was $7 million and was partially offset by
increased depreciation of $2 million associated with the new
store opening program, primarily in Europe.

Depreciation and amortization of $154 million increased by
2.0 percent in 2001 from $151 million in 2000.

Other Income

The Company received cash proceeds of $6 million in 2002
related to the condemnation of a part-owned and part-leased
property and recorded a net gain of $2 million. The Company
also recorded a gain from the sale of real estate of $1 million
in 2002.

Other income in 2001 comprised real estate gains of $1 mil-
lion and a $1 million adjustment to the gain on the 1999 sale
of Afterthoughts. Other income in 2000 primarily reflected
corporate real estate gains of $11 million and a $6 million
gain associated with the demutualization of the Metropoli-
tan Life Insurance Company, offset by a $1 million reduction
in the gain on the 1998 sale of the Garden Centers nursery
business.

Operating Results

Total operating profit before corporate expense, net in-
creased by $58 million, or 22.1 percent, to $321 million in
2002. This increase was primarily due to operating losses
and costs related to exiting disposed businesses in 2001
of $44 million, as compared with restructuring income of
$2 million in 2002, and a $12 million increase in operating
profit for ongoing operations. Operating profit before corpo-
rate expense, net from ongoing operations, as a percentage
of sales, was 7.1 percent in 2002 and in 2001.

Total operating profit before corporate expense, net in-
creased by $3 million, or 1.2 percent, to $263 million in 2001
from $260 million in 2000. The increase reflected an increase
of $37 million in operating profit before corporate expense,
net for ongoing operations, which was partially offset by
incremental restructuring charges and operating losses of
$34 million related to disposed busineses. Operating profit
before corporate expense, net from ongoing operations, ex-
cluding the impact of the 53rd week in 2000, increased by
20.9 percent to $307 million in 2001 from $254 million in
2000. The increase in operating profit in 2001 primarily re-
flected lower operating expenses.
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Interest Expense, Net

(In millions) 2002 2001 2000
Interest expense $33 $35 §$ 4
Interest income (7) (11) (19)
Interest expense, net $26 $24 $22

Weighted-average interest rate
(excluding facility fees):

Short-term debt —% 6.0% 92%

Long-term debt 72% 14%  8.0%

Total debt 72% 148% 82%
Short-term debt outstanding during

the year:

High $— $ 11 $206

Weighted-average $— $— §68

Interest expense of $33 million declined by 5.7 percent in
2002 from $35 million in 2001. Interest expense related to
short-term debt decreased by $1 million primarily as a result
of the amortization of deferred financing costs related to the
revolving credit facility over the amended agreement term.
Interest expense related to long-term debt also declined by
$1 million. There was an increase of $3 million in interest ex-
pense in 2002 resulting from the issuance of the $150 million
5.50 percent convertible notes in June 2001. This increase
was more than offset by the reduction in interest expense that
resulted from the repayment of the remaining $32 million of
the $40 million 7.00 percent medium-term notes in October
2002 and the interest expense in 2001 associated with the
$50 million 6.98 percent medium-term notes that were repaid
in October 2001.

Interest expense declined by 14.6 percent in 2001, reflect-
ing an $8 million decrease in interest expense associated with
short-term borrowings as the Company was in a net invest-
ment position for substantially all of 2001, which was offset
by an increase in interest expense of $2 million related to
long-term debt. The issuance of the $150 million convertible
notes in June 2001 increased interest expense by $5 million,
which was partially offset by the impact of repaying and re-
tiring $58 million of medium-term notes in the second half of
2001.

Interest income related to cash and cash equivalents and
other short-term investments amounted to $5 million in 2002
and $4 million in 2001. Interest income in both 2002 and 2001
included $2 million of interest income related to tax refunds
and settlements. Also included was intercompany interest of
$5 million in 2001 related to the Northern Group segment.
The offsetting interest expense for the Northern Group was
charged to the reserve for discontinued operations.

Interest income related to cash and cash equivalents and
other short-term investments amounted to $4 million in both
2001 and 2000. Interest income in 2001 and 2000 included
$2 million and $5 million, respectively, of interest income re-
lated to tax refunds and settlements. Also included in interest
income was intercompany interest of $5 million and $10 mil-
lion in 2001 and 2000 related to the Northern Group segment.
The offsetting interest expense for the Northern Group is in-
cluded in the loss from discontinued operations through the
measurement date and subsequently, in 2001, was charged
to the reserve for discontinued operations.
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Income Taxes

The effective rate for 2002 was 34.2 percent, as compared
with 36.6 percent in the prior year. During the first quarter of
2002, the Company recorded a $3 million tax benefit related
to a reduction in the valuation allowance for deferred tax as-
sets related to a multistate tax planning strategy and subse-
quently, during the year, recorded an additional $2 million tax
benefit related to this strategy. During the second quarter of
2002, the Company recorded a $2 million tax benefit related
to a reduction in the valuation allowance for deferred tax as-
sets related to foreign tax credits. During the fourth quarter
the Company recorded a $1 million tax benefit related to the
settlement of tax examinations and $1 million related to in-
ternational tax planning strategies. The combined effect of
these items, in addition to higher earnings in lower tax juris-
dictions and the utilization of tax loss carryforwards reduced
the effective tax rate to 34.2 percent in 2002. The Company
expects the effective tax rate to be approximately 37 percent
for 2003.

In 2001, the effective tax rate was 36.6 percent. The Com-
pany recorded a tax benefit during 2001 of $7 million related
to state and local income tax settlements, partially offset by a
$2 million charge from the impact of Canadian tax rate reduc-
tions on existing deferred tax assets. The combined effect of
these items, in addition to higher earnings in lower tax juris-
dictions and the utilization of tax loss carryforwards offset, in
part, by the impact of non-deductible goodwill reduced the
effective tax rate.

Discontinued Operations

On January 23, 2001, the Company announced that it was
exiting its 694 store Northern Group segment. The Company
recorded a charge to earnings of $252 million before-tax,
or $294 million after-tax, in 2000 for the loss on disposal
of the segment. Major components of the charge included
expected cash outlays for lease buyouts and real estate dis-
position costs of $68 million, severance and personnel re-
lated costs of $23 million and operating losses and other
exit costs from the measurement date through the expected
date of disposal of $24 million. Non-cash charges included
the realizaton of a $118 million currency translation loss, re-
sulting from the movement in the Canadian dollar during the
period the Company held its investment in the segment and
asset write-offs of $19 million. The Company also recorded
a tax benefit for the liquidation of the Northern U.S. stores
of $42 million, which was offset by a valuation allowance of
$84 million to reduce the deferred tax assets related to the
Canadian operations to an amount that is more likely than
not to be realized.

In the first quarter of 2001, the Company recorded a
tax benefit of $5 million as a result of the implementation
of tax planning strategies related to the discontinuance of
the Northern Group. During the second quarter of 2001,
the Company completed the liquidation of the 324 stores
in the United States and recorded a charge to earnings of
$12 million before-tax, or $19 million after-tax. The charge
comprised the write-down of the net assets of the Canadian
business to their net realizable value pursuant to the then
pending transaction, which was partially offset by reduced
severance costs as a result of the transaction and favorable
results from the liquidation of the U.S. stores and real es-
tate disposition activity. On September 28, 2001, the Com-
pany completed the stock transfer of the 370 Northern Group
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stores in Canada, through one of its wholly-owned sub-
sidiaries for approximately CAD$59 million (approxiamately
US$38 million), which was paid in the form of a note (the
“Note”). The purchaser agreed to obtain a revolving line of
credit with a lending institution, satisfactory to the Com-
pany, in an amount not less than CAD$25 million (approx-
imately US$17 million). Another wholly-owned subsidiary of
the Company was the assignor of the store leases involved
in the transaction and therefore retains potential liability for
such leases. The Company also entered into a credit agree-
ment with the purchaser to provide a revolving credit facility
to be used to fund its working capital needs, up to a maxi-
mum of CAD$5 million (approximately US$3 miilion). The net
amount of the assets and liabilities of the former operations
was written down to the estimated fair value of the Note, ap-
proximately US$18 million. The transaction was accounted
for pursuant to SEC Staff Accounting Bulletin Topic 5:E “Ac-
counting for Divestiture of a Subsidiary or Other Business
Operation,” (“SAB Topic 5:E”) as a “transfer of assets and lia-
bilities under contractual arrangement” as no cash proceeds
were received and the consideration comprised the Note,
the repayment of which is dependent on the future success-
ful operations of the business. The assets and liabilities re-
lated to the former operations were presented under the bal-
ance sheet captions as “Assets of business transferred under
contractual arrangement (note receivable)” and “Liabilities of
business transferred under contractual arrangement.”

In the fourth quarter of 2001, the Company further reduced
its estimate for real estate costs by $5 million based on
then current negotiations, which was completely offset by
increased severance, personnel and other disposition costs.

The Company recorded a charge of $18 million in the first
quarter of 2002 reflecting the poor performance of the North-
ern Group stores in Canada since the date of the transaction.
There was no tax benefit recorded related to the $18 million
charge, which comprised a valuation allowance in the amount
of the operating losses incurred by the purchaser and a fur-
ther reduction in the carrying value of the net amount of the
assets and liabilities of the former operations to zero, due
to greater uncertainty with respect to the collectibility of the
Note. This charge was recorded pursuant to SAB Topic 5:E,
which requires accounting for the Note in a manner some-
what analogous to equity accounting for an investment in
common stock.

In the third quarter of 2002, the Company recorded a
charge of approximately $1 million before-tax for lease exit
costs in excess of previous estimates. In addition, the Com-
pany recorded a tax benefit of $2 million, which also reflected
the impact of the tax planning strategies implemented related
to the discontinuance of the Northern Group.

On December 31, 2002, the Company-provided revolv-
ing credit facility expired, without having been used. Fur-
thermore, the operating results of Northern Canada had sig-
nificantly improved during the year such that the Company
had reached an agreement in principle to receive CAD$5 mil-
lion (approximately US$3 million) cash consideration in par-
tial prepayment of the Note and accrued interest due and
agreed to reduce the face value of the Note to CAD$17.5 mil-
lion (approximately US$12 million). Based upon the improved
results of the Northern Canada business, the Company be-
lieves there is no substantial uncertainty as to the amount
of the future costs and expenses that could be payable by
the Company. As indicated above, as the assignor of the
Northern Canada leases, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company remains secondarily liable under those leases. As
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of February 1, 2003, the Company estimates that its gross
contingent lease liability is between CAD$88 to $95 million
(approximately US$57 to $62 million). Based upon its assess-
ment of the risk of having to satisfy that liability and the re-
sultant possible outcomes of lease settlement, the Company
currently estimates the expected value of the lease liability to
be approximately US$2 million. The Company believes that it
is unlikely that it would be required to make such contingent
payments, and further, such contingent obligations would not
be expected to have a material effect on the Company’s con-
solidated financial position, liquidity or results of operations.
As a result of the aforementioned developments, during the
fourth quarter of 2002 circumstances changed sufficiently
such that it became appropriate to recognize the transaction
as an accounting divestiture.

During the fourth quarter of 2002, as a result of the ac-
counting divestiture, the Note was recorded in the finan-
cial statements at its estimated fair value of CAD$16 million
(approximately US$10 million). The Company, with the as-
sistance of an independent third party, determined the es-
timated fair value by discounting expected cash flows at
an interest rate of 18 percent. This rate was selected con-
sidering such factors as the credit rating of the purchaser,
rates for similar instruments and the lack of marketability of
the Note. As the net assets of the former operations were
previously written down to zero, the fair value of the Note
was recorded as a gain on disposal within discontinued
operations. There was no tax expense recorded related to
this gain. The Company will no longer present the assets and
liabilities of Northern Canada as “Assets of business trans-
ferred under contractual arrangement (note receivable)” and
“Liabilities of business transferred under contractual arrange-
ment,” but rather will record the Note initially at its estimated
fair value. At February 1, 2003, US$4 million is classified as a
current receivable with the remainder classified as long term
within other assets in the accompanying Consolidated Bal-
ance Sheet.

Future adjustments, if any, to the carrying value of the Note
will be recorded pursuant to SEC Staff Accounting Bulletin
Topic 5:Z:5, “Accounting and Disclosure Regarding Discon-
tinued Operations,” which requires changes in the carrying
value of assets received as consideration from the disposal
of a discontinued operation to be classified within continu-
ing operations. Interest income will also be recorded within
continuing operations. The Company will recognize an im-
pairment loss when, and if, circumstances indicate that the
carrying value of the Note may not be recoverable. Such cir-
cumstances would include a deterioration in the business,
as evidenced by significant operating losses incurred by the
purchaser or non-payment of an amount due under the terms
of the Note.

On May 6, 2003, the amendments to the Note were exe-
cuted and a cash payment of CAD$5.2 million (approximately
US$3.5 million) was received representing principal and in-
terest through the date of the amendment. After taking into
account this payment, the remaining principal due under the
Note is CAD$17.5 million (approximately US$12 million). Un-
der the terms of the renegotiated Note, a principal payment of
CAD$1 million is due January 15, 2004. An accelerated prin-
cipal payment of CAD$1 million may be due if certain events
occur. The remaining amount of the Note is required to be
repaid upon the occurrence of “payment events,” as defined
in the purchase agreement, but no later than September 28,
2008. Interest is payable semiannually and will accrue begin-
ning on May 1, 2003 at a rate of 7.0 percent per annum.
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Net disposition activity of $13 million in 2002 included the
$18 million reduction in the carrying value of the net assets
and liabilities, recognition of the note receivable of $10 mil-
lion, real estate disposition activity of $1 million and sever-
ance and other costs of $4 million. Net disposition activity of
$116 million in 2001 included real estate disposition activity
of $46 million, severance of $8 million, asset impairments of
$23 million, operating losses of $28 million, a $5 million inter-
est expense allocation based onintercompany debt balances
and other costs of $6 million. The remaining reserve balance
of $7 million at February 1, 2003 is expected to be utilized
within twelve months.

The net loss from discontinued operations for 2000 in-
cludes sales of $335 million, and an interest expense allo-
cation of $10 million based on intercompany debt balances,
restructuring charges of $3 million and long-lived asset im-
pairment charges of $4 million.

In 1998, the Company exited both its International Gen-
eral Merchandise and Specialty Footwear segments. In the
second quarter of 2002, the Company recorded a $1 million
charge for a lease liability related to a Woolco store in the for-
mer International General Merchandise segment, which was
more than offset by a net reduction of $2 million before-tax, or
$1 million after-tax, for each of the second and third quarters
of 2002 in the Specialty Footwear reserve primarily reflecting
real estate costs more favorable than original estimates.

In 1997, the Company announced that it was exiting its Do-
mestic General Merchandise segment. In the second quar-
ter of 2002, the Company recorded a charge of $4 million
before-tax, or $2 million after-tax, for legal actions related
to this segment, which have since been settled. In addition,
the successor-assignee of the leases of a former business
included in the Domestic General Merchandise segment has
filed a petition in bankruptcy, and rejected in the bankruptcy
proceeding 15 leases it originally acquired from a subsidiary
of the Company. There are currently several actions pending
against this subsidiary by former landlords for the lease obli-
gations. In the fourth quarter of 2002, the Company recorded
a charge of $1 million after-tax related to certain actions. The
Company estimates the gross contingent lease liability re-
lated to the remaining actions as approximately $9 million.
The Company believes that it may have valid defenses, how-
ever as these actions are in the preliminary stage of proceed-
ings, their outcome cannot be predicted with any degree of
certainty.

The remaining reserve balances for these three discontin-
ued segments totaled $20 million as of February 1, 2003,
$11 million of which is expected to be utilized within twelve
months and the remaining $9 million thereafter.

Repositioning and Restructuring Reserves

1999 Restructuring

Total restructuring charges of $96 million before-tax were
recorded in 1999 for the Company’s restructuring program to
sell or liquidate eight non-core businesses. The restructuring
plan also included an accelerated store-closing program in
North America and Asia, corporate headcount reduction and
a distribution center shutdown.

Throughout 2000, the disposition of Randy River Canada,
Foot Locker Outlets, Colorado, Going to the Game!, Week-
end Edition and the accelerated store closing programs were
essentially completed and the Company recorded additional
restructuring charges of $8 million. In the third quarter of
2000, management decided to continue to operate Team
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Edition as a manufacturing business, primarily as a result of
the resurgence of the screen print business. The Company
completed the sales of The San Franciso Music Box Com-
pany and the assets related to its Burger King and Popeye’s
franchises in 2001, for cash proceeds of approximately
$14 million and $5 million, respectively. Restructuring cha-
rges of $33 million in 2001 and reductions to the reserves of
$2 million in 2002 were primarily due to The San Francisco
Music Box Company sale. The remaining reserve balance of
$1 million at February 1, 2003 is expected to be utilized within
twelve months.

The 1999 accelerated store-closing program comprised
all remaining Foot Locker stores in Asia and 150 stores in
the United States and Canada. Total restructuring charges of
$13 million were recorded and the program was essentially
completed in 2000. During 2000, management decided to
continue to operate 32 stores included in the program as a
result of favorable lease renewal terms offered during negoti-
ations with landlords. The impact on the reserve was not sig-
nificant and was, in any event, offset by lease buy-out costs
for other stores in excess of original estimates. Of the original
1,400 planned terminations associated with the store-closing
program, approximately 200 positions were retained as a re-
sult of the continued operation of the 32 stores.

In connection with the disposition of several of its non-
core businesses, the Company reduced sales support and
corporate staff by over 30 percent, reduced divisional staff
and consolidated the management of Kids Foot Locker and
Lady Foot Locker into one organization. In additon, the
Company closed its Champs Sports distribution center in
Maumelle, Arkansas and consolidated its operations with the
Foot Locker facility located in Junction City, Kansas. Total re-
structuring charges of $20 million were recorded in 1999 and
approximately 400 positions were eliminated. In 2000, the
Company recorded a reduction to the corporate reserve of
$7 million, $5 million of which related to the agreement to
sublease its Maumelle distribution center and sell the asso-
ciated fixed assets, which had been impaired in 1999, for
proceeds of approximately $3 million. A further $2 million
reduction reflected better than anticipated real estate and
severance payments. In the fourth quarter of 2001, the Com-
pany recorded a $1 million restructuring charge in connection
with the termination of its Maumelle distribution center lease,
which was completed in 2002.

Included in the consolidated results of operations are sales
of $54 million and $139 million and operating losses of
$12 million and $4 million in 2001 and 2000, respectively,
for the above non-core businesses and under-performing
stores, excluding Team Edition.

1993 Repositioning and 1991 Restructuring

The Company recorded charges of $558 million in 1993 and
$390 million in 1991 to reflect the anticipated costs to sell
or close under-performing specialty and general merchan-
dise stores in the United States and Canada. Under the 1993
repositioning program, approximately 970 stores were identi-
fied for closing. Approximately 900 stores were closed under
the 1991 restructuring program. The remaining reserve bal-
ance of $2 million at February 1, 2003, is expected to be
substantially utilized within twelve months.
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Store Count

At February 1, 2003, the Company operated 3,625 stores, as
compared with 3,590 at February 2, 2002. During 2002, the
Company opened 157 stores, closed 122 stores and remod-
eled/relocated 205 stores.

Segment Information

The Company operates in two segments—Athletic Stores
and Direct-to-Customers. Athletic Stores formats include the
Foot Locker businesses—Foot Locker, Lady Foot Locker
and Kids Foot Locker—as well as Champs Sports. The
Foot Locker format is located in North America, Europe and
Australia. The Lady Foot Locker and Kids Foot Locker for-
mats operate in the United States, and Champs Sports
operates in the United States and Canada. The Direct-to-
Customers division operates Footlocker.com, Inc., which
sells, through its affiliates, directly to customers through cat-
alogs and the Internet. Eastbay, Inc., one of its affiliates, is
one of the largest direct marketers of athletic footwear, ap-
parel and equipment in the United States, and provides the
Company'’s seven full-service e-commerce sites access to
an integrated fulfillment and distribution system. Included in
the Company’s disposed category are Foot Locker Outlets,
Going to the Game! and Foot Locker Asia.

Athletic Stores

(In millions) 2002 2001 2000
Sales

Stores $4,160 $3,999 $3,953
Disposed — — 1
Total sales $4,160 $3,999 $3,954

Operating profit before corporate
expense, net

Stores $ 279 $ 283 § 269
Disposed — — 2
Restructuring income 1 — 4
Total operating profit before

corporate expense, net $ 280 $ 283 $ 2n
Sales as a percentage of

consolidated total 92% 92% 91%
Number of stores at year end 3,625 3,590 3,582
Selling square footage (in millions) 8.04 7.94 791

Gross square footage (in millions) 13.22 13.14 13.08

Athletic Stores sales of $4,160 million increased 4.0 per-
cent in 2002, as compared with $3,999 million in 2001.
The increase was in part due to the strength of the euro’s
performance against the U.S. dollar in 2002, particularly in
the third and fourth quarters. Excluding the effect of for-
eign currency fluctuations, sales from athletic store formats
increased 2.8 percent in 2002, which was driven by the
Company’s new store opening program, particularly in Foot
Locker Europe, Champs Sports and Foot Locker Australia.
Foot Locker Europe and Foot Locker Australia generated
impressive comparable-store sales increases and Champs
Sports also contributed a comparable-store sales increase.
Athletic Stores comparable-store sales decreased by 0.4 per-
cent in 2002.

The Foot Locker business in the United States showed
disappointing sales during 2002. In the United States, both
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the basketball category as well as the current trend in clas-
sic shoes led footwear sales across most formats, although
certain higher-priced marquee footwear did not sell as well
as anticipated in the first quarter of 2002. During the sec-
ond quarter of 2002, the Company successfully moved its
marquee footwear back in line with historical levels and re-
focused its marquee footwear selection on products hav-
ing a retail price of $90 to $120 per pair and made changes
to the product assortment, which accommodated customer
demands in the third quarter of 2002. Lower mall traffic re-
sulted in disappointing sales during the fourth quarter of
2002. Sales, however, continued to benefit from the apparel
strategy led by merchandise in private label and licensed
offerings.

Sales from the Lady Foot Locker and Kids Foot Locker
formats were particularly disappointing in 2002. The Kids
Foot Locker format, which had previously been managed in
conjunction with Lady Foot Locker, is currently being man-
aged by the Foot Locker U.S. management team. Pursuant
to SFAS No. 144, the Company performed an analysis of
the recoverability of store long-lived assets for the Lady Foot
Locker format during the third quarter of 2002 and for the
Kids Foot Locker format during the fourth quarter of 2002
and recorded asset impairment charges of $1 million and
$6 million, respectively. Management has implemented var-
ious merchandising strategies in an effort to improve future
performance and expects the businesses to return to histor-
ical levels of profitability.

Sales of $3,999 million from ongoing athletic store formats
increased 1.2 percent in 2001, compared with $3,953 million
in 2000. Excluding the impact of the 53rd week in 2000 and
the effect of foreign currency fluctuations, sales from ongo-
ing store formats increased 3.4 percent in 2001, compared
with 2000, reflecting a comparable-store sales increase of
4.0 percent. The most significant growth was in Foot Locker
Europe, which generated comparable-store increases in the
double-digits. Champs Sports also contributed impressive
comparable-store sales increases and Foot Locker U.S.,
Australia and Canada contributed solid increases. High-end
basketball shoes continued to drive the strong footwear sales
performance as the number of launches of marquee and ex-
clusive footwear products contributed to incremental sales
during the year. Apparel sales also increased in 2001 and re-
flected a balanced mix of branded, licensed and private label
products.

Operating profit before corporate expense, net from ongo-
ing athletic store formats decreased 1.4 percent to $279 mil-
lion in 2002 from $283 million in 2001. Operating profit before
corporate expense, net, as a percentage of sales, decreased
to 6.7 percent in 2002 from 7.1 percent in 2001 primarily
due to the increased operating expenses associated with the
new store opening program. The impact of no longer amor-
tizing goodwill as a result of the Company’s adoption of SFAS
No. 142 was a reduction of amortization expense of $2 mil-
lion in 2002. Operating performance improved internationally
but was more than offset by the decline in performance in the
United States from the Foot Locker, Lady Foot Locker and
Kids Foot Locker formats. Operating profit before corporate
expense, net included asset impairment charges of $1 million
and $2 million in 2002 and 2001, respectively, for the Lady
Foot Locker format. An asset impairment charge of $6 million
was also recorded in 2002 related to the Kids Foot Locker
format.

Operating profit before corporate expense, net from
ongoing athletic store formats increased 5.2 percent to
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$283 million in 2001 from $269 million in 2000. Excluding
the impact of the 53rd week in 2000, operating profit before
corporate expense, net from ongoing athletic store formats
increased 11.4 percent in 2001 form $254 million in 2000. The
increase in 2001 was driven by all formats, with the exception
of Lady Foot Locker, for which an asset impairment charge
of $2 million was recorded in 2001. There were no material
asset impairment charges in 2000.

Direct-to-Customers

(In millions) 2002 2001 2000
Sales $349  $326  $279
Operating profit before corporate

expense, net $40 $24 §$ 1
Sales as a percentage of consolidated

total 8% 7% 6%

Direct-to-Customers sales increased by 7.1 percent to
$349 million in 2002 from $326 million in 2001. The Inter-
net business continued to drive the sales growth in 2002.
Internet sales increased by $44 million, or 44.0 percent, to
$144 million in 2002 compared with $100 million in 2001.
Catalog sales decreased 9.3 percent to $205 million in 2002
from $226 million in 2001. Management believes that the de-
crease in catalog sales is substantially offset by the increase
in Internet sales as the trend has continued for customers to
browse and select products through its catalogs and then to
make their purchases via the Internet. During 2002, the Com-
pany implemented many new initiatives designed to increase
market share within the Internet arena. A new catalog web-
site was launched that will offer value-based products. The
Company began to offer product customization to further dif-
ferentiate its products from those of competitors, expanded
on the existing relationship with the National Football League
and, prior to the end of 2002, entered into a strategic alliance
to offer footwear and apparel on the Amazon.com website.
Foot Locker is a featured brand in the Amazon.com specialty
store for apparel and accessories.

Direct-to-Customers sales increased 16.8 percent in 2001
to $326 million compared with $279 million in 2000. Exclud-
ing the impact of the 53rd week in 2000, Direct-to-Customers
sales increased by 18.5 percent in 2001. The Internet busi-
ness continued to drive the sales growth in 2001. Internet
sales increased by $42 million to $100 million in 2001 com-
pared with $58 million in 2000, which was driven by an in-
crease in product offerings and the continued growth of the
overall Internet market in 2001. The impact of the 53rd week
did not have a material impact on Internet sales. Catalog
sales, excluding the impact of the 53rd week in 2000, in-
creased 3.7 percent to $226 million in 2001 from $218 mil-
lion in 2000, reflecting increased catalog distribution and an
expanded product assortment available to consumers.

The Direct-to-Customers business generated operating
profit before corporate expense, net of $40 million in 2002
compared with $24 million in 2001, and continued to increase
profitability levels greater than the Athletic Stores segment.
Operating profit before corporate expense, net, as a percent-
age of sales, increased to 11.5 percent in 2002 from 7.4 per-
cent in 2001. The increase was primarily due to the increase
in gross margin, reduced marketing costs and $5 million re-
lated to the impact of no longer amortizing goodwill as a re-
sult of the Company’s adoption of SFAS No. 142 in 2002.
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Management anticipates that the sales growth in its inte-
grated Internet and catalog business will continue in future
years at high levels of profitability.

The Direct-to-Customers business generated operating
profit before corporate expense, net of $24 million in 2001
compared with $1 million in 2000. The increase in operating
profit was primarily due to the increase in sales performance.
Excluding the impact of the 53rd week in 2000, the Direct-
to-Customers business broke even in 2000.

Business Concentration

In 2002, the Company purchased approximately 71 percent
of its merchandise from five vendors and expects to continue
to obtain a significant percentage of its athletic product from
these vendors in future periods. Of that amount, approxi-
mately 44 percent was purchased from one vendor—Nike,
Inc. (“Nike”)—and 11 percent from another. While the Com-
pany generally considers its relationships with its vendors to
be satisfactory, given the significant concentration of its pur-
chases from a few key vendors, its access to merchandise
that it considers appropriate for its stores, catalogs, and on-
line retail sites may be subject to the policies and practices
of key vendors.

During 2002, Nike advised the Company that Nike would
limit purchases of certain marquee and launch athletic
footwear by the Company’s U.S. divisions for delivery after
February 1, 2003. Also, the Company has reduced its orders
for certain other products offered for sale by Nike. The Com-
pany expects to make incremental purchases of marquee
and launch product from its other key vendors, which the
Company currently expects will allow it to meet customer
demand for marquee and launch products. The Company
expects that Nike will continue to be a significant supplier in
2003 and will reflect approximately 32 percent to 38 percent
of its 2003 merchandise purchases.

All Other Businesses

The disposition of all business formats captured in the
“All Other” category was completed during 2001. They in-
clude Afterthoughts, The San Franciso Music Box Company,
Burger King and Popeye’s franchises, Randy River Canada,
Weekend Edition and Garden Centers.

(In millions) 2002 2001 2000
Sales $— $54 $123

Operating profit (loss) before corporate
expense, net

Disposed $— $(12) $ —
Restructuring income (charges) 1 (33) (11)
Gain (loss) on sale of businesses — 1 (1)
Total operating profit (loss) before

corporate expense, net $1 $44) $ (12
Sales as a percentage of consolidated

total —% 1% 3%
Number of stores at year end — — 170
Selling square footage (in millions) — — 0.18
Gross square footage (in millions) — — 0.24

In connection with the 1999 restructuring program, restruc-
turing income of $1 million was recorded in 2002 as a reduc-
tion in the previous charges related to the disposition of the
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non-core businesses. Restructuring charges of $33 million
and $11 million were recorded in 2001 and 2000, respec-
tively, for the disposition of The San Francisco Music Box
Company and the Burger King and Popeye’s franchises.

The sale of The San Francisco Music Box Company was
completed on November 13, 2001, for cash proceeds of ap-
proximately $14 million. In addition, on October 10, 2001, the
Company completed the sale of assets related to its Burger
King and Popeye’s franchises for cash proceeds of approxi-
mately $5 million.

In 2001, a $1 million adjustment was recorded to the gain
on the 1999 sale of Afterthoughts. In 2000, the Company
recorded a $1 million adjustment to the $19 million gain rec-
ognized on the 1998 sale of the Garden Centers nursery
business.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Cash Flow and Liquidity

Generally, the Company’s primary source of cash has been
from operations. The Company has a $190 million revolv-
ing credit facility available through June 2004. In 2001, the
Company raised $150 million in cash through the issuance
of subordinated convertible notes. The Company generally
finances real estate with operating leases. The principal uses
of cash have been to finance inventory requirements, capital
expenditures related to store openings, store remodelings
and management information systems, and to fund other
general working capital requirements.

Management believes operating cash flows and current
credit facilities will be adequate to finance its working capital
requirements, to make scheduled pension contributions for
the Company’s retirement plans, to fund quarterly dividend
payments, which are part of the approved dividend payment
program, and support the development of its short-term and
long-term operating strategies. Planned capital expenditures
for 2003 are $148 million, of which $114 million relates to new
store openings and modernizations of existing stores and
$34 million reflects the development of information systems
and other support facilities. In addition, planned lease acqui-
sition costs are $17 million and primarily relate to the Com-
pany’s operations in Europe. The Company has the ability
to revise and reschedule the anticipated capital expenditure
program should the Company’s financial position require it.

Any materially adverse reaction to customer demand, fash-
ion trends, competitive market forces, uncertainties related
to the effect of competitive products and pricing, customer
acceptance of the Company’s merchandise mix and retail lo-
cations, the Company’s reliance on a few key vendors for a
significant portion of its merchandise purchases (and on one
key vendor for approximately 44 percent of its merchandise
purchases), risks associated with foreign global sourcing or
economic conditions worldwide could affect the ability of the
Company to continue to fund its needs from business oper-
ations.

Operating activities of continuing operations provided
cash of $347 million in 2002 compared with $204 million
in 2001. These amounts reflect income from continuing op-
erations, adjusted for non-cash items and working capi-
tal changes. The increase in cash-flow from operations of
$143 million in 2002 is primarily due to improved operating
performance and is also related to working capital changes
primarily related to merchandise inventories, offset by the re-
lated payables and income taxes payable. During the third
quarter of 2002, the Company recorded a current receivable
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of approximately $45 million related to a Federal income
tax refund and subsequently received the cash during the
fourth quarter. Payments charged to the repositioning and
restructuring reserves were $3 million in 2002 compared with
$62 million in 2001.

Operating activities of continuing operations provided
cash of $204 million in 2001 compared with $265 million
in 2000. The decline in cash flow from operations in 2001
reflected increased cash outflows for merchandise invento-
ries and income taxes payable and repositioning and restruc-
turing reserves. Payments charged to repositioning reserves
were $62 million in 2001 compared with $38 million in 2000.

Net cash used in investing activities of continuing oper-
ations was $162 million in 2002 compared with $116 mil-
lion in 2001. Capital expenditures of $150 million in 2002
and $116 million in 2001 primarily related to store remodel-
ings and new stores. Lease acquisition costs, primarily re-
lated to the process of securing and extending prime lease
locations for real estate in Europe, were $18 million and
$20 million in 2002 and 2001, respectively. Proceeds from
sales of real estate and other assets and investments were
$6 million in 2002 compared with $20 million in 2001. Pro-
ceeds from the condemnation of the Company’s part-owned
and part-leased property contributed $6 million of cash re-
ceived in 2002. Proceeds from the sales of The San Francisco
Music Box Company and the Burger King and Popeye’s fran-
chises contributed $14 million and $5 million in cash, respec-
tively, in 2001.

Net cash used in investing activities of continuing opera-
tions was $116 million in 2001 compared with $86 million in
2000. The change was due to proceeds from sales of real
estate and other assets and investments of $20 million in
2001 compared with $25 million in 2000, in addition to the
$22 million increase in capital expenditures in 2001. Capi-
tal expenditures of $116 million in 2001 primarily related to
store remodelings and new stores compared with $94 million
in 2000.

Cash used in financing activities of the Company’s contin-
uing operations was $36 million in 2002 as compared with
$89 million of cash provided by financing activities of contin-
uing operations in 2001. The change in 2002 compared with
2001 was primarily due to the issuance of $150 million of
convertible notes on June 8, 2001, which was partially offset
by the repayment of the $50 million 6.98 percent medium-
term notes that matured in October 2001 and the purchase
and retirement of $8 million of the $40 million 7.00 percent
medium-term notes payable in October 2002. During 2002,
the repayment of debt continued as the Company repaid the
balance of the $40 million 7.00 percent medium-term notes
that were due in October 2002 and $9 million of the $200 mil-
lion of debentures due in 2022. There were no outstanding
borrowings under the Company’s revolving credit agreement
as of February 1, 2003 and February 2, 2002. During 2002,
the Board of Directors of the Company initiated a dividend
program and declared and paid a $0.03 per share dividend
during the fourth quarter of 2002 of $4 million.

Cash provided by financing activities of the Company’s
continuing operations was $89 million in 2001 compared with
cash used in financing activities of $167 million in 2000. The
change in 2001 compared with 2000 was primarily due to
the issuance of $150 million of convertible notes and the
$113 million reduction in debt repayments for both short-
term and long-term borrowings in 2001 compared with 2000.
There were no outstanding borrowings under the Company’s
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revolving credit agreement as of February 2, 2002 and
February 3, 2001. In 2001, the Company also repaid the
$50 million 6.98 percent medium-term notes that matured
in October 2001 and purchased and retired $8 million of
the $40 million 7.00 percent medium-term notes payable in
October 2002.

Net cash used in discontinued operations includes the loss
from discontinued operations, the change in assets and lia-
bilities of the discontinued segments and disposition activ-
ity related to the reserves. In 2002 and 2001, discontinued
operations utilized cash of $10 million and $75 miillion, re-
spectively, which consisted of payments for the Northern
Group’s operations and disposition activity related to the
other discontinued segments. In 2000, discontinued opera-
tions utilized cash of $67 million, which comprised the loss of
$50 million from the Northern Group’s operations and dispo-
sition activity related to the other discontinued segments.

Capital Structure

The Company reduced debt and capital lease obligations,
net of cash and cash equivalents to zero at February 1, 2003
from $184 million at February 2, 2002. In 2002, the Company
repaid the remaining $32 million of the $40 million 7.00 per-
cent medium-term notes that were payable in October 2002
and repurchased and retired $9 million of the $200 million
8.50 percent notes due in 2022, contributing to the reduction
of debt and capital lease obligations, net of cash and cash
equivalents. During the fourth quarter of 2002, the Board of
Directors initiated the Company’s dividend program and de-
clared and paid a dividend of $0.03 per share. The Company
will also be making scheduled contributions to the retirement
plans. The Company made a $50 million contribution to its
U.S. qualified retirement plan in February 2003, in advance
of ERISA requirements.

During 2001, the Company issued $150 million of subor-
dinated convertible notes due in 2008 and simultaneously
amended its $300 million revolving credit agreement to a re-
duced $190 million three-year facility. The subordinated con-
vertible notes bear interest at 5.50 percent and are convert-
ible into the Company’s common stock at the option of the
holder, at a conversion price of $15.806 per share. The Com-
pany may redeem all or a portion of the notes at any time on or
after June 4, 2004. The net proceeds of the offering are being
used for working capital and general corporate purposes and
to reduce reliance on bank financing. The Company’s revolv-
ing credit facility includes various restrictive covenants with
which the Company was in compliance on February 1, 2003.
There were no borrowings outstanding under the revolving
credit agreement at February 1, 2003. In 2001, the Company
repaid its $50 million 6.98 percent medium-term notes that
matured in October 2001, in addition to purchasing and re-
tiring $8 million of the $40 million 7.00 percent medium-term
notes payable October 2002.

On March 29, 2002, Standard & Poor’s increased the Com-
pany’s credit rating to BB+. On May 28, 2002, Moody’s In-
vestors Service’s increased the Company’s credit rating to
Ba2.
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For purposes of calculating debt to total capitalization, the
Company includes the present value of operating lease com-
mitments. These commitments are the primary financing ve-
hicle used to fund store expansion. The following table sets
forth the components of the Company’s capitalization, both
with and without the present value of operating leases:

{tn millions) 2002 2001
Debt and capital lease obligations, net of

cash and cash equivalents $ — $ 184
Present value of operating leases 1,571 1,372
Total net debt 1,571 1,556
Shareholders’ equity 1,110 992
Total capitalization $2,681 $2,548
Net debt capitalization percent 58.6% 61.1%
Net debt capitalization percent without

operating leases —% 15.6%

Excluding the present value of operating leases, the Com-
pany reduced debt and capital lease obligations, net of cash
and cash equivalents to zero at February 1, 2003, due to the
Company’s ability to reduce debt and capital lease obliga-
tions by $42 million while increasing cash and cash equiv-
alents by $142 million. These improvements were offset by
an increase of $199 million in the present value of operat-
ing leases for additional leases entered into during 2002 for
the Company’s new store program, resulting in an increase
in total net debt of $15 million. Including the present value
of operating leases, the Company’s net debt capitalization
percent improved by 2.5 percent in 2002. Total capitaliza-
tion improved by $133 million in 2002, which was primarily
a result of a $118 million increase in shareholders' equity
and a $15 million increase in total net debt. The increase
in shareholders’ equity relates primarily to net income of
$153 million in 2002 and an increase of $38 million in the
foreign exchange currency translation adjustment primarily
related to the increase in the euro, which were partially offset
by a charge of $83 million to record an additional minimum
liability for the Company’s pension plans. The additional min-
inum liability was required as a result of the plan’s negative
return on assets in 2002, coupled with a decrease in the dis-
count rate used to value the benefit obligations.

The following represents the scheduled maturities of the
Company’s long-term contractual obligations and other com-
mercial commitments as of February 1, 2003:

Payments Due by Period
Less
than 2-3 4-5 Afterb
(In millions) Total 1Year Years Years  Years
Contractual cash
obligations
Long-term debt $ 342 $ — $—  $— $342
Capital lease
obligations 15 1 — 14 —

Operating leases 2,241 357 629 519 736

Total contractual
cash obligations ~ $2,598 $358 $629 $533  $1,078
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Amount of Commitment Expiration by Period

Total Less
Amounts than 2-3

4-5 After5

(In millions) Committed 1Year Years Years Years
Other commercial
commitments
Line of credit $169 $—  $169 $— $—
Stand-by letters of
credit 21 —_ 21 - —_
Total commercial
commitments $190 $—  $190 $— $—

The Company does not have any off-balance sheet financ-
ing, other than operating leases entered into in the normal
course of business and disclosed above, or unconsolidated
special purpose entities. The Company’s treasury and risk
management policies prohibit the use of leveraged deriva-
tives or derivatives for trading purposes.

In connection with the sale of various businesses and as-
sets, the Company may be obligated for certain lease com-
mitments transferred to third parties and pursuant to certain
normal representations, warranties, or indemnifications en-
tered into with the purchasers of such businesses or assets.
Although the maximum potential amounts for such obliga-
tions cannot be readily determined, management believes
that the resolution of such contingencies will not have a mate-
rial effect on the Company’s consolidated financial position,
liquidity, or results of operations. The Company is also op-
erating certain stores for which lease agreements are in the
process of being negotiated with landlords. Although there
is no contractual commitment to make these payments, it is
likely that a lease will be executed.

Critical Accounting Policies

Management’s responsibility for integrity and objectivity in
the preparation and presentation of the Company’s finan-
cial statements requires diligent application of appropriate
accounting policies. Generally, the Company’s accounting
policies and methods are those specifically required by ac-
counting principles generally accepted in the United States
of America (“GAAP”). Note 1 to the Consolidated Financial
Statements includes a summary of the Company’s most sig-
nificant accounting policies. In some cases, management is
required to calculate amounts based on estimates for mat-
ters that are inherently uncertain. The Company believes the
following to be the most critical of those accounting policies
that necessitate subjective judgments.

Merchandise Inventories

Merchandise inventories for the Company’s Athletic Stores
are valued at the lower of cost or market using the re-
tail inventory method. The retail inventory method (“RIM”)
is commonly used by retail companies to value inventories
at cost and calculate gross margins by applying a cost-to-
retail percentage to the retail value of inventories. The RIM
is a system of averages that requires management’s esti-
mates and assumptions regarding markups, markdowns and
shrink, among others, and as such, could result in distor-
tions of inventory amounts. Judgment is required to differ-
entiate between promotional and other markdowns that may
be required to correctly reflect merchandise inventories at the
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lower of cost or market. Management believes this method
and its related assumptions, which have been consistently
applied, to be reasonable.

Vendor Allowances

In the normal course of business, the Company receives al-
lowances from its vendors for markdowns taken. Vendor al-
lowances are recognized as a reduction in cost of sales in
the period in which the markdowns are taken. The Company
has volume-related agreements with certain vendors, under
which it receives rebates based on fixed percentages of cost
purchases. These rebates are recorded in cost of sales when
the product is sold and they contributed 10 basis points to
the 2002 gross margin rate.

The Company receives support from some of its vendors
in the form of reimbursements for cooperative advertising
and catalog costs for the launch and promotion of certain
products. The reimbursements are agreed upon with ven-
dors for specific advertising campaigns and catalogs. Such
cooperative income is recorded in SG&A in the same period
as the associated expense is incurred. Cooperative income
amounted to approximately 17 percent of total advertising
costs and approximately 7 percent of catalog costs in 2002.

Discontinued and Restructuring Reserves

The Company exited four business segments and other non-
core businesses as part of a major restructuring program in
recent years. In order to identify and calculate the associated
costs to exit these businesses, management makes assump-
tions regarding estimates of future liabilities for operating
leases and other contractual agreements, the net realizable
value of assets held for sale or disposal and the fair value of
non-cash consideration received. Management believes its
estimates, which are reviewed quarterly, to be reasonabile,
and considers its knowledge of the retail industry, its previous
experience in exiting activities and valuations from indepen-
dent third parties in the calculation of such estimates. How-
ever, significant judgment is required and these estimates
and assumptions may change as additional information be-
comes available or as facts or circumstances change.

Impairment of Long-Lived Assets

In accordance with SFAS No. 144, which the Company
adopted in 2002, the Company recognizes an impairment
loss when circumstances indicate that the carrying value
of long-lived tangible and intangible assets with finite lives
may not be recoverable. Management’s policy in determin-
ing whether an impairment indicator exists, a triggering event,
comprises measurable operating performance criteria as well
as qualitative measures. If an analysis is necessitated by
the occurrence of a triggering event, the Company uses
assumptions, which are predominately identified from the
Company’s three-year strategic plans, in determining the im-
pairment amount. The calculation of fair value of long-lived
assets is based on estimated expected discounted future
cash flows by store, which is generally measured by dis-
counting the expected future cash flows at the Company’s
weighted-average cost of capital. Management believes its
policy is reasonable and is consistently applied. Future ex-
pected cash flows are based upon estimates that, if not
achieved, may result in significantly different results. Long-
lived tangible assets and intangible assets with finite lives
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primarily include property and equipment and intangible
lease acquisition costs.

In accordance with SFAS No. 142, which the Company
adopted in 2002, goodwill is no longer amortized but is sub-
ject to impairment review. The Company completed its tran-
sitional impairment review as of February 3, 2002 and no
impairment charges were recorded. The impairment review
requires a two-step approach. The initial step requires that
the carrying value of each reporting unit be compared with
its estimated fair value. The second step to evaluate good-
will of a reporting unit for impairment is only required if the
carrying value of that reporting unit exceeds its estimated
fair value. The fair value of each of the Company’s report-
ing units exceeded its carrying value as of February 3, 2002.
The Company used a market-based approach to determine
the fair value of a reporting unit, which requires judgment and
uses one or more methods to compare the reporting unit with
similar businesses, business ownership interests or securi-
ties that have been sold.

Pension and Postretirement Liabilities

The Company determines its obligations for pension and
postretirement liabilities based upon assumptions related
to discount rates, expected long-term rates of return on
invested plan assets, salary increases, age, mortality and
health care cost trends, among others. Management reviews
all assumptions annually with its independent actuaries, tak-
ing into consideration existing and future economic condi-
tions and the Company’s intentions with regard to the plans.
Management believes its estimates for 2002, the most sig-
nificant of which are stated below, to be reasonable. The
expected long-term rate of return on invested plan assets
is a component of pension expense and the rate is based
on the plans’ weighted-average asset allocation of 64 per-
cent equity securities and 36 percent fixed income invest-
ments, as well as historical and future expected performance
of those assets. The Company’s common stock represented
approximately one percent of the total pension plans’ assets
at February 1, 2003. A decrease of 50 basis points in the
weighted-average expected long-term rate of return would
have increased 2002 pension expense by $3 million. The ac-
tual return on plan assets in a given year may differ from the
expected long-term rate of return and the resulting gain or
loss is deferred and amortized over time. An assumed dis-
count rate is used to measure the present value of future cash
flow obligations of the plans and the interest cost component
of pension expense and postretirement income. The discount
rate is selected with reference to the long-term corporate
bond yield. A decrease of 50 basis points in the weighted-
average discount rate would have increased the accumu-
lated benefit obligation at February 1, 2003 of the pen-
sion and postretirement plans by $33 million and $1 million,
respectively. Such a decrease would not have significantly
changed 2002 pension expense or postretirement income.
There is limited risk to the Company for increases in health-
care costs related to the postretirement plan as new retirees
have assumed the full expected costs and existing retirees
have assumed all increases in such costs since the begin-
ning of fiscal year 2001. The additional minimum liability in-
cluded in shareholders’ equity at February 1, 2003 for the
pension plans represented the amount by which the accu-
mulated benefit obligation exceeded the fair market value of
plan assets.
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Pension  Postretirement
2002 Principal Assumptions Benefits Benefits
Weighted-average discount rate 6.50% 6.50%
Weighted-average rate of
compensation increase 3.65% N/A
Weighted-average expected
long-term rate of return on assets 8.87% N/A

The Company expects to record postretirement income of
$12 million and pension expense of $16 million in 2003. Pen-
sion expense would be $20 million in 2003 if the Company
had not made the $50 million contribution to its U.S. quali-
fied retirement plan in February 2003, in advance of ERISA
requirements.

Deferred Tax Assets

In accordance with GAAP, deferred tax assets are recognized
for tax credit and net operating loss carryforwards, reduced
by avaluation allowance, which is established when it is more
likely than not that some portion or all of the deferred tax as-
sets will not be realized. Management is required to estimate
taxable income for future years by taxing jurisdiction and to
use its judgment to determine whether or not to record a
valuation allowance for part or all of a deferred tax asset.

A one percent change in the Company’s overall statutory
tax rate for 2002 would have resulted in a $5 million change
in the carrying value of the net deferred tax asset and a corre-
sponding charge or credit to income tax expense depending
on whether such tax rate change was a decrease or increase.

Cumulative Effect of Changes in Accounting Principle

Effective in 2001, the Company adopted SFAS No. 133, “Ac-
counting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities,”
and its related amendment, SFAS No. 138, “Accounting for
Certain Derivative Instruments and Certain Hedging Activi-
ties” (“SFAS No. 133”). SFAS No. 133 requires that all deriva-
tive financial instruments be recorded in the Consolidated
Balance Sheets at their fair values. Changes in fair values
of derivatives will be recorded each period in earnings or
other comprehensive income (loss), depending on whether
a derivative is designated and effective as part of a hedge
transaction and, if it is, the type of hedge transaction. The
effective portion of the gain or loss on the hedging derivative
instrument will be reported as a component of other compre-
hensive income (loss) and will be reclassified to earnings in
the period in which the hedged item affects earnings. To the
extent derivatives do not qualify as hedges, or are ineffective,
their changes in fair value will be recorded in earnings imme-
diately, which may subject the Company to increased earn-
ings volatility. The adoption of SFAS No. 133 in 2001 did not
have a material impact on the Company’s consolidated earn-
ings and reduced accumulated other comprehensive loss by
approximately $1 million.

The Securities and Exchange Commission issued Staff Ac-
counting Bulletin No. 101, “Revenue Recognition in Financial
Statements,” in 1999, which interprets generally accepted
accounting principles related to revenue recognition in finan-
cial statements. In the fourth quarter of 2000, the Company
changed its method of accounting for sales under its layaway
program and recorded an after-tax expense of $1 million as of
the beginning of the fiscal year, representing the cumulative
effect of this change on prior years.
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Recently Adopted Accounting Pronouncements

In 2002 the Company adopted SFAS No. 142, “Goodwill
and Other Intangible Assets” (“SFAS No. 142”). Under SFAS
No. 142, goodwill and intangible assets with indefinite lives
are no longer amortized but are reviewed at a minimum an-
nually (or more frequently if impairment indicators arise) for
impairment. The Company completed the transitional review,
which did not result in an impairment charge. Separable in-
tangible assets that are deemed to have definite lives con-
tinue to be amortized over their estimated useful lives (but
with no maximum life). With respect to goodwill acquired prior
to July 1, 2001, the Company ceased amortizing those as-
sets during the first quarter of 2002. Goodwill amortization
was $7.5 million in 2001 and $7.7 million in 2000.

In August 2001, the FASB issued SFAS No. 144, “Account-
ing for the Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets”
(“SFAS No. 144”), which supersedes SFAS No. 121, “Ac-
counting for the Impairment of Long-Lived Assets and for
Long-Lived Assets to Be Disposed Of,” as well as the ac-
counting and reporting requirements of APB Opinion No. 30
“Reporting the Results of Operations—Reporting the Effects
of Disposal of a Segment of a Business, and Extraordinary,
Unusual and Infrequently Occurring Events” (“APB No. 30”).
SFAS No. 144 retains the basic provisions of APB No. 30 for
the presentation of discontinued operations in the income
statement but broadens that presentation to apply to a com-
ponent of an entity rather than a segment of a business.
The pronouncement now provides for a single accounting
model for reporting long-lived assets to be disposed of by
sale. The Company adopted SFAS No. 144 in 2002, and as
required, prior year balance sheet amounts have been con-
formed for the required presentation of discontinued opera-
tions and other long-lived assets held for disposal. In addi-
tion, impairment reviews were performed in 2002 pursuant
to SFAS No. 144 and impairment charges of $7 million were
recorded.

In April 2002, the FASB issued SFAS No. 145, “Rescis-
sion of FASB Statements No. 4, 44 and 64, Amendment of
FASB Statement No. 13, and Technical Corrections” (“SFAS
No. 145”). SFAS No. 145 amends other existing authoritative
pronouncements to make various technical corrections, in-
cluding that gains and losses from extinguishment of debt
no longer be classified as extraordinary. The statement also
eliminates an inconsistency between the required accounting
for sale-leaseback transactions and the required accounting
for certain lease modifications that have economic effects
that are similar to sale-leaseback transactions. in addition,
it requires that the original lessee under an operating lease
agreement that becomes secondarily liable shall recognize
the fair value of the guarantee obligation for all transactions
occurring after May 15, 2002. The Company adopted SFAS
No. 145 as of May 15, 2002, and it did not have a material
impact on its financial position or results of operations.

In June 2002, the FASB issued SFAS No. 146, “Account-
ing for Costs Associated with Exit or Disposal Activities”
(“SFAS No. 146”), which is effective for exit and disposal
activities that are initiated after December 31, 2002. The
statement addresses financial accounting and reporting for
costs associated with exit or disposal activities and nullifies
Emerging Issues Task Force (“EITF”) Issue No. 94-3, “Liability
Recognition for Certain Employee Termination Benefits and
Other Costs to Exit an Activity (including Certain Costs In-
curred in a Restructuring)”. The statement requires that the
fair value of an initial liability for a cost associated with an
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exit or disposal activity be recognized when the liability is
incurred as opposed to when the entity commits to an exit
plan, thereby eliminating the definition and requirements for
recognition of exit costs, as is the guidance under EITF 94-3.
The Company adopted SFAS No. 146 in 2002, and it did not
have a material impact on its financial position or results of
operations.

In November 2002, EITF Issue No. 02-16, “Accounting by
a Customer (Including a Reseller) for Certain Consideration
Received from a Vendor” was issued to clarify the accounting
for consideration received from a vendor. Cash received ap-
plies to cash received for reimbursements of costs incurred
to sell the vendor’s products, cooperative advertising and
cash received as rebates or refunds based upon cumula-
tive levels of purchases. The pronouncement applies to new
arrangements, including modifications of existing arrange-
ments entered into after December 31, 2002. The Company
adopted the provisions of the pronouncement, as of January
1, 2003 and it did not have a material impact on its financial
position or results of operations.

New Accounting Pronouncements

In June 2001, the FASB issued SFAS No. 143, “Accounting
for Asset Retirement Obligations” (“SFAS No. 143”), which is
effective for fiscal years beginning after June 15, 2002. The
Company intends to adopt SFAS No. 143 as of the beginning
of fiscal year 2003. The statement requires that the fair value
of a liability for an asset retirement obligation be recognized
in the period in which it is incurred if a reasonable estimate
of fair value can be made. The associated asset retirement
costs are capitalized as part of the carrying amount of the
long-lived asset. The initial amount to be recognized will be
at its fair value. The liability will be discounted and accretion
expense will be recognized using the credit-adjusted risk-free
interest rate in effect when the liability is initially recognized.
The Company does not expect the adoption to have a signif-
icant impact on its financial position or results of operations.

In December 2002, SFAS No. 148, “Accounting for Stock-
Based Compensation—Transition and Disclosure an amend-
ment of FASB Statement No. 123,” was issued and provides
alternative methods of transition for an entity that changes to
the fair value based method of accounting for stock-based
compensation, requires more prominent disclosure of the pro
forma impact on earnings per share and requires such dis-
closures quarterly for interim periods beginning in 2003. The
Company intends to adopt the interim disclosure require-
ments as of the beginning of fiscal year 2003 and to con-
tinue to account for stock-based compensation under APB
No. 25.

Disclosure Regarding Forward-Looking Statements

This report, including the Shareholders’ Letter, the material
following the Shareholders’ Letter, and Management’s Dis-
cussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of
Operations, contains forward-looking statements within the
meaning of the federal securities laws. All statements, other
than statements of historical facts, which address activities,
events or developments that the Company expects or an-
ticipates will or may occur in the future, including, but not
limited to, such things as future capital expenditures, ex-
pansion, strategic plans, dividend payments, stock repur-
chases, growth of the Company’s business and operations,
including future cash flows, revenues and earnings, and
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other such matters are forward-looking statements. These
forward-looking statements are based on many assumptions
and factors, including, but not limited to, the effects of cur-
rency fluctuations, customer demand, fashion trends, com-
petitive market forces, uncertainties related to the effect of
competitive products and pricing, customer acceptance of
the Company’s merchandise mix and retail locations, the
Company’s reliance on a few key vendors for a significant
portion of its merchandise purchases (and on one key vendor
for approximately 44 percent of its merchandise purchases),
unseasonable weather, risks associated with foreign global
sourcing, including political instability, changes in import reg-
ulations and the presence of Severe Acute Respiratory Syn-
drome, the effect on the Company, its suppliers and cus-
tomers, of any significant future increases in the cost of oil
or petroleum products, economic conditions worldwide, any
changes in business, political and economic conditions due
to the threat of future terrorist activities in the United States
or in other parts of the world and related U.S. military ac-
tion overseas, and the ability of the Company to execute its
business plans effectively with regard to each of its business
units, including its plans for marquee and launch footwear
component of its business. Any changes in such assump-
tions or factors could produce significantly different results.
The Company undertakes no obligation to publicly update
forward-looking statements, whether as a result of new in-
formation, future events or otherwise.

Forward Looking Information Excerpts
1.16
BRUNSWICK CORPORATION (DEC)

FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

Certain statements in this Annual Report are forward-looking
as defined in the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act
of 1995. Forward-looking statements in this Annual Report
may include words such as “expect,” “anticipate,” “believe,”
“may,” “should,” “could,” or “estimate.” These statements
involve certain risks and uncertainties that may cause actual
results to differ materially from expectations as of the date of
this filing. These risks include, but are not limited to:

e General economic conditions, a weakened stock mar-
ket and consumer confidence, and resultant demand
for the Company’s products, particularly in the United
States and Europe: Like many companies, the Com-
pany’s revenues have been, and continue to be, af-
fected by weak domestic and international market con-
ditions and the fluctuating stock market. The threat of
war in the Middle East and other global political events
may adversely affect consumer confidence during 2003
and beyond. The Company’s future results may con-
tinue to suffer if general economic conditions do not
improve.

e The effect of interest rates and fuel prices on demand
for marine products: The Company’s marine products,
particularly boats, are often financed, and higher inter-
est rates can retard demand for these products. The
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Company’s marine businesses are somewhat fuel-cost-
sensitive, and higher fuel costs can also hurt demand.
Adverse weather conditions retarding sales of marine
products: Sales of the Company’s marine products are
generally more robust just before and during spring and
summer, and favorable weather during these months
tends to have a positive effect on consumer demand.
Conversely, poor weather conditions during these pe-
riods can retard demand.

Shifts in currency exchange rates: The Company man-
ufactures its products predominately in the United
States, though international manufacturing and sourc-
ing are increasing. A strong U.S. dollar can make the
Company’s products less price-competitive relative to
locally produced products in international markets. The
Company is focusing on international manufacturing
and global sourcing in part to offset this risk.
Competitive pricing pressures: Across all of the Com-
pany’s product lines, introduction of lower-cost alter-
natives by other companies can hurt the Company’s
competitive position. The Company’s efforts toward
cost-containment, commitment to quality products,
and excellence in operational effectiveness and cus-
tomer service are designed in part to offset this risk.
Inventory adjustments by the Company, its major deal-
ers, retailers and independent boatbuilders: The Com-
pany’s inventory reduction efforts have focused on
reducing production, which results in lower rates of ab-
sorption of fixed costs and thus lower margins. In ad-
dition, as the Company’s dealers and retailers, as well
as independent boatbuilders who purchase the Com-
pany’s marine engine products, adjust their inventories
downward, wholesale demand for the Company'’s prod-
ucts diminishes. Inventory reduction can hurt the Com-
pany’s short-term results of operations and limit the
Company'’s ability to meet increased demand when the
U.S. economy recovers.

Financial difficulties experienced by dealers and inde-
pendent boatbuilders: The U.S. economic downturn
has adversely affected some of the Company's deal-
ers. As the main distribution channel for the Company’s
products, dealer health is critical to the Company’s con-
tinued success. In addition, a substantial portion of
the Company’s engine sales are made to independent
boatbuilders. As a result, the Company’s financial re-
sults can be influenced by the availability of capital and
the financial health of these independent boatbuilders.
The ability to maintain effective distribution: The Com-
pany sells the majority of its products through third
parties such as dealers, retailers and distributors. Main-
taining good relationships with superior distribution
partners, and establishing new distribution channels
where appropriate, is critical to the Company’s contin-
ued success.

The Company'’s ability to complete environmental re-
mediation efforts and resolve claims and litigation at the
cost estimated: As discussed in Part |, ltem 3 above, the
Company is subject to claims and litigation in the ordi-
nary course of operations. These claims include sev-
eral environmental proceedings, some of which involve
costly remediation efforts over extended periods of
time, as well as certain litigation matters which if not re-
solved in the Company’s favor, could require significant
expenditures by the Company. The Company believes
that it is adequately reserved for these obligations, but
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significant increases in the anticipated costs associated
with these matters could hurt the Company’s results of
operations in the period or periods in which additional
reserves or outlays are deemed necessary.

* The Company’s ability to develop product technolo-
gies which comply with regulatory requirements: As dis-
cussed in Part |, ltem 3 above, the Company’s Marine
Engine segment is subject to emissions standards that
require ongoing efforts to bring the Company’s engine
products in line with regulatory requirements. The Com-
pany believes that these efforts are on track and will be
successful, but unforeseen delays in these efforts could
have an adverse effect on the Company’s results of
operations.

® The success of marketing and cost-management pro-
grams and the Company’s ability to develop and pro-
duce competitive new products and technologies: The
Company is constantly subject to competitive pres-
sures. The Company’s continuing ability to respond to
these pressures, particularly through cost-containment
initiatives, marketing strategies, and the introduction of
new products and technologies, is critical to the Com-
pany’s continued success.

¢ The ability to maintain product quality and service stan-
dards expected by the Company’s customers: The
Company’s consumers demand high quality products
and excellent customer service. The Company’s ability
to meet these demands through continuous quality im-
provement across all of its businesses will significantly
impact the Company’s future results.

e The Company'’s ability to maintain market share and vol-
ume in key high-margin product lines, particularly in its
marine engine segment: The Company derives a sig-
nificant portion of its earnings from sales of higher-
margin products, especially in its marine engine busi-
ness. Changes in sales mix to lower-margin products,
including low-emission engines, as well as increased
competition in these product lines, could adversely
impact the Company’s future operating results. The
Company is focusing on cost-containment efforts, new
product development and global sourcing initiatives, as
well as operational improvements, to offset this risk.

e The ability to successfully integrate acquisitions: The
Company has acquired several new businesses since
2000 and intends to continue to acquire additional
businesses to complement its existing portfolio. The
Company’s success in effectively integrating these
operations, including their financial, operational and
distribution practices and systems, will affect the con-
tribution of these businesses to the Company’s consol-
idated results.

* Adverse foreign economic conditions: As the Company
continues to focus on international growth, it will be-
come increasingly vulnerable to the effects of political
instability, economic conditions and war in key world
regions.

o The effect of weak financial markets on pension expense
and funding levels: The Company has made, and will
continue to make as necessary, contributions to meet
its pension funding obligations. The Company’s pen-
sion expense is affected by the performance of financial
markets where pension assets are invested. These
costs will continue to increase if the performance of
financial markets weaken further.
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e The success of global sourcing and supply chain man-
agement initiatives: The Company has launched a num-
ber of initiatives to strengthen its sourcing and supply
chain management activities. The success of these ini-
tiatives will play a critical role in the Company’s contin-
uing ability to reduce costs.

117
CHEVRONTEXACO CORPORATION (DEC)

FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

This Annual Report of ChevronTexaco Corporation contains
forward-looking statements relating to ChevronTexaco’s
operations that are based on management’s current ex-
pectations, estimates and projections about the petroleum,
chemicals and other energy-related industries. Words such
as “anticipates,” “expects,” “intends,” “plans,” “targets,”
“projects,” “believes,” “seeks,” “estimates” and similar ex-
pressions are intended to identify such forward-looking
statements. These statements are not guarantees of future
performance and are subject to certain risks, uncertainties
and other factors, some of which are beyond our control and
are difficult to predict. Therefore, actual outcomes and re-
sults may differ materially from what is expressed or fore-
casted in such forward-looking statements. You should not
place undue reliance on these forward-looking statements,
which speak only as of the date of this report. Unless legally
required, ChevronTexaco undertakes no obligation to update
publicly any forward-looking statements, whether as a result
of new information, future events or otherwise.

Among the factors that could cause actual results to dif-
fer materially are crude oil and natural gas prices; refining
margins and marketing margins; chemicals prices and com-
petitive conditions affecting supply and demand for aromat-
ics, olefins and additives products; actions of competitors;
the competitiveness of alternate energy sources or product
substitutes; technological developments; the results of op-
erations and financial condition of equity affiliates; the ability
of the company’s Dynegy affiliate to successfully execute
its recapitalization and restructuring plans and the results of
Dynegy’s re-audit of its 1999-2001 financial statements; in-
ability or failure of the company’s joint-venture partners to
fund their share of operations and development activities;
potential failure to achieve expected production from ex-
isting and future oil and gas development projects; poten-
tial delays in the development, construction or start-up of
planned projects; potential disruption or interruption of the
company'’s production or manufacturing facilities due to ac-
cidents, political events, severe weather or war; potential
liability for remedial actions under existing or future envi-
ronmental regulations and litigation; significant investment
or product changes under existing or future environmental
regulations (including, particularly, regulations and litigation
dealing with gasoline composition and characteristics); and
potential liability resulting from pending or future litigation.
In addition, such statements could be affected by general
domestic and international economic and political con-
ditions. Unpredictable or unknown factors not discussed
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herein also could have material adverse effects on forward-
looking statements.

1.18
NATIONAL SERVICE INDUSTRIES, INC. (AUG)

CAUTIONARY STATEMENT REGARDING
FORWARD-LOOKING INFORMATION

This report contains forward-looking statements within the
meaning of the federal securities laws. Statements that are
not historical facts, including statements about manage-
ment’s and the Company’s beliefs and expectations, are
forward-looking statements. Forward-looking statements in-
clude statements preceded by, followed by or that include
the words “believes,” “expects,” “anticipates,” “plans,” “es-
timates” or similar expressions. These statements include,
among others, statements regarding our expected busi-
ness outlook, pricing levels, raw materials costs, anticipated
financial and operating results, strategies, contingencies,
financing and working capital requirements, sources of lig-
uidity, capital expenditures, amounts and timing of expendi-
tures with respect to asbestos litigation and environmental
matters, amounts and timing of insurance recoveries cov-
ering those expenses, the resolution of allocation and cov-
erage issues with the Company’s insurers, the solvency of
the Company’s insurers, competitive conditions and general
economic conditions.

Forward-looking statements are only predictions and are
not guarantees of performance. These statements are based
on management’s beliefs and assumptions, which in turn are
based on currently available information. These assumptions
could prove inaccurate. Forward-looking statements also in-
volve risks and uncertainties, which could cause actual re-
sults to differ materially from those contained in any forward-
looking statement. Many of these factors are beyond the
Company’s ability to control or predict. Such factors include,
but are not limited to:

¢ changes in general business and economic conditions;

e fluctuations in raw material prices;

e unexpected developments or outcomes in the Com-

pany’s legal or environmental proceedings;

¢ the risk of additional insolvencies among the Com-

pany’s insurance carriers;

¢ the risk of an increase or acceleration in the number of

asbestos-related claims filed against the Company;

e the risk of adverse judgments and damage awards

against the Company in pending or future litigation;

¢ therisk that the number of future asbestos claims or the

settlement costs of such claims will exceed the Com-
pany’s forecasts;

* changes in competitive conditions in the Company’s

markets;

¢ foreign currency fluctuations relative to the U.S. dollar;

and

* increases in labor and other significant operating ex-

penses.

Investors should not place undue reliance on any forward-
looking statements, which are based on current expecta-
tions. Further, forward-looking statements speak only as of
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the date they are made, and the Company undertakes no
obligation to update publicly any of them in light of new in-
formation or future events.

Euro Currency Conversion Excerpts
1.19
NEWELL RUBBER MAID INC. (DEC)

EURO CURRENCY CONVERSION

On January 1, 1999, the “Euro” became the common legal
currency for 11 of the 15 member countries of the Euro-
pean Union. On that date, the participating countries fixed
conversion rates between their existing sovereign curren-
cies (“legacy currencies”) and the Euro. On January 4, 1999,
the Euro began trading on currency exchanges and became
available for noncash transactions, if the parties elected to
use it. On January 1, 2001, another country (Greece) also
adopted the Euro, fixing the conversion rate against their
legacy currency. The legacy currencies remained legal tender
through December 31, 2001. On January 1, 2002, participat-
ing countries introduced Euro-denominated bills and coins,
and effective July 1, 2002, legacy currencies were no longer
legal tender.

All businesses in participating countries are now required
to conduct all transactions in the Euro and must convert
their financial records and reports to be Euro-based. The
Company has completed this conversion process and has
deemed its information systems to be Euro compliant. As
a result of the Euro conversion, the Company experienced
no adverse impact to its business or financial condition on a
consolidated basis.

Environmental Matters Excerpts
1.20
PEPSIAMERICAS, INC. (DEC)

ENVIRONMENTAL MATTERS

We maintain a continuous program in our operations to facili-
tate compliance with federal, state and local laws and regula-
tions relating to management of wastes and to the discharge
or emission of materials used in production, and such other
laws and regulations relating to the protection of the envi-
ronment. The capital costs of such management and com-
pliance, including the costs of the modification of existing
plants and the installation of new manufacturing processes
incorporating poliution control technology, are not material
to continuing operations.

Under the agreement pursuant to which we sold our sub-
sidiaries, Abex Corporation and Pneumo Abex Corporation,
in 1988 and a subsequent settlement agreement entered into
in September 1991, we have assumed indemnification obli-
gations for certain environmental liabilities of Pneumo Abex,
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net of any insurance recoveries. Pneumo Abex has been and
is subject to a number of environmental cleanup proceed-
ings, including proceedings under the Comprehensive Envi-
ronmental Response, Compensation and Liability Act of 1980
regarding disposal of wastes at on-site and off-site locations.
In some proceedings, federal, state and local government
agencies are involved and other major corporations have
been named as potentially responsible parties. Pneumo Abex
also has been and is subject to private claims and lawsuits
for remediation of properties currently or previously owned
by Pneumo Abex or certain other entities.

There is an inherent uncertainty in determining our potential
expenses for complying with our indemnification obligations,
and in particular, in assessing the total cost of remediating
a given site and in determining any individual party’s share
in that cost. This is because of the nature of the remediation
and allocation process and due to the fact that the liabilities
are at different stages in terms of their ultimate resolution,
and any assessment and determination are inherently spec-
ulative during the early stages, depending upon a number
of variables beyond the control of any party. Furthermore,
there are often timing considerations in that a portion of the
expense incurred by Pneumo Abex, and any resulting obli-
gation of ours to indemnify Pneumo Abex, may not occur for
a number of years.

During the second quarter of 2000, proceeds of a settle-
ment of insurance policies issued to a prior subsidiary were
placed in a trust (the “Trust”). The Trust documents specify
that funds in the Trust would be used to pay future liabilities
of the prior subsidiaries. Monies paid by the Trust thereby
would reduce our indemnification obligations. At fiscal year
end 2001, we had $131.2 million accrued (net of the respon-
sive Trust amount) to cover potential indemnification obli-
gations, including $20 million classified as current liabilities.
As a result of the establishment of the Trust, we removed
from our Consolidated Balance Sheet the portion of our lia-
bilities to which the Trust was responsive, and the Trust held
$34.3 million as of fiscal year end 2001.

In the latter part of 2001, we decided to investigate the use
of insurance products to mitigate risks related to our indemni-
fication obligations under the 1988 agreement, as amended.
As a prerequisite to receiving bids for such insurance, the
insurance carriers required that we employ an outside con-
sultant to perform a comprehensive review of all former fa-
cilities related to the discontinued operations, regardless of
whether any disputes have arisen with respect to a particular
former site or facility. This comprehensive review was pos-
sible because of advances in the business of retrospective
evaluation of the risk posed by particular types of sites and
the increased experience (and therefore available data) at
our former facilities. The consultant’s review was completed
in the fourth quarter of 2001. It provided a contingent indem-
nification liability for all known sites operated or impacted
by Pneumo Abex and resulted in the $111 million charge,
or $71.2 million net of tax, recorded in the fourth quarter of
2001.

During the second quarter of 2002, as part of acomprehen-
sive program concerning environmental liabilities related to
the former Whitman Corporation subsidiaries, we purchased
new insurance coverage related to the known sites previ-
ously owned and operated or impacted by Pneumo Abex
and its subsidiaries, along with other sites which Pneumo
Abex or one of its subsidiaries may have owned or oper-
ated or impacted. In addition, the Trust purchased insurance
coverage and funded coverage for remedial and other costs
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(“finite funding”) related to the sites previously owned and
operated or impacted by Pneumo Abex and its subsidiaries.
In conjunction with the purchase of the insurance policies, we
recorded a charge to discontinued operations of $9.8 miliion,
or $6 million after tax. This charge represented amounts ex-
pended by us and a reduction of funds in the Trust available
to pay expenses related to sites for which we have indemni-
fication obligations. These actions have been taken to fund
costs associated with the sites previously owned and oper-
ated orimpacted by Pneumo Abex and its subsidiaries and to
protect against additional future costs in excess of our self-
insured retention. The amount of self-insured retention (the
amount we must pay before the insurance carrier is obligated
to commence payments) is $114 million. We had accrued
$90 million in 2001 for remediation costs, which is our best
estimate of the contingent liabilities related to such environ-
mental matters. The estimated range of aggregate exposure
related only to the remediation costs of such environmental
liabilities is approximately $81 million to $130 million. The fi-
nite funding of $26 million may be used to pay a portion of the
$90 million, which we had accrued, along with our previously
incurred expenses. Essentially all of the assets of the Trust
were expended by the Trust in connection with the purchase
of the insurance coverage and the finite funding and related
expenses.

Because payments by the Trust for finite funding reduce
cash required to be paid by us for the environmental sites
for which we have indemnification obligations, we recorded
the finite funding in “Investments and other assets.” We had
$138.1 million accrued to cover potential indemnification
obligations, including $25.5 million classified as current li-
abilities as of fiscal year end 2002. This excludes possible
insurance recoveries under policies that were in place prior
to recently purchased insurance policies and is determined
on an undiscounted cash flow basis. The estimated indem-
nification liabilities of $138.1 million as of the end of fiscal
year 2002, include expenses for the remediation of identi-
fied sites, payments to third parties for claims and expenses,
(including product liability and toxic tort claims) administra-
tive expenses and the expenses of on-going evaluations and
litigation. We expect a significant portion of the accrued lia-
bilities will be disbursed during the next 10 years.

In addition, we had recorded receivables of $20.6 million
for future probable amounts to be received from insurance
companies and other responsible parties, of which $5.3 mil-
lion was included in “Other current assets” with the remaining
$15.3 million recorded in “Other assets” in the Consolidated
Balance Sheet as of fiscal year end 2002. As of fiscal year
end 2001, such receivables were $25 million.

We also have certain indemnification obligations related to
product liability and toxic tort claims which might emanate
out of the 1988 agreement with Pneumo Abex.

Other companies not owned by or associated with us are
responsible to indemnify Pneumo Abex for all of the claims
which have been filed against Pneumo Abex after 1998, ex-
cept for a maximum of 9 percent of such claims for which
we have or may have indemnification obligations. As of fiscal
year end 2002, the number of underlying lawsuits (including
asbestos-related claims against Pneumo Abex) that are or
may be indemnifiable by us has been reduced by more than
60 percent from its high point, with much of the reduction
having occurred in 2000 and 2001. Of the remaining claims,
many are asserted in less than five lawsuits brought on be-
half of multiple plaintiffs against multiple defendants, which
are based on generalized allegations. Our employees and
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agents manage or monitor such underlying claims, and we
also monitor and participate in related insurance-recovery
claims.

We continue to have environmental exposure related to
the remedial action required at a facility in Portsmouth,
Virginia for which we have an indemnity obligation. This
is a superfund site which the United States Environmen-
tal Protection Agency required to be remediated. Through
2002, we had made indemnity payments of approximately
$39.3 million (net of $3.1 million of recoveries from other
responsible parties) for remediation of the Portsmouth site
(consisting principally of soil treatment and removal) and have
accrued and expect to incur an estimated $4 million to com-
plete the remediation, administration and legal defense costs
over the next several years. Such amounts are included in the
$138.1 million accrued as of the end of fiscal year 2002 for
potential indemnification obligations.

We also have financial exposure related to certain remedial
actions required at a facility which manufactured hydraulic
and related equipment in Willits, California. The plant site is
contaminated by various chemicals and metals. In August
1997, a final consent decree was issued in the case of the
People of the State of California and the City of Willits,
California v. Remco Hydraulics, Inc. This final consent de-
cree was amended in December 2000 and established a trust
whose officers are obligated to investigate and clean up this
site. We are currently funding the investigation and interim
remediation costs on a year to year basis according to the
final consent decree. Through 2002, we have made indem-
nity payments of approximately $22.9 million for investiga-
tion and remediation at the Willits site (consisting principally
of soil removal, groundwater and surface/water treatment).
We have accrued $40.8 million for future remediation and
trust administration costs, with the majority of this amount
being spent in the next several years. Such amounts are in-
cluded in the $138.1 million accrued as of the end of fiscal
year 2002 for potential indemnification obligations. In addi-
tion, two lawsuits have been filed in California, which name
several defendants including certain of our prior subsidiaries.
The lawsuits allege that we and our former subsidiaries are
liable for personal injury and/or property damage resulting
from environmental contamination at the facility. There are
currently approximately 650 plaintiffs in the lawsuits seek-
ing an unspecified amount of damages, punitive damages,
injunctive relief and medical monitoring damages. We are ac-
tively defending the lawsuits. At this time, we do not believe
these lawsuits are material to our business or financial con-
dition, although at this stage of the proceeding we are unable
to reasonably estimate the range of possible loss.

We also have liability related to several investigations re-
garding on-site and off-site disposal of wastes generated at
a facility in Mahwah, New Jersey, for which we have certain
indemnity obligations. Through 2002, we have not indemni-
fied a significant amount for remediation but have accrued
approximately $18 million for certain remediation, long-term
monitoring and administration expenses, which are expected
to be incurred over the next several years. Such amounts are
included in the $138.1 million accrued as of the end of fiscal
year 2002 for potential indemnification obligations.

Although we have certain indemnification obligations for
environmental liabilities at a number of other sites, includ-
ing several superfund sites, it is not anticipated that the
additional expense involved at any specific site would have
a material effect on us. In the case of some of the other sites,
the volumetric contribution for which we have an obligation
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has in most cases been estimated and other large, financially
viable parties are responsible for substantial portions of the
remainder. In our opinion, based upon information currently
available, the ultimate resolution of these claims and litiga-
tion, including potential environmental exposures, and con-
sidering amounts already accrued, should not have a material
effect on our financial condition, although amounts recorded
in a given period could be material to our results of operations
or cash flows for that period.

1.21
SEQUA CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES (DEC)

ENVIRONMENTAL MATTERS

Sequa’s environmental department, under senior manage-
ment’s direction, manages all activities related to Sequa’s
involvement in environmental cleanup. This department es-
tablishes the projected range of expenditures for individual
sites with respect to which Sequa may be considered a po-
tentially responsible party under applicable federal or state
laws. These projected expenditures, which are reviewed pe-
riodically, include: remedial investigation and feasibility stud-
ies; outside legal, consulting and remediation project man-
agement fees; the projected cost of remediation activities;
and site closure and post-remediation monitoring costs. The
assessments take into account currently available facts, ex-
isting technology, presently enacted laws, past expenditures,
and other potentially responsible parties and their probable
level of involvement. Outside technical, scientific and legal
consulting services are used to support management’s as-
sessments of costs at significant individual sites.

It is Sequa’s policy to accrue environmental remediation
costs for identified sites when it is probable that a liability
has been incurred and the amount of loss can be reasonably
estimated. In the fourth quarter of 2001, Sequa recorded a
charge of $13.3 million to increase its accruals for remedi-
ation costs. The charge included $9.7 million of estimated
cost to remediate soil and groundwater contamination from
ammonium perchlorate (AP), a raw material used to produce
missile and rocket fuel. Although no federal or state environ-
mental standards have been finalized for AP, recent studies
indicating that the chemical may interfere with human thy-
roid function have prompted Sequa to begin cleanup actions
at its solid propellant facilities. At December 31, 2002, the
potential exposure for all remediation costs is estimated to
range from $16 million to $28 million, and Sequa’s Consoli-
dated Balance Sheet includes accruals for remediation costs
of $23.1 million. These accruals are at undiscounted amounts
and are included in accrued expenses and other noncurrent
liabilities. Actual costs to be incurred at identified sites in
future periods may vary from the estimates, given inherent
uncertainties in evaluating environmental exposures.

With respect to all known environmental liabilities, Sequa’s
actual cash expenditures for remediation of previously con-
taminated sites were $8.0 million in 2002, $4.0 million in 2001
and $3.3 million in 2000. Sequa anticipates that remedial
cash expenditures will be between $5 million and $8 million
during 2003 and between $5 million and $7 million during
2004. Sequa’s capital expenditures for projects to eliminate,
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control or dispose of pollutants were $1.3 million, $2.4 million
and $2.2 million in 2002, 2001 and 2000, respectively. Sequa
anticipates annual environment-related capital expenditures
to be approximately $2.5 million during 2003 and $1.8 million
during 2004. Sequa’s operating expenses to eliminate, con-
trol and dispose of pollutants were approximately $11 million
in 2002, $11 million in 2001 and $10 million in 2000. Sequa
anticipates that environmental operating expenses will be ap-
proximately $12 million per year during 2003 and 2004.

Market Risk Information Excerpts From
Management’s Discussion and Analysis

1.22
AIR PRODUCTS AND CHEMICALS, INC. (SEP)

MARKET RISKS AND SENSITIVITY ANALYSIS

The company’s earnings, cash flows and financial position
are exposed to market risks relating to fluctuations in inter-
est rates and foreign currency exchange rates. It is the policy
of the company to minimize its cash flow exposure to ad-
verse changes in currency and exchange rates and to reduce
the financial risks inherent in funding the company with debt
capital.

The company addresses these financial exposures through
a controlled program of risk management that includes the
use of derivative financial instruments. Counterparties to all
derivative contracts are major financial institutions, thereby
minimizing the risk of credit loss. All instruments are entered
into for other than trading purposes. The utilization of these
instruments is described more fully in Note 6 to the consoli-
dated financial statements. The major accounting policies for
these instruments are described in Note 1 to the consolidated
financial statements.

The company’s derivative and other financial instruments
consist of long-term debt (including current portion), inter-
est rate swaps, interest rate and currency swaps, foreign
exchange-forward contracts and foreign exchange-option
contracts. The net market value of these financial instruments
combined is referred to below as the net financial instrument
position. The net financial instrument position does not in-
clude other investments of $50.1 at 30 September 2002 and
$52.1 at 30 September 2001 as disclosed in Note 6 to the
consolidated financial statements. These amounts primarily
represent an investment in a publicly traded foreign company
accounted for by the cost method. The company assessed
the materiality of the market risk exposure on these financial
instruments and determined this exposure to be immaterial.

At 30 September 2002 and 2001, the net financial instru-
ment position was a liability of $2,363.0 and $2,300.5, re-
spectively. The increase in the net financial instrument posi-
tion was due primarily to higher long-term debt, including the
current portion.

The analysis below presents the sensitivity of the mar-
ket value of the company’s financial instruments to selected
changes in market rates and prices. The range of changes
chosen reflects the company’s view of changes which are
reasonably possible over a one-year period. Market values
are the present value of projected future cash flows based on
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the market rates and prices chosen. The market values for
interest rate risk and foreign currency risk are calculated by
the company using a third-party software model that utilizes
standard pricing models to determine the present value of
the instruments based on market conditions (interest rates,
spot and forward exchange rates and implied volatilities) as
of the valuation date.

Interest Rate Risk

The company’s debt portfolio, including swap agreements,
as of 30 September 2002 primarily comprised debt denomi-
nated in Euros (41%) and U.S. dollars (35%). This debt port-
folio is composed of 67% fixed-rate debt and 33% variable-
rate debt. Changes in interest rates have different impacts on
the fixed- and variable-rate portions of the company’s debt
portfolio. A change in interest rates on the fixed portion of
the debt portfolio impacts the net financial instrument posi-
tion but has no impact on interest incurred or cash flows. A
change in interest rates on the variable portion of the debt
portfolio impacts the interest incurred and cash flows but
does not impact the net financial instrument position.

The sensitivity analysis related to the fixed portion of the
company'’s debt portfolio assumes an instantaneous 100 ba-
sis point move in interest rates from the levels at 30 Septem-
ber 2002 and 2001, with all other variables (including foreign
exchange rates) held constant. A 100 basis point increase in
market interest rates would result in a decrease of $52 and
$69 in the net liability position of financial instruments at 30
September 2002 and 2001, respectively. A 100 basis point
decrease in market interest rates would result in an increase
of $55 and $75 in the net liability position of financial instru-
ments at 30 September 2002 and 2001, respectively.

Based on the variable-rate debt included in the company’s
debt portfolio, including the interest rate swap agreements,
as of 30 September 2002 and 2001, a 100 basis point in-
crease in interest rates would result in an additional $8 and
$7 in interest incurred per year at 30 September 2002 and
2001, respectively. A 100 basis point decline would lower in-
terest incurred by $8 and $7 per year at 30 September 2002
and 2001, respectively.

Foreign Currency Exchange Rate Risk

The sensitivity analysis assumes an instantaneous 10%
change in the foreign currency exchange rates from their lev-
els at 30 September 2002 and 2001, with all other variables
(including interest rates) held constant. A 10% strengthening
of the functional currency of an entity versus all other cur-
rencies would result in a decrease of $188 and $165 in the
net liability position of financial instruments at 30 September
2002 and 2001, respectively. A 10% weakening of the func-
tional currency of an entity versus all other currencies would
result in an increase of $183 and $163 in the net liability posi-
tion of financial instruments at 30 September 2002 and 2001,
respectively.

The primary currencies for which the company has ex-
change rate exposure are the U.S. dollar versus the Euro, the
U.S. dollar versus the U.K. Pound Sterling and the Euro ver-
sus the Canadian Dollar. Foreign currency debt, interest rate
and currency swaps and foreign exchange-forward contracts
are used in countries where the company does business,
thereby reducing its net asset exposure. Foreign exchange-
forward contracts also are used to hedge the company’s firm
and highly anticipated foreign currency cash flows, along with
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foreign exchange-option contracts. Thus, there is either an
asset or cash flow exposure related to all of the financial
instruments in the above sensitivity analysis for which the
impact of a movement in exchange rates would be in the
opposite direction and materially equal (or more favorable in
the case of purchased foreign exchange-option contracts) to
the impact on the instruments in the analysis.

1.23
BARNES GROUP INC. (DEC)

MARKET RISK

Market risk is the potential economic loss that may result
from adverse changes in the fair value of financial instru-
ments. The Company’s financial results could be impacted
by changes in interest rates, foreign currency exchange rates
and commodity price changes. The Company uses financial
instruments to hedge its exposure to fluctuations in interest
rates and foreign currency exchange rates. The Company
does not use derivatives for speculative or trading purposes.

The Company’s long-term debt portfolio consists of fixed-
rate and variable-rate instruments and is managed to reduce
the overall cost of borrowing while also minimizing the ef-
fect of changes in interest rates on near-term earnings. In
August 2002, the Company entered into an interest rate swap
agreement that effectively converts $18.8 million of its fixed-
rate Senior Notes to variable-rate debt. This interest swap
agreement had a positive impact on 2002 earnings, reducing
interest expense by $0.1 million.

The Company’s primary interest rate risk is derived from its
outstanding variable-rate debt obligations. At December 31,
2002, the result of a hypothetical 1% increase in the average
cost of the Company’s variable-rate debt, including the inter-
est rate swap agreement, would have reduced annual pretax
profit by $0.6 million.

At December 31, 2002, the fair value of the Company’s
fixed-rate debt was $153.0 million, compared with its carry-
ing amount of $156.9 million. The Company estimates that a
1% decrease in market interest rates at December 31, 2002,
would have increased the fair value of the Company’s fixed-
rate debt to $158.5 million.

The Company has manufacturing, sales and distribution
facilities around the world and thus makes investments
and conducts business transactions denominated in vari-
ous currencies. The currencies of the locations where the
Company'’s business operations are conducted are the U.S.
dollar, Singapore dollar, Euro, British pound, Mexican peso,
Brazilian real, Canadian dollar, Swedish krona and Chinese
renminbi. The Company is exposed primarily to U.S. dollar-
denominated financial instruments at its international loca-
tions. A 10% adverse change in all currencies at December
31, 2002, would have resulted in a $1.0 million loss in the fair
value of those financial instruments.

Foreign currency commitments and transaction exposures
are managed at the operating units as an integral part of
their businesses in accordance with a corporate policy that
addresses acceptable levels of foreign currency exposures.
The Company does not hedge its foreign currency net in-
vestment exposure. To reduce foreign currency exposure in
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countries where the local currency is strengthening against
the U.S. dollar, management has converted U.S. dollar-
denominated cash and short-term investments to local cur-
rency and is using forward currency contracts for other U.S.
dollar-denominated assets in an effort to reduce the effect of
the volatility of changes in foreign exchange rates on the in-
come statement. In weaker currency countries, such as Brazil
and Mexico, management continues to invest excess cash
in U.S. dollar-denominated instruments.

The Company'’s exposure to commodity price changes re-
lates primarily to certain manufacturing operations that uti-
lize high-grade steel spring wire and titanium. The Company
manages its exposure to changes in those prices through its
procurement and sales practices. The Company is not de-
pendent upon any single source for any of its principal raw
materials or products for resale, and all such materials and
products are readily available.

1.24
CAMPBELL SOUP COMPANY (JUL)

MARKET RISK SENSITIVITY

The principal market risks to which the company is exposed
are changes in interest rates and foreign currency exchange
rates. In addition, the company is exposed to equity price
changes related to certain employee compensation obli-
gations. The company manages its exposure to changes
in interest rates by optimizing the use of variable-rate and
fixed-rate debt and by utilizing interest rate swaps in or-
der to maintain its variable-to-total debt ratio within targeted
guidelines. International operations, which accounted for ap-
proximately 29% of 2002 net sales, are concentrated princi-
pally in Australia, Canada, France, Germany and the United
Kingdom. The company manages its foreign currency expo-
sures by borrowing in various foreign currencies and utiliz-
ing cross-currency swaps, forward contracts, and options.
Swaps and forward contracts are entered into for periods
consistent with related underlying exposures and do not con-
stitute positions independent of those exposures. The com-
pany does not enter into contracts for speculative purposes
and does not use leveraged instruments.

The company principally uses a combination of purchase
orders and various short- and long-term supply arrange-
ments in connection with the purchase of raw materials, in-
cluding certain commodities and agricultural products. On
occasion, the company may also enter into commodity fu-
tures contracts, as considered appropriate, to reduce the
volatility of price fluctuations for commodities such as corn,
soybean meal and cocoa. At July 28, 2002 and July 29,
2001, the notional values and unrealized gains or losses on
commodity futures contracts held by the company were not
material.

The information below summarizes the company’s mar-
ket risks associated with debt obligations and other signif-
icant financial instruments as of July 28, 2002. Fair values
included herein have been determined based on quoted mar-
ket prices. The information presented below should be read
in conjunction with Notes 16 and 18 to the Consolidated
Financial Statements.
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The table below presents principal cash flows and related
interest rates by fiscal year of maturity for debt obligations.
Variable interest rates disclosed represent the weighted-
average rates of the portfolio at the period end. Notional
amounts and related interest rates of interest rate swaps are
presented by fiscal year of maturity. For the swaps, vari-
able rates are the average forward rates for the term of each
contract.

Expected Fiscal Year of Maturity

(US$ equivalents in millions) 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 Thereafter Total Fair Value
Debt

Fixed rate $ 301 $ 300 $ 1 $ 1 $ 605 $1,242 $2,450 $2,652

Weighted average interest rate 6.16% 4.76% 9.00% 9.00% 6.20% 6.90% 6.37%

Variable rate $ 895 $ 300 $1,195 $1,195
Weighted average interest rate 2.52% 2.29% 2.46%

Interest rate swaps

Fixed to variable $ 100@ $ 3250 $ 425 $ 3N

Average pay rate 4.12% 5.39% 5.09%

Average receive rate 5.50% 6.55% 6.30%

Variable to fixed $ 3000 $ 300 $ @
Average pay rate 3.74% 3.74%

Average receive rate 2.63% 2.63%

() Hedges variable-rate notes due in 2004.
@ Hedges 5.50% notes due in 2007.

© Hedges $75 million of 5.875% notes and $250 miilion of 6.75% notes, respectively, due in 2009 and 2011.

As of July 29, 2001, fixed-rate debt of approximately $1.7 billion with an average interest rate of 6.51% and variable-rate debt of approximately
$2.3 billion with an average interest rate of 4.43% were outstanding. At July 29, 2001, the company had swapped $250 million of fixed-rate
debt to variable. The average rate received on these swaps was 6.75% and the average rate paid was 6.47%.

The company is exposed to foreign exchange risk related
to its international operations, including non-functional cur-
rency intercompany debt and net investments in subsidiaries.

The table below summarizes the cross-currency swaps
outstanding as of July 28, 2002, which hedge such expo-
sures. The notional amount of each currency and the related
weighted-average forward interest rate are presented in the
Cross-Currency Swaps table.

Cross-Currency Swaps

(US$ equivalents Interest  Notional Fair
in millions) Expiration Rate Value Value
Pay fixed SEK 2003 5.72% $29 $@Q
Receive fixed USD 4.03%
Pay fixed SEK 2005 5.78% $ 47 $ @
Receive fixed USD 5.25%
Pay fixed EUR 2007 5.46% $200 $(19)
Receive fixed USD 5.75%
Pay fixed GBP 2011 5.97% $200 $(14)
Receive fixed USD 6.08%

The cross-currency contract outstanding at July 29, 2001 repre-
sented a pay variable FrF/receive variable US$ contract with a no-
tional value of $110 million. This contract was canceled in 2002. The
aggregate fair value of the contract was $25 miliion as of July 29,
2001.

The company is also exposed to foreign exchange risk
as a result of transactions in currencies other than the
functional currency of certain subsidiaries, including sub-
sidiary debt. The company utilizes foreign currency forward
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purchase and sale contracts to hedge these exposures. The
table below summarizes the foreign currency forward con-
tracts outstanding and the related weighted-average con-
tract exchange rates as of July 28, 2002.

Forward Exchange Contracts

(US$ equivalents Contract  Average Contractual
in millions) Amount Exchange Rate
Receive USD / Pay GBP $229 0.67
Receive USD / Pay EUR $207 1.03
Receive CAD / Pay USD $ 74 0.63
Receive GBP / Pay USD $ 28 1.57
Receive USD / Pay SEK $ 20 9.24
Receive AUD / Pay NZD $18 1.20
Receive USD / Pay CAD $18 1.56
Receive JPY / Pay USD $ 9 0.01
Receive EUR / Pay GBP $ 9 0.62
Receive EUR / Pay USD $ 9 0.90
Receive USD / Pay JPY $ 6 124.67
Receive EUR / Pay SEK $ 5 9.44

The company had an additional $5 million in a number of smaller
contracts to purchase or sell various other currencies, such as the
Australian dollar, British pound, Canadian dollar, euro and New
Zealand dollar, as of July 28, 2002. The aggregate fair value of all
contracts was $(7) million as of July 28, 2002. Total forward exchange
contracts outstanding as of July 29, 2001 were $880 miillion with a
fair value of $(7) million.
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The company had swap contracts outstanding as of July 28,
2002, which hedge a portion of exposures relating to certain
employee compensation liabilities linked to the total return of
the Standard & Poor’s 500 Index or to the total return of the
company’s capital stock. Under these contracts, the com-
pany pays variable interest rates and receives from the coun-
terparty either the Standard & Poor’s 500 Index total return or
the total return on company capital stock. The notional value
of the contracts that are linked to the return on the Standard &
Poor's 500 Index was $21 million at July 28, 2002 and
$28 million at July 29, 2001. The average forward interest
rate applicable to the contract, which expires in 2003, was
2.22% at July 28, 2002. The notional value of the contract
that is linked to the total return on company capital stock was
$32 million at both July 28, 2002 and July 29, 2001. The av-
erage forward interest rate applicable to this contract, which
expires in 2003, was 2.07% at July 28, 2002. The net cost
to settle these contracts was $22 million at July 28, 2002
and $17 million at July 29, 2001. Gains and losses on the
contracts, which offset gains and losses on the underlying
employee compensation obligations, are recorded in Other
expenses.

The company’s utilization of financial instruments in man-
aging market risk exposures described above is consistent
with the prior year. Changes in the portfolio of financial in-
struments are a function of the results of operations, market
effects on debt and foreign currency, and the company’s ac-
quisition and divestiture activities.

SEGMENT INFORMATION

1.25 Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (SFAS)
No. 131, Disclosures about Segments of an Enterprise and
Related Information, supersedes SFAS No. 14, Financial Re-
porting for Segments of a Business Enterprise, in reporting
information about a public business enterprise’s operating
segments. Operating segments are components of an enter-
prise about which separate financial information is available
that is evaluated regularly by the chief operating decision
maker in deciding how to allocate resources and in assess-
ing performance.

1.26 SFAS No. 131 requires that a public business en-
terprise report a measure of segment profit or loss, certain
specific revenue and expense items, and segment assets. It
requires reconciliations of total segment revenues, total seg-
ment profit or loss, total segment assets, and other amounts
disclosed for segments to corresponding amounts in the en-
terprise’s general-purpose financial statements. It requires
that all public business enterprises report information about
the revenues derived from the enterprise’s products or ser-
vices (or groups of similar products and services), about the
countries in which the enterprise earns revenues and holds
assets, and about major customers regardless of whether
that information is used in making operating decisions. How-
ever, this Statement does not require an enterprise to report
information that is not prepared for internal use if reporting it
would be impracticable.
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1.27 Table 1-3 shows the type of segment information
most frequently presented as an integral part of the financial
statements of the survey companies. Examples of segment
information disclosures follow.

1.28
TABLE 1-3: SEGMENT INFORMATION
Number of Companies
2002 2001 2000 1999
Industry segments
REVENUE.......counveeeireeerenirireeiens 404 412 345 357
Operating income or loss.. 310 311 299 309
Identifiable assets............cccconevrennn. 389 400 371 368
Depreciation expense.........c.ccocuuce. 406 402 398 409
Capital expenditures............co.covunne. 367 373 356 374
Geographic area
REVENUE.......oovvvcrereercrienmreniecirecines 296 295 282 300
Operating income or l0SS................. 48 66 58 66
Identifiable assets.........ccccoecrerrnnnees 82 85 92 92
Depreciation expense............ceeee. 37 36 42 41

Capital expenditures.....
Export sales........ccccouueee
Sales to major customers

1.29

AMERICAN BILTRITE INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
(DEC)

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(In thousands of dollars)

16. Industry Segments

Description of Products and Services

The Company has four reportable segments: flooring prod-
ucts, tape products, jewelry, and a Canadian division that
produces flooring and rubber products. Congoleum, which
represents the majority of the Company’s flooring products
segment, manufactures vinyl and vinyl composition floor
coverings and sells them primarily through floor covering
distributors to retailers, and contractors for commercial and
residential use. Effective October 12, 2000, the Company ac-
quired Janus Flooring Corporation, which has been included
in the flooring products segment. The tape products segment
consists of two production facilities in the United States,
and finishing and sales facilities in Belgium and Singapore.
The tape products segment manufactures paper, film, HVAC,
electrical, shoe, and other tape products for use in industrial
and automotive markets. The jewelry segment consists of
K&M Associates L.P.,, a national costume jewelry supplier to
mass merchandisers and department stores. The Company’s
Canadian division produces flooring, rubber products, in-
cluding materials used by footwear manufacturers, and other
industrial products.

ATT-SEC 1.29



32 Accounting Trends & Techniques

Measurement of Segment Profit or Loss
and Segment Assets

The Company considers all revenues and expenses to be
of an operating nature and, accordingly, allocates them to
industry segments regardless of the profit center in which
recorded. Costs specific to a segment, such as pension ex-
pense, are charged to the segment. Corporate office ex-
penses are allocated to certain segments based on resources
allocated. Significant assets of the Corporate office include
cash, deferred tax assets, and goodwill. The accounting poli-
cies of the reportable segments are the same as those de-
scribed in the summary of significant accounting policies.

Intersegment sales and transfers are recorded at cost plus
an agreed upon intercompany profit on intersegment sales
or transfers.

Factors Used to Identify Reportable Segments

Reportable segments are business units that offer different
products and are each managed separately. The Company’s
Canadian division manufactures certain products, which are
similar to products of the flooring segment; however, the
Canadian division is managed and reports separately from
the flooring segment.

Segment Profit and Assets

2002 2001 2000

Revenues
Revenues from external

customers:

Flooring products $244,546  $225723  $221,222

Tape products 80,637 82,914 94,773

Jewelry 78,972 62,125 51,002

Canadian division 37,878 39,924 49,107
Total revenues from external

customers 442,033 410,686 416,104
intersegment revenues:

Flooring products 235 288 361

Tape products 138 143 154

Jewelry — — -

Canadian division 9,816 7,949 6,354
Total intersegment revenues 10,189 8,380 6,869
Total revenue 452,222 419,066 422,973

Reconciling items
Intersegment revenues

Total consolidated revenues

(10189)  (8.380)  (6,869)
$442,033  $410,686  $416,104

A major portion of the increase in Jewelry segment revenue in
2002 compared to 2001 was from the acquisition of Swank’s
Ladies Jewelry Division. The increase in Flooring segment
revenue in 2002 resulted from strong sales of the new
DuraStone product line introduced in August 2001 and im-
proved resilient sheet sales, partially offset by lower luxury
and contract tile sales.
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Approximately 50%, 53% and 56% of the Canadian di-
vision’s revenues from external customers were for flooring
products for 2002, 2001 and 2000, respectively. The remain-
ing revenues from the Canadian division’s external customers
were from sale of rubber and other industrial products.

2002 2001 2000
Interest income
Flooring products $ 263 $ 709  $1,799
Tape products 15 105 25
Jewelry 20 34 48
Canadian division 120 144 131
Total segment interest revenue 418 992 2,003
Reconciling items
Corporate office interest revenue 100 56 98
Intersegment interest revenue (188) (138) (60)
Total consolidated interestincome ~ § 330 § 910  $2,041
Interest expense
Flooring products $ 8986 $8797 $7,567
Tape products 109 114 144
Jewelry 515 741 1,029
Canadian division 109 38 1
Total segment interest expense 9,719 9,690 8,741
Reconciling items
Corporate office interest expense 1,843 1,385 726
Intersegment interest expense (188) (138) (60)
Total consolidated interest expense  $11,374  $10,937  $9,407
2002 2001 2000
Depreciation and amortization
expense
Flooring products $ 11,735 $12,696 $ 11,786
Tape products 2,861 2,529 2,252
Jewelry 831 1,548 1,387
Canadian division 2,078 1,978 1,783
Total segment depreciation and
amortization 17,505 18,751 17,208
Reconciling items
Corporate office depreciation 16 22 31
Total consolidated depreciation
and amortization $ 17,521 $18,773 $17,239
Segment profit
Flooring products $(22,200) $(4,075)  $(12,158)
Tape products 305 1,137 7,614
Jewelry 7,301 5,633 3,444
Canadian division 507 1,717 4,170
Total segment profit (14,087) 4,412 3,070
Reconciling items
Corporate office loss (716) (145) (298}
Intercompany profit (loss) 29 (72) 96
Total consolidated (loss)
earnings before income taxes
and other items $(14,774)  $4195 § 2,868
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Segment profit or loss is before income tax expense or ben-
efit. Included in the flooring products segment loss for 2000
is a charge of $9 million (before tax) recorded by Congoleum
in connection with a change in distributor.

2002 2001

Segment assets

Flooring products $226,339 $292,031

Tape products 56,561 55,983

Jewelry 43,123 39,177

Canadian division 30,467 31,822
Total segment assets 356,490 419,013
Reconciling items

Corporate office assets 19,402 15,542

Intersegment accounts receivable (13,860) (10,446)

Intersegment profit in inventory (162) (191)
Total consolidated assets $361,870 $423,918

2002 2001 2000

Expenditures for additions to
long-lived assets

Flooring products $9990 $10,887 $13,948

Tape products 2,004 8,303 3,621

Jewelry 579 858 457

Canadian division 1,164 5,185 2,769
Total expenditures for additions to

long-lived assets 13,737 25,233 20,795

Reconciling items
Corporate office expenditure for
additions to long-lived assets 14 7 22

Total expenditures for additions to

long-lived assets $13,751  $25240  $20,817

Geographic Area Information
2002 2001 2000

Revenues from external

customers

United States $373,312  $340,624 $346,583

Canada 37,198 37,821 35,661

Mexico 5,512 6,929 7,238

Europe 16,871 16,599 16,436

Asia 7474 6,719 7,119

Other 1,666 1,994 3,067
Total revenues from

external customers $442.033 $410,686 $416,104

Revenues are attributed to regions based on the location of
customers.

2002 2001

Long-lived assets by area
United States $159,940 $228,308
Canada 21,271 21,094
Mexico 9 9
Europe 1,070 890
Asia 2,216 2,338
Total long-lived assets $184,506 $252,639
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CENDANT CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES
(DEC)

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Amounts are in millions)

29. Segment Information

Management evaluates each segment’s performance based
upon earnings before non-program interest, income taxes,
non-program depreciation and amortization, minority inter-
est and, in 2001, equity in Homestore. Such measure is then
adjusted to exclude items that are of a non-recurring or un-
usual nature and are not measured in assessing segment per-
formance or are not segment specific (“Adjusted EBITDA”).
Management believes such discussions are the most infor-
mative representation of how management evaluates perfor-
mance. However, the Company’s presentation of Adjusted
EBITDA may not be comparable with similar measures used
by other companies.

A description of the services provided within each of the
Company’s five reportable segments is as follows:

Real Estate Services

The Real Estate Services segment franchises the Company’s
three residential and one commercial real estate brands, op-
erates real estate brokerages, provides home buyers with
mortgages, title and closing services and facilitates em-
ployee relocations. The Company licenses the owners and
operators of independent real estate brokerage businesses
to use its brand names. Operational and administrative
services are provided to franchisees, which are designed to
increase franchisee revenue and profitability. Such services
include advertising and promotions, referrals, training and
volume purchasing discounts. As an owner operator of real
estate brokerages, the Company acts as a real estate bro-
ker, recruiting agents to assist home buyers and sellers in
listing, marketing, selling and finding homes. Mortgage ser-
vices includes the origination, sale and servicing of residential
mortgage loans. The Company markets a variety of mortgage
products to consumers through relationships with corpora-
tions, affinity groups, financial institutions, real estate bro-
kerage firms and other mortgage banks. The Company cus-
tomarily sells all mortgages it originates to investors while
generally retaining mortgage servicing rights. Mortgage ser-
vicing consists of collecting loan payments, remitting prin-
cipal and interest payments to investors, holding escrow
funds for payment of mortgage-related expenses such as
taxes and insurance, and otherwise administering the Com-
pany’s mortgage loan servicing portfolio. Title and closing
services include title search procedures for title insurance
policies, homesale escrow and closing services including or-
dering appraisal, flood and credit reports. Title search activ-
ities do not include underwriting the title insurance policies.
Relocation services are provided to client corporations for
the transfer of their employees. Such services include ap-
praisal, inspection and selling of transferees’ homes, provid-
ing home equity advances to transferees (generally guaran-
teed by the corporate customer), purchasing of a transferee’s
home, certain home management services, assistance in lo-
cating a new home for the transferee at the transferee’s des-
tination, consulting services and other related services. The
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transferee’s home is purchased under a contract of sale and
the Company obtains a deed to the property; however, it does
not generally record the deed or transfer title. Transferring
employees are provided equity advances on the home based
on their ownership equity of the appraised home value. The
mortgage is generally retired concurrently with the advance
of the equity and the purchase of the home. Based on its
client agreements, the Company is given parameters under
which it negotiates for the ultimate sale of the home. The gain
or loss on resale is generally borne by the client corporation.
In certain transactions, the Company will assume the risk of
loss on the sale of homes; however, in such transactions, the
Company will control all facets of the resale process, thereby
limiting its exposure.

Hospitality

The Hospitality segment markets and sells vacation own-
ership interests, provides consumer financing to individuals
purchasing these interests, franchises the Company’s nine
lodging brands, facilitates the sale and exchange of vacation
ownership intervals and markets vacation rental properties
in Europe. As a provider of vacation and timeshare exchange
services, the Company enters into affiliation agreements with
resort property owners/developers to allow owners of weekly
timeshare intervals to trade their owned weeks with other
subscribers. As a franchiser of guest lodging facilities, the
Company licenses the independent owners and operators
of hotels to use its brand names. Operation and adminis-
trative services are provided to franchisees, which include
access to a national reservation system, national advertis-
ing and promotional campaigns, co-marketing programs and
volume purchasing discounts.

Travel Distribution

The Travel Distribution segment provides global distribution
and computer reservation services, offers travel agency ser-
vices and provides travel marketing information to airline
clients. The Company provides scheduling and ticketing ser-
vices and fare and other information to global travel agencies,
Internet travel sites, corporations and individuals to assist
them with the placement of airline, car rental and hotel reser-
vations. Such services are provided through the use of acom-
puterized reservation system. The Company also provides
airline, car rental, hotel and other travel reservation and ful-
fillment services to members of its timeshare exchange pro-
grams and members of certain of Trilegiant’s programs. Fur-
ther, the Company provides hotels, car rental businesses and
tour/leisure travel operators, including Internet travel compa-
nies, with access to reservation systems and processing.
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Vehicle Services

The Vehicle Services segment operates and franchises the
Avis and Budget car rental brands and provides fleet man-
agement and fuel card services. The Company owns and op-
erates the Avis and Budget car rental franchise systems and
franchises vehicle rentals to business and leisure travelers.
The Company also provides fleet and fuel card related prod-
ucts and services to corporate clients and government agen-
cies. These services include management and leasing of ve-
hicles, fuel card payment and reporting and other fee-based
services for clients’ vehicle fleets. The Company leases ve-
hicles primarily to corporate fleet users under open-end op-
erating and direct financing lease arrangements where the
customer bears substantially all of the vehicle’s residual value
risk. In limited circumstances, the Company leases vehicles
under closed-end leases where the Company bears all of the
vehicle’s residual value risk.

Financial Services

The Financial Services segment provides financial institu-
tion enhancement products and insurance-based and loyalty
solutions, operates and franchises tax preparation services
and provides a variety of membership programs through
an outsourcing arrangement with Trilegiant (as discussed in
Note 28—Related Party Transactions). The Company affili-
ates with business partners, such as leading financial insti-
tutions and retailers, to offer membership as an enhance-
ment to their credit card customers. The Company also
markets and administers insurance products, primarily ac-
cidental death and dismemberment insurance and term life
insurance, and provides services such as checking account
enhancement packages, various financial products and dis-
count programs, to financial institutions, which, in turn, pro-
vide these services to their customers. The Company fran-
chises tax preparation services through its Jackson Hewitt
brand name. The Company, through its relationship with
Trilegiant Corporation, also provides consumers with a va-
riety of membership programs offering discounted products
and services in such areas as retail shopping, auto, dining,
home improvement and credit information.
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Year Ended December 31, 2002
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Real Estate Travel
Services Hospitality Distribution Vehicle Services
Net revenues® $4,687 $2,180 $1,695 $4,175
Adjusted EBITDA 853 625 524 408
Non-program depreciation and amortization 113 96 92 64
Segment assets exclusive of assets under programs 4,786 4,680 4,088 5,160
Assets under management and mortgage programs 3,928 685 — 10,395
Capital expenditures 74 67 97 100

Corporate and
Financial Services Other® Total
Net revenues®® $1,325 $ 26 $14,088
Adjusted EBITDA 449 (98) 2,761
Non-program depreciation and amortization 65 36 466
Segment assets exclusive of assets under programs 1,615 560 20,889
Assets under management and mortgage programs — — 15,008
Capital expenditures 27 34 399

Year Ended December 31, 2001
Real Estate

Services Hospitality Travel Distribution ~ Vehicle Services®
Net revenues® $1,859 $1,522 $ 437 $ 3,322
Adjusted EBITDA 939 513 108 290
Non-program depreciation and amortization 116 119 26 102
Segment assets exclusive of assets under programs® 3,826 2,957 3,854 4,260
Assets under management and mortgage programs 3,573 222 — —8,073
Capital expenditures 41 70 22 74

Corporate and
Financial Services Other® Total
Net revenues®@ $1,402 $ 7 $ 8613
Adjusted EBITDA 310 (73) 2,087
Non-program depreciation and amortization 73 41 477
Segment assets exclusive of assets under programs(® 1,611 3,858 20,366
Assets under management and mortgage programs — — 11,868
Capital expenditures 64 58 329

Year Ended December 31, 2000
Real Estate

Services Hospitality Travel Distribution ~ Vehicle Services®
Net revenues®@ $1,461 $ 918 $ 99 $ 230
Adjusted EBITDA 752 385 10 169
Non-program depreciation and amortization 103 80 2 21
Segment assets exclusive of assets under programs'® 3,262 1,906 22 1,292
Assets under management and mortgage programs 2,861 — — —
Capital expenditures 39 38 1 1

Corporate and
Financial Services Other® Total
Net revenues® $1,380 $ 232 $ 4,320
Adjusted EBITDA 373 (104} 1,585
Non-program depreciation and amortization 59 56 321
Segment assets exclusive of assets under programs(@ 1,525 2,884 10,891
Assets under management and mortgage programs — - 2,861
Capital expenditures 74 39 192

@ |nter-segment net revenues were not significant to the net revenues of any one segment
® Includes the results of operations of the Company’s non-strategic businesses, unallocated corporate overhead and the elimination of

transactions between segments.

© Net revenues and Adjusted EBITDA include the equity in earnings from the Company’s investment in Avis of $5 million and
$17 million in 2001 and 2000, respectively. Segment assets at December 31, 2000 also include such equity method investment, which

approximated $132 million.
@ Excludes assets of discontinued operations.
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Provided below is a reconciliation of Adjusted EBITDA to in-
come (loss) before income taxes, minority interest and equity
in Homestore.

2002 2001 2000

Adjusted EBITDA $2,761  $2,087  $1,585
Non-program related depreciation and
amortization (466) 477) (321)
Other (charges) credits:
Acquisition and integration related
costs (285) (112) —
Litigation and related costs (103) (86) 2
Restructuring and other unusual
charges 14 (379) (109)
Mortgage servicing rights
impairment - (94) —
Non-program related interest, net (262) (252) (152)
Gains on dispositions of businesses — 443 37
Losses on dispositions of businesses — (26) (45)
Impairment of investments — (441) —

Income before income taxes, minority
interest and equity in Homestore $1659 § 663 § 993

The geographic segment information provided below is clas-
sified based on the geographic location of the Company’s
subsidiaries.

United United  All Other
States  Kingdom  Countries Total
2002
Net revenues $12,329 $389 $1,370  $14,088
Total assets 33,233 860 1,804 35,897
Net property and
equipment 1,611 50 119 1,780
2001
Net revenues $ 7,842 $240 $ 531 § 8613
Total assets® 30,198 831 1,205 32,234
Net property and
equipment 1,268 38 88 1,394
2000
Net revenues $ 3,955 $161 $ 204 $ 4320
Total assets®@ 13,026 604 122 13,752
Net property and
equipment 672 27 36 735

@ Excludes assets of discontinued operations.
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1.31
DELPHI CORPORATION (DEC)

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

13. Segment Reporting

For the years ended December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000,
Delphi's operating segments (“product sectors”) were Elec-
tronics & Mobile Communication; Safety, Thermal & Electrical
Architecture; and Dynamics & Propulsion. The Electronics &
Mobile Communication product sector supplied automotive
electronic products, as well as audio and communication
systems. The Safety, Thermal & Electrical Architecture prod-
uct sector supplied our safety and interior systems, thermal
systems, electrical power and signal distribution products.
The Dynamics & Propulsion product sector supplied our en-
gine and emission management systems, energy systems,
and vehicle dynamic systems, including, braking, steering,
and ride control.

The accounting policies of the product sectors are the
same as those described in the summary of significant ac-
counting policies except that the disaggregated financial re-
sults for the product sectors have been prepared using a
management approach, which is consistent with the basis
and manner in which management internally disaggregates
financial information for the purposes of assisting in mak-
ing internal operating decisions. Generally, Delphi evaluates
performance based on stand-alone product sector operating
income and accounts for intersegment sales and transfers as
if the sales or transfers were to third parties, at current market
prices. Net sales are attributed to geographic areas based on
the location of the assets producing the revenues. Financial
information by product sector is as follows:
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Electronics & Mobile Communication

Other Electroics Safety, Thermal
Mobile & Mobile & Electrical Dynamics &

(In millions) MultiMedia® Communication Total Architecture Propulsion Other® Total
2002
Net sales to GM and

affiliates $207 $2,877 $3,084 $5,671 $7913 $ 1,194 $17,862
Net sales to other

customers 103 1,218 1,321 3,673 3,853 718 9,565
Inter-sector net sales — 636 636 361 1,242 (2,239) —

Total net sales $310 $4,731 $5,041 $9,705 $13,008 $ (327) $27,427
Depreciation and

amortization $ — $ 193 $ 193 $ 322 $ 444 $ 29 988
Sector operating

income (loss) $(19) $ 4200 § 4100 $ 5440 $ 780@ $ (78)@ $ 9520
Sector assets N/A N/A $2,934 $6,876 $ 9,048 $ 458 $19,316
Capital expenditures N/A N/A $ 237 $ 304 $ 479 $ 15 $ 1,035
2001
Net sales to GM and

affiliates $321 $2,783 $3,104 $5,401 $ 7,778 $ 1,341 $17,624
Net sales to other

customers 52 1,002 1,054 3,235 3,611 564 8,464
Inter-sector net sales — 642 642 394 1,239 (2,275) —

Total net sales $373 $4,427 $4,800 $9,030 $12,628 $ (370) $26,088
Depreciation and

amortization $ 8 $ 187960 ¢ 19500 $ 30549 $ 44690 $ 419 $ 9879@
Sector operating

income (loss) $(33) $ 319€0@ ¢ 28pE0@ $ 36200 $ (8)(e)(9) $ (37)(e)(g) $ 553€0
Sector assets N/A N/A $2,673 $7,381 $ 8,587 $ (39) $18,602
Capital expenditures N/A N/A $ 238 $ 304 $ 497 $ 18 $ 1,057
2000
Net sales to GM and

affiliates $304 $3,364 $3,668 $6,341 $ 9,169 $ 1487 $20,665
Net sales to other

customers 18 1,018 1,036 3,145 3,747 546 8,474
Inter-sector net sales — 622 622 450 1,286 (2,358) —

Total net sales $322 $5,004 $5,326 $9,936 $14,202 $ (325) $29,139
Depreciation and

amortization $ 7 $ 1489 ¢ 15509 $ 30909 $ 3919 $ 500 $ 9050
Sector operating

income (loss) $(23) $ 4970 ¢ 4740 $ 6799 $ 67800 $ (56)9 $ 1,775
Sector assets N/A N/A $2,889 $6,468 $ 9,439 $ (275) $18,521
Capital expenditures N/A N/A $ 315 $ 381 $ 566 $ 10 $ 1,272

@ Certain information for the Mobile MultiMedia business line within the Electronics & Mobile Communication sector is separately disclosed
due to the strategic importance of this high-tech business line and its usefulness in understanding sector net sales and operating results.
Mobile MultiMedia develops products designed to bring the internet, telematics, entertainment and mobile communication technologies into
vehicles and home use.

) Other includes Delphi Products & Service Solutions and other activities not allocated to the product sectors and the elimination of inter-sector
transactions.

©) Excludes the first quarter 2002 net restructuring and generator product line charges of $262 million with $20 million for Electronics & Mobile
Communication, $101 million for Safety, Thermal & Electrical Architecture, $126 million for Dynamics & Propulsion and $15 million for Other.

@ Excludes asset impairment charges recorded in the first and fourth quarters of $63 million and $65 million, respectively, with $10 million for
Electronics & Mobile Communications, $47 million for Safety, Thermal & Electrical Architecture and $71 million for Dynamics & Propulsion.

© Excludes the first quarter 2001 restructuring and asset impairment charges of $599 million and the fourth quarter 2001 product line impairment
and other charges of $203 million with $87 million for Electronics & Mobile Communications, $214 million for Safety, Thermal & Electrical
Architecture, $474 million for Dynamics & Propulsion and $27 million for Other.

® Excludes the first quarter 2000 one-time, non-cash charge for Dynamics & Propulsion of $51 million resulting from acquisition-related
in-process research and development.

9 Excludes goodwill amortization for 2001 of $35 million with $4 million for Electronics & Mobile Communication, $10 million for Safety, Thermal &
Electrical Architecture, $19 million for Dynamics & Propulsion and $2 million for Other, and goodwill amortization for 2000 of $31 million with
$4 million for Electronics & Mobile Communication, $8 million for Safety, Thermal & Electrical Architecture, $18 million for Dynamics &
Propulsion and $1 million for Other.
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A reconciliation between sector operating income and in-
come (loss) before income taxes for each of the years pre-
sented is as follows:

(In miilions) 2002 2001 2000
Sector operating income $ 952@ $ 5530k $1,7750@
Interest expense (191) (222) (183)
Other income, net 32 48 157

Income before income taxes,
non-recurring items and

goodwill amortization $ 793@ $ 3790)X)d)  §1 749()e)
Non-recurring items (262) (872) (51)
Goodwill amortization — (35) (31)
Income (loss) before income

taxes $ 531 $ (528) $1,667

@ Excludes the 2002 net restructuring and generator product line

charges of $262 million.

Excludes the first quarter 2001 restructuring and asset impair-

ment charges of $599 million and the fourth quarter product line

impairment and other charges of $203 million.

Excludes goodwill amortization of $35 million and $31 million for

the years ended December 31, 2001 and 2000, respectively.

@ Exciudes impairment charges of $70 million in 2001.

® Excludes the first quarter 2000 one-time, non-cash charge of
$51 million resulting from acquisition-related in-process research
and development.

®

(c

oL

Information concerning principal geographic areas is set
forth below. Net sales data is for the years ended December
31 and net property data is as of December 31.

2002 2001 2000

(In millions) Net Sales Net Property  Net Sales Net Property  Net Sales Net Property
North America:

U.S. and Canada $16,986 $3,584  $16,393 $3,553  $19,615 $3,642

Mexico 4,268 304 3,884 309 3,985 289
Total North America 21,254 3,888 20,277 3,862 23,600 3,931
Europe, Middle East & Africa 5,048 1,672 4,801 1,420 4,553 1,319
Asia—Pacific 777 288 598 302 507 306
South America 348 96 412 140 479 162
Total $27,427 $5,944  $26,088 $5,724  $29,139 - $5,718
Realignment ¢ Electrical, Electronics, Safety & Interior Sector, which

In October 2002, we announced a realignment of our busi-
ness sectors, which was effective on January 1, 2003. The
realignment and the resultant assignment of new responsi-
bilities to certain of Delphi’s senior leadership was done to
strengthen the Company’s focus on customer relationships
and growth, accelerate lean transformation across key busi-
ness processes and place more emphasis on initiatives to
resolve underperforming assets in our portfolios. Beginning
January 1, 2003, the Company has three reporting segments
that are grouped on the basis of similar product, market and
operating factors:

e Dynamics, Propulsion & Thermal Sector, which includes
selected businesses from our energy and engine man-
agement systems, chassis, steering and thermal sys-
tems product lines.
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includes selected businesses from our automotive elec-
tronics, audio, consumer and aftermarket products,
communication systems, safety and power and signal
distribution systems product lines.

¢ Automotive Holdings Group is comprised of product

lines and plant sites that do not meet our targets for
net income or other financial metrics. This will further
enable consistent and targeted management focus on
finding solutions to these businesses.

The realignment is designed to increase focus on prod-
ucts and services for the greatest long-term benefit for Delphi
while at the same time placing an equal focus on businesses
requiring additional management attention. It is a further step
in the implementation of our long-term portfolio plans. Start-
ing in the first quarter of 2003, we will report our segment
information based on the realigned sectors.
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1.32
HONEYWELL INTERNATIONAL INC. (DEC)

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Dollars in millions)

Note 23. Segment Financial Data

Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 131, “Dis-
closures about Segments of an Enterprise and Related infor-
mation” (SFAS No. 131), establishes standards for reporting
information about operating segments. The following infor-
mation is provided in accordance with the requirements of
SFAS No. 131 and is consistent with how business results
are reported internally to management.

We globally manage our business operations through
strategic business units (SBUs) serving customers world-
wide with aerospace products and services, control, sensing
and security technologies for buildings, homes and indus-
try, automotive products and chemicals. Based on similar
economic and operational characteristics, our SBUs are ag-
gregated into the following four reportable segments:

e Aerospace includes Engines, Systems and Services
(auxiliary power units; propulsion engines; environmen-
tal control systems; engine controls; repair and over-
haul services; hardware; logistics and power gener-
ation systems); Aerospace Electronic Systems (flight
safety communications, navigation, radar and surveil-
lance systems; aircraft and airfield lighting; manage-
ment and technical services and advanced systems
and instruments); and Aircraft Landing Systems (aircraft
wheels and brakes).

¢ Automation and Control Solutions includes Automa-
tion and Control Products (controls for heating, cool-
ing, indoor air quality, ventilation, humidification and
home automation; advanced software applications
for home/building control and optimization; sensors,
switches, control systems and instruments for mea-
suring pressure, air flow, temperature, electrical cur-
rent and, security and fire detection, access control
and video surveillance systems); Service (installs, main-
tains and upgrades systems that keep buildings safe,
comfortable and productive); and Industry Solutions
(provides full range of automation and control solutions
for industrial plants, offering advanced software and au-
tomation systems that integrate, control and monitor
complex processes in many types of industrial settings).

e Specialty Materials includes fibers; specialty films; in-
termediate chemicals; fluorine-based products; phar-
maceutical and agricultural chemicals; specialty waxes,
adhesives and sealants; process technology; wafer fab-
rication materials and services; and amorphous metals.

¢ Transportation and Power Systems includes Garrett En-
gine Boosting Systems (turbochargers and charge-air
coolers); the Consumer Products Group (car care prod-
ucts including anti-freeze, filters, spark plugs, cleaners,
waxes and additives); and Friction Materials (friction
material and related brake system components).

The accounting policies of the segments are the same as
those described in Note 1. We evaluate segment perfor-
mance based on segment profit, which excludes general
corporate unallocated expenses, gains (losses) on sales of
non-strategic businesses, equity income, other (income) ex-
pense, interest and other financial charges and repositioning,
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litigation, business impairment and other charges. Interseg-
ment sales approximate market and are not significant. Re-
portable segment data were as follows:

2002 2001 2000
Net sales
Aerospace $ 885 $9653 $9988
Automation and Control
Solutions 6,978 7,185 7,384
Specialty Materials 3,205 3,313 4,055
Transportation and Power
Systems 3,184 3,457 3,627
Corporate 52 44 69
$22,274  $23,652 $25,023
Depreciation
Aerospace $ 224 § 232 $§ 268
Automation and Control
Solutions 167 178 178
Specialty Materials ~ 180 199 204
Transportation and Power
Systems 66 78 89
Corporate 34 37 52

$ 671 $ 724 § TN

Goodwill and indefinite-lived
intangible asset amortization

Aerospace $ — §$ 60 $ 60
Automation and Control
Solutions — 92 86
Specialty Materials — 32 40
Transportation and Power
Systems — 20 20
$ — § 204 $ 206
Segment profit
Aerospace $ 1358 $1,741 $ 2195
Automation and Control
Solutions 890 819 986
Specialty Materials 57 52 334
Transportation and Power
Systems 357 289 274
Corporate (154) (153) (160)

$ 2508 §$2748 §$ 3629

Capital expenditures

Aerospace $ 182 $ 212 $ 225
Automation and Control
Solutions 106 154 193
Specialty Materials 233 325 261
Transportation and Power
Systems 108 172 145
Corporate 42 13 29
$ 67 $ 876 $ 853
Total assets
Aerospace $ 7094 §$8003 § 8454
Automation and Control
Solutions 7,044 6,827 7,510
Specialty Materials 3,512 4,053 4,243
Transportation and Power
Systems 2,201 2,195 2,792
Corporate 7,708 3,148 2,176

$27,559  $24,226  $25,175
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A reconciliation of segment profit to consolidated income
(loss) before taxes is as follows:

2002 2001 2000

Segment profit $2,508 $2,748 $3,629
Gain (loss) on sale of

non-strategic businesses (124) — 112
Asbestos related litigation

charges, net of insurance (1,548) (159) (7)
Business impairment charges (877) (145) (410)
Repositioning and other

charges(") (634) (2,490) (549)
Equity in income of affiliated

companies 55 7 47
Other income 19 22 57
Interest and other financial

charges (344) (405) (481)
Income (loss) before taxes $ (945) § (422) $2,398

M In 2001 includes cumulative effect adjustment of $1 million of
income related to adoption of SFAS No. 133.

Note 24. Geographic Areas—Financial Data

Net Sales("
2002 2001 2000
United States $15,522 $17.421 $18,007
Europe 4,192 4,264 4,313
Other international 2,560 1,967 2,703
$22,274 $23,652 $25,023

Long-Lived Assets®

2002 2001 2000

United States $ 8,665 $ 9,402 $ 9,540
Europe 1,756 1,491 1,617
Other international 406 396 517
$10,827 $11,289 $11,674

() sales between geographic areas approximate market and are
not significant. Net sales are classified according to their coun-
try of origin. Included in United States net sales are export sales
of $2,249, $3,074 and $3,194 million in 2002, 2001 and 2000,
respectively.

@ Long-lived assets are comprised of property, plant and equip-
ment, goodwill and other intangible assets.

1.33
RYDER SYSTEM, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES (DEC)

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Segment Reporting

The Company’s operating segments are aggregated into
reportable business segments based primarily upon simi-
lar economic characteristics, products, services and deliv-
ery methods. The Company operates in three reportable
business segments: (1) FMS, which provides full service
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leasing, commercial rental and programmed maintenance of
trucks, tractors and trailers to customers, principally in the
U.S., Canada and the U.K.; (2) SCS, which provides compre-
hensive supply chain consulting and lead logistics manage-
ment solutions that support customers’ entire supply chains,
from inbound raw materials through distribution of finished
goods throughout North America, in Latin America, Europe
and Asia; and (3) DCC, which provides vehicles and drivers
as part of a dedicated transportation solution, principally in
North America.

Beginning in the first quarter of 2002, the primary measure-
ment of segment financial performance, defined as “Net Be-
fore Taxes” (NBT), includes an allocation of Central Support
Services (CSS) and excludes goodwill impairment, goodwill
amortization and restructuring and other charges, net. CSS
represents those costs incurred to support all business seg-
ments, including sales and marketing, human resources, fi-
nance, corporate services, shared management information
systems, customer solutions, health and safety, legal and
communications. The objective of the NBT measurement is
to provide clarity on the profitability of each business seg-
ment and, ultimately, to hold leadership of each business
segment and each operating segment within each business
segment accountable for their allocated share of CSS costs.
To facilitate the comparison of 2002 business segment NBT
to prior periods, prior-year goodwill amortization (see “Sum-
mary of Significant Accounting Policies—Goodwill and Other
Intangible Assets”) is now treated as a corporate, rather than
segment, cost and is segregated as such. Prior year segment
results have been restated to conform to the new measure-
ment of segment financial performance.

Certain costs are considered to be overhead not at-
tributable to any segment and as such, remain unallocated
in CSS. Included among the unallocated overhead remain-
ing within CSS are the costs for investor relations, corpo-
rate communications, public affairs and certain executive
compensation.

CSS costs attributable to the business segments are gen-
erally allocated to FMS, SCS and DCC as follows:

e Sales and marketing, finance, corporate services and
health and safety—allocated based upon estimated and
planned resource utilization.

¢ Human resources—individual costs within this category
are allocated in several ways, including allocation based
on estimated utilization and number of personnel sup-
ported.

¢ Information technology—allocated principally based
upon utilization-related metrics such as number of
users or minutes of CPU time.

e Customer solutions—represents project costs and ex-
penses incurred in excess of amounts billable to cus-
tomers during the period. Expenses are allocated to the
business segment responsible for the project.

¢ Other—represents purchasing, legal, and other central-
ized costs and expenses including certain incentive
compensation costs. Expenses, where allocated, are
based primarily on the number of personnel supported.

The FMS segment leases revenue earning equipment and
provides fuel, maintenance and other ancillary services to
the SCS and DCC segments. Inter-segment revenues and
NBT are accounted for at approximate fair value as if the
transactions were made with independent third parties. NBT
related to inter-segment equipment and services billed to
customers (equipment contribution) is included in both FMS
and the business segment which served the customer,
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then eliminated (presented as “Eliminations”). Equipment
contribution included in SCS NBT was $16 million in 2002,
$17 million in 2001 and $20 million in 2000. Equipment con-
tribution included in DCC NBT was $19 million in 2002,
$20 million in 2001 and $22 million in 2000. Interest expense
is primarily allocated to the FMS business segment since
such borrowings are used principally to fund the purchase of
revenue earning equipment used in FMS; however, with the
availability of segment balance sheet information in 2002 (in-
cluding targeted segment leverage ratios), interest expense
(income) is also reflected in SCS and DCC.
Business segment revenue and NBT is presented below:

(In thousands) 2002 2001 2000
Revenue:
Fleet Management Solutions:
Full service lease and program maintenance $1,795,254 1,855,865 1,865,345
Commercial rental 458,355 468,438 523,776
Fuel 582,643 658,325 773,320
Other 346,770 369,912 393,549
3,183,022 3,352,540 3,555,990
Supply Chain Solutions 1,388,299 1,453,881 1,595,252
Dedicated Contract Carriage 517,961 534,962 551,706
Eliminations (313,017) (335,260) (366,156)
Total $4,776,265 5,006,123 5,336,792
NBT:
Fleet Management Solutions $ 214,384 194,398 225,088
Supply Chain Solutions (6,221) (6,760) 10,035
Dedicated Contract Carriage 31,157 34,755 37,282
Eliminations (34,636) (36,989) (41,888)
204,684 185,404 230,517
Unallocated Central Support Services (24,585) (25,396) (35,522)
Goodwill amortization — (12,738) (11,660)
Earnings before restructuring and other charges, taxes and
cumulative effect of change in accounting principle 180,099 147,270 183,335
Restructuring and other charges, net (4,216) (116,564) (42,014)
Earnings before income taxes and cumulative effect of
change in accounting principle $ 175,883 30,706 141,321

Each business segment follows the same accounting policies
as described in the Summary of Significant Accounting Poli-
cies. These results are not necessarily indicative of the results
of operations that would have occurred had each segment
been an independent, stand-alone entity during the periods
presented.

(In thousands) 2002 2001 2000
Depreciation expense*:
Fleet Management Solutions $517,302 509,652 543,261
Supply Chain Solutions 32,623 32,373 31,571
Dedicated Contract Carriage 2,067 2,744 3,272
Central Support Services 499 716 2,252
Total $552,491 545485 580,356

* Depreciation expense associated with CSS assets are allocated to
business segments based upon estimated and planned asset uti-
lization. Depreciation expense totaling $19 million, $18 million and
$16 million during 2002, 2001 and 2000, respectively, associated
with CSS assets was allocated to other business segments.

AICPA Accounting Trends & Techniques

Gains on sales of revenue earning equipment, net of selling
and equipment preparation cost reflected in FMS, totaled
$14 million, $12 million and $19 million in 2002, 2001 and
2000, respectively.

(In thousands) 2002 2001 2000
Amortization expense and other
non-cash charges, net:
Fleet Management Solutions $4,884 35,653 15,973
Supply Chain Solutions 482 47,543 14,624
Dedicated Contract Carriage 1)) 431 —
Central Support Services 3,354 7,286 2,330
Total $8,713 90,913 32,927
ATT-SEC 1.33
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Interest expense is primarily allocated to the FMS segment;
however, with the availability of segment balance sheet infor-
mation for 2002 (including targeted segment leverage ratios),
interest expense (income) is also reflected in SCS and DCC.
Interest expense (income) for the business segments is pre-
sented below:

(In thousands) 2002 2001 2000
Interest expense:
Fleet Management Solutions $88,185 111,032 152,596
Supply Chain Solutions 6,416 5,321 5,196
Dedicated Contract Carriage (3,087) 19 3
Central Support Services 204 2177 (3,786)
Total $91,718 118,549 154,009

The following table sets forth total assets as provided to the
chief operating decision-maker for each of the Company’s
reportable business segments:

(In thousands) 2002 2001

Assets:
Fleet Management Solutions $4,241,095 4,413,352
Supply Chain Solutions 366,954 414,441
Dedicated Contract Carriage 113,479 113,290
Central Support Services 185,773 222,133
Receivables sold — (110,000)
Inter-segment eliminations (140,319) (126,055)

Total $4,766,982 4,927,161

Asset information, including capital expenditures, was not
maintained in 2000 on the new segment basis nor provided to
the chief operating decision-maker. The following table sets
forth total capital expenditures for each of the Company’s
reportable business segments:

(In thousands) 2002 2001
Capital expenditures:

Fleet Management Solutions* $576,067 597,698
Supply Chain Solutions 17,625 35,684
Dedicated Contract Carriage 344 1,218
Central Support Services 6,265 21,997
Total $600,301 656,597

* 2002 excludes non-cash additions of $67 million in assets held un-
der capital leases resulting from the extension of existing operating
leases and other additions.

Geographic Information

(In thousands) 2002 2001 2000
Revenue:
United States $3,993,368 4,218,163 4,445.842
Foreign 782,897 787,960 890,950
Total $4,776,265 5,006,123 5,336,792
Long-lived assets:
United States $2,439,436 2,489,338 3,026,644
Foreign 589,055 556,659 598,788
Total $3,028,491 3,045,997 3,625,432

ATT-SEC 1.34

The Company believes that its diversified portfolio of cus-
tomers across a full array of transportation and logistics so-
lutions across many industries will help to mitigate the impact
of adverse downturns in specific sectors of the economy in
the near to medium-term. The Company’s portfolio of full
service lease and commercial rental customers is not con-
centrated in any one particular industry or geographic region,
however, the largest concentration is in non-cyclical indus-
tries such as food, groceries and beverages. While the Com-
pany derives a significant portion of its SCS revenue (over
40 percent in 2002) from the automotive industry, the busi-
ness is derived from numerous manufacturers and suppliers
of original equipment parts. None of the customers constitute
more than 10 percent of the Company’s total revenue.

1.34
TEXAS INSTRUMENTS INCORPORATED (DEC)

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Business Segment and Geographic Area Data

Texas Instruments develops, manufactures and sells a vari-
ety of products used in the commercial electronic and electri-
cal equipment industry, primarily for industrial and consumer
markets.

Tl has three principal businesses: Semiconductor, Sen-
sors & Controls and Educational & Productivity Solutions.
Each of these is a business segment, with its respective fi-
nancial performance detailed in this report.

Semiconductor consists of digital signal processors, ana-
log integrated circuits, standard logic devices, application-
specific integrated circuits, reduced instruction-set comput-
ing microprocessors, microcontrollers and digital imaging
devices. They are sold to original-equipment manufactur-
ers (OEMs), original-design manufacturers (ODMs), contract
manufacturers and distributors. An OEM designs and sells
under its own brand products that it has manufactured or
contracted others to manufacture for it. An ODM designs and
manufactures products for others to sell under their brands.

Sensors & Controls consists primarily of sensors, electri-
cal and electronic controls, and radio frequency identification
systems for automotive and industrial markets. They are sold
to OEMSs and distributors.

Educational & Productivity Solutions includes graphing
and other educational calculators, which are marketed
primarily through retailers and to schools through instruc-
tional dealers.

Operating profits of the three principal businesses exclude
the effects of special charges and gains and acquisition-
related amortization, but include the effects of profit shar-
ing. The results for Semiconductor include the effects of
all royalty revenue from semiconductor-related cross-license
agreements. Business assets are the owned or allocated as-
sets used by each business.

Included in corporate activities are general corporate ex-
penses, elimination of intersegment transactions (which are
generally intended to approximate market prices), and roy-
alty revenue from computer-related cross-license agree-
ments. Assets of corporate activities include unallocated
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cash, short-term investments, noncurrent investments and
deferred income taxes.

Divested activities include the historical operating results
and assets of the materials portion of Sensors & Controls
(sold in 2000), the memory business unit of Semiconductor
(sold in 1998) and other smaller divestitures.

Business Segment Net Revenue

(Millions of dollars) 2002 2001 2000
Semiconductor
Trade $6,934 $6,767  $10,267
Intersegment 10 17 17

6,944 6,784 10,284

Sensors & Controls

Trade 954 955 1,029
Intersegment 4 3 1
958 958 1,030

Educational & Productivity Solutions

Trade 494 465 446
Corporate activities (13) (18) 3
Divested activities — 12 112
Total $8,383 $8,201  $11,875
Business Segment Profit (Loss)
(Millions of dollars) 2002 2001 2000
Semiconductor $ 254 $(155) $2,607
Sensors & Controls 214 192 191
Educational & Productivity Solutions 154 132 11
Corporate activities (182) (170) (234)

Special charges/gains and

acquisition-related amortization,

net of applicable profit sharing (7172) (575) 1,429
Interest on loans/other income

(expense) net, excluding 2002 net

charges of $620, 2001 net gains

Details of special charges and gains are as follows:

(Millions of dollars) 2002 2001 2000
Semiconductor manufacturing

operations alignment $(17) - § -
Voluntary/involuntary program in U.S. — (153) —
Semiconductor site closings in U.S. (20) (88) —
International restructuring actions — (116) —

Semiconductor and Sensors & Controls
restructuring and other actions, of
which $11 was included in other

income (expense) net — — 41)
Gain on sale of Micron common stock — — 1,636
Gain on sale of the memory business

unit — — 88
Gain on sale of the materials operation — — 56
Write-down of investment in Micron

common stock (638) — —
Reversal of warranty reserve 20 — —
Acquisition-related amortization (115) (229) (160)
Purchased in-process R&D charges M — (112)
Pooling of interests transaction costs — — (50)
Other 1) 11 12
Total $(772) $(575) $1,429

Business Segment Assets

(Millions of dollars) 2002 2001 2000
Semiconductor $ 6,251 $ 6,934 $ 8,228
Sensors & Controls 383 415 499
Educational & Productivity

Solutions 96 94 124
Corporate activities 7,949 8,336 8,869
Total $14,679 $15,779 $17,720

Business Segment Property, Plant and Equipment Additions
and Depreciation

of $11 and 2000 net gains of Millions of dollars 2002 2001 2000
$1,791 included above in special '(L\ dditions )
charges/gains and .
acquisition-related amortization (14) 144 447 Semiconductor $718 $1.699 $2'6é5
Divested activities — 6 27 Sensor§ & Controls 2 2 S
, Educational & Productivity
Income (loss) before income taxes Solutions 1 1 1
and cumulative effect of an Corporate activities 57 61 78
accounting change $(346) $(426) $4,578 Divested activities — - 3
Total $802 $1,790 $2,762
(Millions of dollars) 2002 2001 2000
Depreciation
Semiconductor $1,470 $1,461 $1,115
Sensors & Controls 39 43 45
Educational & Productivity
Solutions 1 1 1
Corporate activities 64 94 49
Divested activities — — 6
Total $1,574 $1,599 $1,216
AICPA Accounting Trends & Techniques ATT-SEC 1.34
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The following geographic area data include trade revenue,
based on product shipment destination and royalty payor lo-
cation, and property, plant and equipment based on physical
location:

Geographic Area Net Trade Revenue

(Millions of dollars) 2002 2001 2000
United States $1,941 $2,284 $ 3,209
Japan 1,429 1,430 2,119
Europe 1,649 1,637 2,491
Asia-Pacific 2,935 2,320 3,157
Other 429 530 899
Total $8,383 $8,201 $11,875

Geographic Area Property, Plant and Equipment (Net)

(Millions of dollars) 2002 2001 2000
United States $3,442 $3,940 $3,825
Japan 446 577 634
Europe 450 590 384
Asia-Pacific 406 436 524
Other 50 46 80
Total $4,794 $5,589 $5,447
Major Customer

During 2002, sales to the Nokia group of companies ac-
counted for 12% of the company’s consolidated revenue.
During 2001 and 2000, no customer accounted for more than
10% of the company’s revenue.

ATT-SEC 1.35

NATURAL BUSINESS YEAR

1.35 A natural business year is the period of 12 consecu-
tive months which ends when the business activities of an
entity have reached the lowest point in their annual cycle.
In many instances, the natural business year of a company
ends December 31.

1.36 Table 1-4 summarizes, by the month in which a fiscal
year ends, the fiscal year endings of the survey companies.
For tabulation purposes, if a fiscal year ended in the first week
of a month, the fiscal year was considered to have ended in
the preceding month.

1.37 For 2002, 161 survey companies were on a 52-
53 week fiscal year. During 2002, 4 survey companies
changed the date of their fiscal year end. Examples of fis-
cal year end changes and of fiscal year definitions follow.

1.38
TABLE 1-4: MONTH OF FISCAL YEAR END

January ... 3 32 30 26
February........coocomuereirneerneens 9 10 1 1
March.......ocmicrinescecis 16 16 15 16
7 8 8 9

21 18 16 17

49 48 48 53

8 8 " 9

14 15 15 15

42 38 40 38

16 19 19 21

13 15 15 16

Subtotal.... 226 227 228 231
December.........ccoorvurerereenenne 374 373 372 369
Total Companies..........coueenn. 600 600 600 600
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Change in Date of Fiscal Year End
1.39
CSP INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

Consolidated Balance Sheets

Consolidated Statements of Operations

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1 (In Part): Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Fiscal Year

The Company changed its fiscal year end from the last Friday
in August to the last day in August for Fiscal 2000 (August 31,
2000). In Fiscal 2000 each quarter ended on the last day of
the last month of the quarter. Fiscal Year 2000 was 53 weeks
in length compared to 52 weeks in Fiscal 1999. Effective on
September 1, 2001, the Company changed its fiscal year end
from August 31 to September 30. This change was effective
for the one-month period ended September 30, 2001.

Change in Fiscal Year

Effective on September 1, 2001 the Company changed
its fiscal year end from August 31st to September 30th.
This change was effective for the one-month period ended
September 30, 2001. The following table presents the au-
dited Consolidation Statement of Cash Flows and Statement
of Operation, for the one-month ended September 30, 2001:

AICPA Accounting Trends & Techniques

September 30, 2002

September 30, 2002

September 30, 2002

Year Ended
August 31, 2001

Year Ended
August 31, 2001

Consolidated Statements of Operations

(Amounts in thousands, except for per share data)

45

August 31, 2001

August 31, 2000

August 31, 2000

Sales

Systems $ 22
Service and system integration 1,428
E-Commerce software 2
Other software 45
Total sales $1,497
Cost of sales
Systems 178
Service and system integration 1,186
Other software 18
Total cost of sales 1,382
Gross profit 115
Operating expenses
Engineering and development 291
Selling, general and administrative 706
Total operating expenses 997
Operating loss (882)
Other expense (142)
Loss before income taxes (1,024)
Income tax benefit 366
Net loss $ (658)
Net loss per share—basic and diluted $ (0.19)
Weighted average shares outstanding—basic and diluted 3,513

ATT-SEC 1.39
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Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

(Amounts in thousands)
Cash flows from operating activities:

Net loss $ (658)
Adjustments to reconcile net income loss to net cash
provided by (used in) operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization 78
Impairment charge on investments 77
Deferred income taxes (391)
Other assets 13
Changes in current assets and liabilities:
Decrease in accounts receivable, net 1,438
Increase in inventories (23)
Decrease in other current assets 19
Decrease in accounts payable and accrued expenses (986)
Increase in income taxes payable 38
Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities (393)
Cash flows from investing activities:
Purchases of held-for-sale securities (20)
Purchases of held-to-maturity securities (2,615)
Sales of available-for-sale securities 36
Maturities of held-to-maturity securities 2,663
Purchases of property, equipment and improvements (29)
Net cash used in investing activities 35
Net cash provided by(used in) financing activities —
Effects of exchange rate on cash 33
Net decrease in cash (325)
Cash and cash equivalents, at August 31, 2001 1,835
Cash and cash equivalents, at September 30, 2001 $ 1,510

1.40

HILLENBRAND INDUSTRIES, INC. AND
SUBSIDIARIES

Statements of Consolidated (Loss) Income

Consolidated Balance Sheets

Statements of Consolidated Cash Flows

ATT-SEC 1.40

Ten Months Ended September 30, 2002
Fiscal Year Ended December 1, 2001 and
December 2, 2000 (53 weeks)
2002 2001 2000

September 30, 2002 December 1, 2001

Ten Months Ended September 30, 2002
Fiscal Year Ended December 1, 2001 and
December 2, 2000 (53 weeks)
2002 2001 2000
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1 (In Part): Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Change in Fiscal Year

Effective for fiscal year 2002, the Company changed its fiscal
year end to September 30 from the 52 or 53-week period end-
ing the Saturday nearest November 30 of each year. As are-
sult of this change, the Statements of Consolidated Income,
Statements of Consolidated Cash Flows and Statements of
Consolidated Shareholders’ Equity are presented for the ten-
month period ended September 30, 2002 and each of the two
previous fiscal years ended December 1, 2001 and Decem-
ber 2, 2000. For comparative purposes only, the following
table presents the condensed results of operations for the
ten-month periods ended September 30, 2002 and 2001:

(Unaudited)

Condensed Statement of Consolidated

Income 2002 2001
Total revenues $1,757 $1,717
Total cost of revenue 1,009 1,029
Gross profit 748 688
Other operating expenses and

unusual charges 530 500
Litigation charge 250 —
Operating (loss) profit (32) 188
Other income (expense), net (3) (10)
(Loss) income before income taxes (35) 178
Income tax (benefit) expense (25) 62
Net (loss) income $ (10) $ 116
Net (loss) income per common share—basic ~ $(0.16) $1.85
Net (loss) income per common share—diluted ~ $ (0.16) $1.84

1.41
MERISEL, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

Consolidated Balance Sheets

Consolidated Statements of Operations

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

AICPA Accounting Trends & Techniques

December 31,
2002 2001

For the Years Ended December 31,
2002 2001 2000

For the Years Ended December 31,
2002 2001 2000

ATT-SEC 1.41
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 (In Part): Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Fiscal Periods

Effective December 31, 2002, the Company’s fiscal year ends
on December 31 and its fiscal quarters end on March 31,
June 30, September 30 and December 31. Prior to Decem-
ber 31, 2002, the Company’s fiscal year was the 52-week
period ending on the Saturday nearest to December 31 and
its fiscal quarters were the 13-week periods ending on the
Saturday nearest to March 31, June 30, September 30 and
December 31. For clarity of presentation of prior years, the
Company has described fiscal years presented as if the years
ended on December 31 and fiscal quarters presented as if
the quarters ended on March 31, June 30, September 30 and
December 31.

1.42
SILICON GRAPHICS, INC.

Consolidated Statements of Operations

Consolidated Balance Sheets

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Note 2 (In Part): Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Basis of Presentation and Principles of Consolidation
Beginning in fiscal 2002, SGI changed to a 52-53 week fiscal
year ending on the last Friday in June. For fiscal 2002, the
fiscal year ended on June 28. For prior years, the fiscal year
ended on June 30. The consolidated financial statements
include the accounts of SGI and our wholly-and majority-
owned subsidiaries. All significant intercompany accounts
and transactions have been eliminated.

ATT-SEC 1.42

June 28, 2002

June 28, 2002

June 28, 2002

Years Ended
June 30, 2001 June 30, 2000
June 30, 2001

Years Ended
June 30, 2001 June 30, 2000
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Definition of Fiscal Year
1.43
AOL TIME WARNER INC.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (In Part)

Basis of Consolidation and Accounting for investments

(In Part)

The Company'’s fiscal year-end is December 31, however cer-
tain foreign locations are on a month lag. In addition, during
2002, the Company’s domestic Music operations changed
its fiscal year end from December 31 to November 30 in or-
der to be consistent with Music’s foreign operations which
had previously been operating under a November fiscal year
end. The impact of this change was not material to the Com-
pany’s overall financial results. To the extent a significant and
or unusual transaction or event occurs during the one month
lag period, it would be accounted for within the Company’s
year-end financial statements.

1.44
FOOT LOCKER, INC.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1 (In Part): Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Reporting Year

The reporting period for the Company is the Saturday closest
to the last day in January. Fiscal years 2002 and 2001 repre-
sented the 52 weeks ended February 1, 2003 and February 2,
2002, respectively. Fiscal 2000 ended February 3, 2001 and
included 53 weeks. References to years in this annual report
relate to fiscal years rather than calender years.

1.45
MOHAWK INDUSTRIES, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Note 1 (In Part): Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

i) Fiscal Year

The Company ends its fiscal year on December 31. Each of
the first three quarters in the fiscal year ends on the Saturday
nearest the calendar quarter end.

AICPA Accounting Trends & Techniques

1.46
THE NEW YORK TIMES COMPANY

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

1 (In Part): Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Fiscal Year

The Company’s fiscal year-end is the last Sunday in Decem-
ber. Fiscal years 2002 and 2001 each comprises 52 weeks
and fiscal year 2000 comprises 53 weeks.

COMPARATIVE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1.47 Rule 14a-3 requires that annual reports to stock-
holders should include comparative balance sheets, and
statements of income and of cash flows for each of the 3
most recent fiscal years. All of the survey companies are reg-
istered with the SEC and conformed to the aforementioned
requirements of Rule 14a-3.

1.48 In their annual reports, the survey companies usu-
ally present an income statement as the first financial state-
ment. For 2002, 323 survey companies presented an income
statement first followed by a balance sheet; 212 survey com-
panies presented a balance sheet first followed by an in-
come statement; 19 survey companies presented an income
statement first followed by a statement of cash flows; and 25
survey companies presented an income statement first com-
bined with a statement of comprehensive income or followed
by a separate statement of comprehensive income.

1.49 Prior to 1986, the financial statements, with rare ex-
ception, were presented on consecutive pages. Beginning in
1986 certain survey companies did not present their financial
statements on consecutive pages but interspersed the Man-
agement’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition
and Results of Operations among the financial statements
by having comments discussing the content of a financial
statement follow the presentation of a financial statement.
Such interspersed material was not covered by an auditor’s
report and was not presented in lieu of notes. For 2002, 6
survey companies did not present their financial statements
on consecutive pages.

ATT-SEC 1.49
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ROUNDING OF AMOUNTS

1.50 Table 1-5 shows that most of the survey companies
state financial statement amounts in either thousands or mil-
lions of dollars.

1.51
TABLE 1-5: ROUNDING OF AMOUNTS
2002 2001 2000 1999

To nearest dollar...................... 21 20 23 26
To nearest thousand dollars:
Omitting 000.........cc.coevvrerene. 336 334 335 338
Presenting 000 4 4 4 6
To nearest million dollars.......... 239 242 238 230
Total Companies...........ccceeenne 600 600 600 600

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1.52 SEC Regulations S-X, Accounting Rules—Form and
Content of Financial Statements, and S-K, and Statement on
Auditing Standards (SAS) No. 32, Adequacy of Disclosure in
Financial Statements, state the need for adequate disclosure
in financial statements. Normally the financial statements
alone cannot present all information necessary for adequate
disclosure without considering appended notes which dis-
close information of the sort listed below:

Changes in accounting principles.
Retroactive adjustments.
Long-term lease agreements.
Assets subiject to lien.

Preferred stock data.

Pension and retirement plans.

Restrictions on the availability of retained earnings for cash
dividend purposes.

Contingencies and commitments.
Depreciation and depletion policies.
Stock option or stock purchase plans.
Consolidation policies.

Computation of earnings per share.
Subsequent events.

Quarterly data.

Segment information.

Financial instruments.

1.53 Table 1-6 summarizes the manner in which financial
statements refer to notes. Notes on specific topics are illus-
trated in this publication in the sections dealing with such
topics.

ATT-SEC 1.50

1.54

TABLE 1-6: NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
2002 2001 2000 1999

General reference only.................. 514 475 448 429
General and direct references....... 85 124 151 168
Direct reference only...........co.cenne.. 1 1 1 3
Total Companies.........c..cccousvrenne 600 600 600 600

DISCLOSURE OF ACCOUNTING POLICIES

1.55 Accounting Principles Board (APB) Opinion No. 22,
Disclosure of Accounting Policies, requires that the signifi-
cant accounting policies of an entity be presented as an in-
tegral part of the financial statements of the entity. APB Opin-
ion No. 22 sets forth guidelines as to the content and format
of disclosures of accounting policies. APB Opinion No. 22
states that the preferable format is to present a Summary
of Significant Accounting Policies preceding notes to finan-
cial statements or as the initial note. 480 survey companies
presented the Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
as either the first footnote or as a separate presentation fol-
lowing the last financial statement and preceding the foot-
notes. Of the remainder, most survey companies presented
the Summary of Significant Accounting Policies as the sec-
ond footnote following a footnote which described the nature
of operations.

1.56 Table 1-7 shows the nature of information frequently
disclosed in summaries of accounting policies and the num-
ber of survey companies disclosing such information. Exam-
ples of summaries of accounting policies follows.

1.57
TABLE 1-7: DISCLOSURE OF ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Number of Companies
2002 2001 2000 1999

Revenue recognition............c.ceeeeenee 584 574 555 486
Consolidation policy...........ccccccreeenee. 576 587 581 583
Use of estimates..........cccccourvcvnrennn. 576 577 576 574
Depreciation methods............cocceuece. 567 584 581 587
PrODEmY......covveevvriresirencrmisneenneneenens 556 543 552 537
IMpairment...........cccooeianeecenonn 540 533 428 426
Cash equivalents........c...cocevervrevnnnes 537 543 518 516
Inventory pricing..........ccovucveerecereereenes 522 523 538 542
Amortization of intangibles................. 509 495 481 479
Financial instruments............ccccoecoeenne 487 450 423 428
Stock-based compensation............... 483 335 318 289
Interperiod tax allocation................... 449 418 404 377
Translation of foreign currency.......... 420 407 398 386
Earnings per share calculation.......... 386 383 407 405
Nature of operations..............cocceuune. 361 329 313 312
Advertising COStS.........oveervrumcmreereuennes 250 227 197 174
Research and development costs..... 206 186 180 179
Fiscal Years........cueremermionieninins 181 175 178 171
Credit risk concentrations.................. 178 167 173 147
Employee benefits............... 167 133 164 124
Environmental costs..........ccccoocuunn.. 133 131 139 140
Capitalization of interest.................... 89 87 89 76
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1.58
AK STEEL HOLDING CORPORATION (DEC)

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Dollars in millions, except per share amounts)

1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Basis of Presentation

These financial statements consolidate the operations and
accounts of AK Steel Holding Corporation (“AK Holding”)
and its 100%-owned subsidiary AK Steel Corporation (“AK
Steel,” and together with AK Holding, the “Company”) and all
subsidiaries in which the Company has a controlling interest.

On April 19, 2002, the Company completed the sale of its
Sawhill Tubular division. For periods prior to the sale, the re-
sults of Sawhill Tubular have been classified as discontinued
operations on the consolidated statements of operations and
the assets disposed of in the sale transaction have been re-
classified to current and noncurrent assets held for sale on
the consolidated balance sheets. There were no material lia-
bilities transferred in the sale transaction.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with ac-
counting principles generally accepted in the United States
of America requires the use of management estimates and
assumptions that affect the amounts reported. These esti-
mates are based on historical experience and information
that is available to management about current events and ac-
tions the Company may take in the future. Significant items
subject to estimates and assumptions include the carrying
value of long-lived assets; valuation allowances for receiv-
ables, inventories and deferred income tax assets; legal and
environmental liabilities; and assets and obligations related
to employee benefit plans. There can be no assurance that
actual results will not differ from these estimates.

Revenue Recognition

Revenue from sales of products is recognized at the time
title and the risks and rewards of ownership passes. This is
when the products are shipped per customers’ instructions,
the sales price is fixed and determinable, and collection is
reasonably assured.

Cash Equivalents

Cash equivalents include short-term, highly liquid invest-
ments that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash
and are of an original maturity of three months or less.
Supplemental Disclosure of Cash Flow Information

2000 2001 2002

Cash paid (received) during the period for:
Interest (net of interest capitalized) $1271  $139.7 $124.6
Income taxes 9.0) (1.1)  (50.8)

AICPA Accounting Trends & Techniques

Supplemental Cash Flow Information Regarding Non-Cash
Investing and Financing Activities

The Company granted to certain employees common stock
with values, net of cancellations, of $7.6, $0.1 and $3.3 in
2000, 2001 and 2002, respectively, under its restricted stock
award programs.

In the fourth quarter of 2001, the Company received a dis-
tribution of shares from Anthem Inc., its primary health insur-
ance provider, upon the demutualization of that company.
The shares had a fair value at the date of receipt of $49.9,
net of a liability established for the portion of the proceeds
deemed to be healthcare assets.

Accounts Receivable

The allowance for doubtful accounts was $7.7 and $4.3 at
December 31, 2001 and 2002.

Inventories

Inventories are valued at the lower of cost or market. The
cost of the majority of inventories is measured on the last
in, first out (“LIFO”) method. Other inventories are measured
principally at average cost and consist mostly of foreign in-
ventories and certain raw materials.

2001 2002

Inventories on LIFO:
Finished and semifinished $719.3 $729.5
Raw materials and supplies 162.1 152.3
Adjustment to state inventories at LIFO value (9.7) (43.0)
Total 871.7 838.8
Other inventories 32.9 31.5
Total inventories $904.6 $870.3

During 2001, liquidation of LIFO layers generated income of
$5.7. In 2002, liquidation of LIFO layers resulted in a loss of
$28.8.

Property, Plant and Equipment

Plant and equipment are depreciated under the straight line
method over their estimated lives ranging from 2 to 40 years.
The Company’s property, plant and equipment balances as
of December 31, 2001 and 2002 are as follows:

2001 2002
Land, land improvements and leaseholds $ 1358 § 1443
Buildings 3448 354.6
Machinery and equipment 4,1541 4,227.4
Construction in progress 108.2 85.3
Total 47429 48116
Less accumulated depreciation (1,974.6) (2,179.8)
Property, plant and equipment, net $2,768.3 $2,6318

The Company reviews the carrying value of long-lived assets
to be held and used and long-lived assets to be disposed of
when events and circumstances warrant such a review. If the
carrying value of a long-lived asset is considered impaired, a
loss is recognized based on the amount by which the carry-
ing value exceeds the fair market value less cost to dispose
for assets to be sold or abandoned. Fair market value is
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determined primarily using the anticipated cash flows dis-
counted at a rate commensurate with the risk invoived.

In June 2001, the Financial Accounting Standards Board
(“FASB”) issued Statement of Financial Accounting Stan-
dards (“Statement”) No. 143, “Accounting for Asset Retire-
ment Obligations,” which requires entities to establish lia-
bilities for legal obligations associated with the retirement
of tangible long-lived assets. The Company will adopt the
Statement in 2003, but does not believe adoption will have a
material effect on its financial statements.

Investments

The Company has investments in associated companies that
are accounted for under the equity method. Because the op-
erations of these companies are integrated with its basic
steelmaking operations, the Company inciudes its propor-
tionate share of the income (loss) of these associated com-
panies in cost of products sold in its consolidated statements
of operations.

The Company has a note receivable of $35.0 due from
Combined Metals of Chicago L.L.C., an entity in which it
holds an equity interest. The note is subordinate to outstand-
ing bank indebtedness of the entity. In the first quarter of
2002, the Company provided a $4.0 letter of credit to sup-
port a portion of the entity’s bank indebtedness proportion-
ate to the Company’s equity investment. The Gompany has
recorded no liability related to this letter of credit.

The Company guarantees the performance under an
equipment lease that terminates in 2009 of AK-ISG Steel
Coating Company, another entity in which it holds an equity
interest. At December 31, 2002, the Company’s maximum li-
ability under this guarantee was approximately $24.1, which
was not recorded on its financial statements. Payment of any
amounts under this guarantee, if necessary, would be made
in monthly installments through early 2009.

The Company’s investment in AFSG Holdings, Inc. repre-
sents the carrying value of its discontinued insurance and
finance leasing businesses, which have been largely liqui-
dated. The activities of the remaining operating companies
are being “runoff” and the group is accounted for as a discon-
tinued operation under the liquidation basis of accounting,
whereby future cash inflows and outflows are considered. In
the fourth quarter of 2001, AFSG Holdings distributed $30.0
of excess funds to the Company, which reduced the carry-
ing value of its AFSG investment. The Company is under no
obligation to support the operations or liabilities of this group.

Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets

The Company adopted Statement No. 142, “Goodwill and
Other Intangible Assets,” as of January 1, 2002. Statement
No. 142 requires that goodwill no ionger be amortized to
earnings, but instead be reviewed annually for possible im-
pairment. During 2002, the Company completed this re-
view, as required, and determined that no impairment was
necessary.
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As of December 31, 2001 and 2002, goodwill on the con-
solidated balance sheets was $109.7, of which $107.3 related
to Steel Operations and $2.4 related to Snow and Ice Control
Products. Other intangible assets on the December 31, 2001
and 2002 consolidated balance sheets were as follows.

2001 2002

Steel Operations minimum pension liability $108.2 $90.7
Snow and Ice Control Products other

intangible assets 3.7 31

Total intangible assets $111.9  $938

The Snow and Ice Control Products’ other intangible assets
had an original value of $9.6 and are subject to amortization
over a period of up to seventeen years. Had the Company
adopted Statement No. 142 at the beginning of 2000, net in-
come (loss) in the indicated years would have been adjusted
as follows.

2000 2001 2002

Reported net income (loss) $1324  §$(924) $(502.4)
Add: goodwill amortization, net of tax 22 25 —
Adjusted net income (loss) $1346  $(89.9) $(5024)
Basic and diluted earnings per share:
Reported net income (loss) $120 $087) $ (4.67)
Goodwill amortization 0.02 0.03 —
Adjusted net income (loss) $122 §$084) $ (4.67)

Pension and Other Postretirement Benefits Accounting

Under its method of accounting for pension and other postre-
tirement benefit plans, the Company recognizes into income,
as a fourth quarter adjustment, any unrecognized actuarial
net gains or losses that exceed 10% of the larger of pro-
jected benefit obligations or plan assets, defined as the cor-
ridor. Amounts inside this 10% corridor are amortized over
the average remaining service life of active plan participants.
Actuarial net gains and losses occur when actual experience
differs from any of the many assumptions used to value the
plans. Differences between the expected and actual returns
on plan assets and changes in interest rates, which affect
the discount rates used to value projected plan obligations,
can have a significant impact on the calculation of pension
net gains and losses from year to year. For other postre-
tirement benefit plans, increases in healthcare trend rates
that outpace discount rates could cause unrecognized net
losses to increase to the point that an outside-the-corridor
charge would be necessary. By immediately recognizing net
gains and losses outside the corridor, the Company’s ac-
counting method limits the amounts by which balance sheet
assets and liabilities differ from economic net assets or obli-
gations related to the plans. During 2002, the combination
of a 4.8% loss on its pension plan assets compared to an
assumed 9.25% return, a decrease in the discount rate from
7.25% t0 6.75% to reflect declines in prevailing interest rates,
and other actuarial losses resulted in a net actuarial loss in
excess of the corridor. As a result, the Company recog-
nized, in the fourth quarter of 2002, a non-cash pre-tax pen-
sion corridor charge of $572.8 in operating cost. In addition,
during 2002, the decrease in the discount rate and rising
healthcare costs resulted in the Company recognizing a non-
cash, pre-tax corridor charge of $244.0 related to its other
postretirement benefit plans. During 2001, a 6.3% investment
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loss on its pension plan assets compared to an assumed
10% return and a 0.75 percentage point decrease in the dis-
count rate caused the Company to recognize a non-cash
pre-tax fourth quarter pension charge of $192.2 in operating
cost. In addition, because the decline in asset value in 2001
also led to the pension plans becoming underfunded, the
Company recorded a non-cash after-tax reduction in equity
of approximately $163.4.

Earnings Per Share

Reconciliation of numerators and denominators’ for basic
and diluted EPS computations is as follows:

2000 2001 2002
Income (loss) for calculation of basic earnings per share:
Income (loss) from continuing operations $134.0 $(91.2) $(475.6)
Less: Preferred stock dividends 1.0 0.9 1.2
Income (loss) from continuing operations available to common stockholders 133.0 (92.1) (476.8)
Loss from discontinued operations 1.6 12 6.9
Extraordinary loss on retirement of debt — — 19.9
Net income (loss) available to common stockholders $131.4 $(93.3) $(503.6)
Common shares outstanding (weighted average in millions) 109.5 107.7 107.9
Basic earnings per share:
Income (loss) from continuing operations $1.21 $(0.86) $ (4.42)
Loss from discontinued operations 0.01 0.01 0.06
Extraordinary loss on retirement of debt — — 0.19
Net income (loss) $1.20 $(0.87) $ (4.67)
income (loss) for calculation of diluted earnings per share:
Income (loss) from continuing operations $134.0 $(91.2) $(475.6)
Less: Preferred stock dividends 1.0 0.9 1.2
Income (loss) from continuing operations available to common stockholders 133.0 (92.1) (476.8)
Loss from discontinued operations 1.6 1.2 6.9
Extraordinary loss on retirement of debt — — 19.9
Net income (loss) available to common stockholders $131.4 $(93.3) $(503.6)
Shares (weighted average in millions):
Common shares outstanding 109.5 107.7 107.9
Common stock options outstanding 0.1 — —
Common shares outstanding as adjusted 109.6 107.7 107.9
Diluted earnings per share:
Income (loss) from continuing operations $ 1.2 $(0.86) $ 4.42)
Loss from discontinued operations 0.01 0.01 0.06
Extraordinary loss on retirement of debt — — 0.19
Net income (loss) $1.20 $(0.87) $ (4.67)

At the end of each year, the Company had outstanding
stock options and/or convertible preferred stock whose exer-
cise or conversion could, under certain circumstances, fur-
ther dilute earnings per share. The following shares of po-
tentially issuable common stock were not included in the
above weighted average shares outstanding because to do
so would have had an antidilutive effect on earnings per share
for the years presented.

(Common shares in millions) 2000 2001 2002
Stock options 33 3.3 38
$3.625 convertible preferred stock 0.7 0.7 —

AICPA Accounting Trends & Techniques

Common Stock Compensation

Compensation costs related to restricted stock awards
granted under the Company’s Stock Incentive Plan (“SIP”)
are charged against income during their vesting period. In
2000, 2001 and 2002, the Company recognized compen-
sation costs of $5.6, $7.4 and $5.2, respectively, related to
these awards. The Company applies Accounting Principles
Board Opinion No. 25, “Accounting for Stock Issued to Em-
ployees” and related interpretations in accounting for non-
qualified stock options granted under its SIP. The Company
adopted the pro forma disclosure requirements of State-
ment No. 123, “Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation”
and related pronouncements. Had compensation cost for
the Company’s stock option plans been determined based
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on fair value consistent with the methodology of Statement
No. 123, the Company’s net income (loss) and earnings per
share for each year would have been adjusted to the pro
forma amounts indicated below:

2000 2001 2002

Net income (loss) as reported $1324  $(924) $(502.4)
Additional compensation cost
based on fair value recognition,
net of tax 2.8 1.8 1.8
Pro forma net income (loss) $1298  §(94.2) §$(504.2)
Basic and diluted earnings per share
as reported $120 $087) $ (467)
Pro forma basic and diluted earnings
per share $ 118  $(0.88) $ (4.68)

The fair value of options to purchase shares of AK Holding
common stock is estimated on the grant date using
a Black-Scholes option pricing model considering the
appropriate dividend rates along with the following weighted
average assumptions:

2000 2001 2002
Expected volatility 30.2% 33.9% 35.2%
Risk free interest rates 6.64% 4.87% 5.23%
Expected lives 5.0 yrs. 8.25 yrs. 8.50 yrs.

Research and Development Costs

The Company conducts a broad range of research and de-
velopment activities aimed at improving existing products
and manufacturing processes and developing new products
and processes. Research and development costs, which are
recorded as expense when incurred, totaled $14.8, $13.4 and
$13.6 in 2000, 2001 and 2002, respectively.

Concentrations of Credit Risk

The Company is primarily a producer of flat-rolled carbon,
stainless and electrical steels and steel products, which are
sold to a number of markets, including automotive, industrial
machinery and equipment, construction, power distribution
and appliances. During 2002, 20% of the Steel Operations’
net sales were to General Motors Corporation. The Company
sells domestically to customers primarily in the Midwestern
and Eastern United States, while approximately 10% of sales
are to foreign customers, primarily in Canada, Mexico and
Western Europe. Approximately 37% of trade receivables
outstanding at December 31, 2002 are due from businesses
associated with the U.S. automotive industry. Except in a few
situations where the risk warrants it, collateral is not required
on trade receivables; and while it believes its trade receiv-
ables will be collected, the Company anticipates that in the
event of default it would follow normal collection procedures.

Financial Instruments

Investments in debt securities are classified as held-to-
maturity because the Company has the positive intent and
ability to hold the securities to maturity. Held-to-maturity
securities are stated at amortized cost, adjusted for amor-
tization of premiums and accretion of discounts to ma-
turity. Investments in equity securities are classified as
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available-for-sale. Available-for-sale securities are carried at
fair value, with unrealized gains and losses, net of tax, re-
ported in other comprehensive income. Realized gains and
losses on sales of available-for-sale securities are computed
based upon initial cost adjusted for any other than temporary
declines in fair value. The Company has no investments that
are considered to be trading securities.

The carrying value of the Company’s financial instruments
does not differ materially from their estimated fair value (pri-
marily based on quoted market prices) at the end of 2001 and
2002 with the exception of the Company’s long-term debt.
At December 31, 2002, the fair value of the Company’s long-
term debt, including current maturities, was approximately
$1,342.7. This amount was determined primarily from quoted
market prices. The fair value estimate was based on perti-
nent information available to management as of December
31, 2002. Management is not aware of any significant fac-
tors that would materially alter this estimate since that date.
The fair value of the Company’s long-term debt, including
current maturities, at December 31, 2001 was approximately
$1,409.7. )

The Company is a party to derivative instruments that are
designated and qualify as hedges under Statement No. 133,
“Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activi-
ties” and related pronouncements. The Company’s objective
in using such instruments is to protect its earnings and cash
flows from fluctuations in the fair value of selected commodi-
ties and currencies. The Company does not enter into deriva-
tive instruments that do not qualify as hedges, except to the
extent that derivative instruments may be acquired in limited
circumstances to offset the future effects of an instrument
formerly used as a hedge, when that instrument is declared
to no longer be a hedge.

In the ordinary course of business, the Company’s income
and cash flows may be affected by fluctuations in the price of
certain commodities used in its production processes. The
Company generally cannot recover higher energy and raw
material costs in its selling prices. For certain commodities
where such exposure exists, the Company uses cash set-
tled commodity price swaps, collars and purchased options,
with a duration of up to three years, to hedge the price of a
portion of its natural gas, nickel, aluminum and zinc require-
ments. The Company designates these instruments as cash
flow hedges and the resulting changes in their fair value are
recorded in other comprehensive income. Subsequent gains
and losses are recognized into cost of products sold in the
same period as the underlying physical transaction. As of
December 31, 2002, currently valued outstanding commod-
ity hedges would result in the reclassification into earnings
of $1.9 in net-of-tax gains within the next twelve months.

In addition, in the ordinary course of business, the Com-
pany is subject to risks associated with exchange rate fluctu-
ations on monies received from its European subsidiaries and
other customers invoiced in European currencies. In order to
mitigate this risk, the Company has entered into a series of
agreements for the forward sale of euros at fixed dollar rates.
The forward contracts are entered into with durations of up
to a year. A typical contract is used as a cash flow hedge for
the period from when an order is taken to when a sale is rec-
ognized, at which time it converts into a fair value hedge of a
euro-denominated receivable. As afair value hedge, changes
in the fair value of the derivative and the gains or losses on
the foreign-denominated receivables are recorded currently
in other income and provide an offset to one another.
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The Company formally documents all relationships be-
tween hedging instruments and hedged items, as well as
its risk management objectives and strategies for undertak-
ing various hedge transactions. In this documentation, the
Company specifically identifies the asset, liability, firm com-
mitment or forecasted transaction that has been designated
as a hedged item and states how the hedging instrument
is expected to hedge the risks related to that item. The
Company formally measures effectiveness of its hedging
relationships both at the hedge inception and on an on-
going basis. The Company discontinues hedge accounting
prospectively when it determines that the derivative is no
longer effective in offsetting changes in the fair value or cash
flows of a hedged item; when the derivative expires or is
sold, terminated or exercised; when it is probable that the
forecasted transaction will not occur; when a hedged firm
commitment no longer meets the definition of a firm commit-
ment; or when management determines that designation of
the derivative as a hedge instrument is no longer appropriate.

Comprehensive Income (Loss) and Accumulated Other
Comprehensive Loss

Comprehensive income (loss) in the Statement of Compre-
hensive Income (Loss) are presented net of a 40% tax rate.
The components of accumulated other comprehensive loss
at December 31 are as follows:

2000 2001 2002
Foreign currency translation $27 $ @21 $ (07
Derivative instrument hedges — (28.9) 0.2)
Unrealized gain/(loss) on investments  (1.0) 8.3 (1.9
Minimum pension liability (1.2) (164.6) (175.4)
Total $(4.9) $(187.3)  $(178.2)
1.59

THE CLOROX COMPANY (JUN)

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Millions of dollars, except share and
per-share amounts)

1. Significant Accounting Policies

Nature of Operations and Principles of Consolidation

The Company is principally engaged in the production and
marketing of nondurable consumer products through gro-
cery stores, mass merchandisers and other retail outlets. The
consolidated financial statements include the statements of
the Company and its majority-owned and controlled sub-
sidiaries. Minority investments in foreign entities are ac-
counted for under the equity method, the most significant of
which is an equity investment in Henkel Iberica, S.A. of Spain.
All significant intercompany transactions and accounts are
eliminated in consolidation.

AICPA Accounting Trends & Techniques

Use of Estimates

The preparation of these consolidated financial statements in
conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in
the United States of America requires management to make
estimates and assumptions that affect reported amounts and
related disclosures. Specific areas, among others, requiring
the application of management’s estimates and judgment in-
clude assumptions pertaining to credit worthiness of cus-
tomers, future product volume and pricing estimates, accru-
als for coupon and promotion programs, foreign currency
exchange rates, interest rates, discount rates, useful lives of
assets, future cost trends, investment returns, tax strategies
and other external market and economic conditions. Actual
results could differ from estimates and assumptions made.

New Accounting Standards

As of July 1, 2001, the Company adopted Statement of
Financial Accounting Standards (“SFAS”) No. 141, “Business
Combinations,” and SFAS No. 142, “Goodwill and Other In-
tangible Assets.” SFAS No. 141 requires all business combi-
nations entered into after June 30, 2001 to be accounted for
under the purchase method. SFAS No. 142 sets forth new
financial accounting and reporting standards for the acqui-
sition of intangible assets, other than those acquired in a
business combination, and for goodwill and other intangi-
ble assets subsequent to their acquisition. This accounting
standard requires that goodwill be reported separately from
other identifiable intangible assets and no longer amortized
but tested for impairment on an annual basis. The Company’s
policy is to separately identify, value, and determine the use-
ful lives for all intangible assets acquired in acquisitions oc-
curring after June 30, 2001. Those assets with a definite life
shall be amortized over such periods, and those with indef-
inite lives shall not be amortized, but tested for impairment.
The annual impairment tests will be performed at the same
time each year unless events suggest an impairment may
have occurred in the interim. The Company tests for impair-
ment by comparing the carrying value with the fair value of
each reporting unit. An impairment loss is recorded for the
excess of the carrying value over the fair value of the good-
will, trademarks and other intangible assets. In connection
with the transition provisions for adopting this standard, the
Company performed a transitional impairment test and found
no impairment, and reviewed the classification of its intan-
gible assets. Amounts determined to be other than goodwill
were reallocated as of July 1, 2001. Approximately $301 was
assigned to trademarks not subject to amortization and $23
to other intangible assets subject to amortization.

In accordance with SFAS No. 142, the Company discon-
tinued the amortization of goodwill and indefinite-lived trade-
marks effective July 1, 2001. The financial statement impact
was to reduce amortization expense by $47 and increase net
earnings by $34 (net of tax benefits of $13), or $0.14 per di-
luted share for the year ended June 30, 2002 compared to
June 30, 2001.
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A reconciliation of previously reported net earnings and
earnings per share to the amounts adjusted to exclude good-
will and indefinite-lived trademarks amortization, net of the
related income tax effect, follows:

Accounting Trends & Techniques

2002 2001 2000
Reported net eamnings $322 $323 $394
Add: Goodwill and indefinite-lived trademarks amortization, net of tax benefits — 34 3
Adjusted net earnings $322 $ 357 $425
Basic earnings per common share:
Reported net earnings $1.39 $1.37 $1.67
Add: Goodwill and indefinite-lived trademarks amortization, net of tax benefits — 0.14 0.13
Adjusted net earnings $1.39 $1.51 $1.80
Diluted earnings per common share:
Reported net earnings $1.37 $1.35 $1.64
Add: Goodwill and indefinite-lived trademarks amortization, net of tax benefits — 0.14 0.13
Adjusted net earnings $1.37 $1.49 $1.77

In June 2001, the Financial Accounting Standards Board
(“FASB”) issued SFAS No. 143, “Accounting for Asset Re-
tirement Obligations,” which addresses financial account-
ing requirements for retirement obligations associated with
tangible long-lived assets. SFAS No. 143 is effective for fis-
cal year 2003. The Company is evaluating what impact, if
any, SFAS No. 143 may have on its consolidated financial
statements.

In August 2001, the FASB issued SFAS No. 144, “Account-
ing for the Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets,”
that replaces SFAS No. 121, “Accounting for the Impairment
of Long-Lived Assets and for Long-Lived Assets to Be Dis-
posed Of.” SFAS No. 144 requires that long-lived assets to
be disposed of by sale, including those of discontinued op-
erations, be measured at the lower of carrying value or fair
value less costs to sell, whether reported in continuing opera-
tions or in discontinued operations. Discontinued operations
will no longer be measured at net realizable value or include
amounts for operating losses that have not yet been incurred.
SFAS No. 144 also broadens the reporting of discontinued
operations to include all components of an entity with opera-
tions that can be distinguished from the rest of the entity and
will be eliminated from the ongoing operations of the entity
in a disposal transaction. The provisions of SFAS No. 144
are effective for fiscal year 2003 and are to be applied
prospectively.

In June 2002, the FASB issued SFAS No. 146, “Account-
ing for Costs Associated with Exit or Disposal Activities”,
which addresses accounting for restructuring and similar
costs. SFAS No. 146 supersedes previous accounting guid-
ance, principally Emerging Issues Task Force (“EITF”) Issue
No. 94-3. The Company will adopt the provisions of SFAS
No. 146 for restructuring activities, if any, initiated after
December 31, 2002. SFAS No. 146 requires that the lia-
bility for costs associated with an exit or disposal activ-
ity be recognized when the liability is incurred. Under EITF
Issue No. 94-3, a liability for an exit cost was recognized
at the date of the Company’s commitment to an exit plan.
SFAS No. 146 also establishes that the liability should initially
be measured and recorded at fair value. Accordingly, SFAS
No. 146 may affect the timing of recognizing future restruc-
turing costs as well as the amounts recognized.
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Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash equivalents consist of money market and other high
quality instruments with an initial maturity of three months
of less. Such investments are stated at cost, which approxi-
mates market value.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost or market (net re-
alizable value). Cost for the majority of the domestic invento-
ries, approximately 41% and 35% of inventories at June 30,
2002 and 2001, respectively, is determined on the last-in,
first-out (LIFO) method. The cost method for all other inven-
tories, including inventories of all international businesses,
is determined on the first-in, first-out (FIFO) method. When
necessary, the Company provides allowances to adjust the
carrying value of its inventory to the lower of cost or netrealiz-
able value, including any costs to sell or dispose. Appropriate
consideration is given to obsolescence, excessive inventory
levels, product deterioration and other factors in evaluating
net realizable value.

Property, Plant and Equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost. Deprecia-
tion is calculated by the straight-line method over estimated
useful lives generally ranging from 3—40 years. Property, plant
and equipment is reviewed periodically for possible impair-
ment in accordance with SFAS No. 121, “Accounting for the
Impairment of Long-Lived Assets to be Disposed Of.” The
Company’s impairment review is based on an undiscounted
cash flow analysis of assets at the lowest level for which iden-
tifiable cash flows exist. Impairment occurs when the carry-
ing value of the asset exceeds the future undiscounted cash
flows and the impairment is viewed as other than temporary.
When an impairment is indicated, the future cash flows are
then discounted to determine the estimated fair value of the
asset and an impairment charge is recorded for the differ-
ence between the carrying value and the net present value
of future cash flows.
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Capitalized Software Costs

The Company follows the accounting guidance as speci-
fied in Statement of Position (SOP) 98-1, “Accounting for the
Costs of Computer Software Developed or Obtained for inter-
nal Use”. The Company capitalizes significant costs incurred
in the acquisition or development of software for internal
use, including the costs of the software, materials, consul-
tants, interest and payroll and payroll-related costs for em-
ployees incurred in developing internal-use computer soft-
ware once final selection of the software is made. Costs
incurred prior to the final selection of software and costs not
qualifying for capitalization are charged to expense. Capital-
ized software amortization expense was $18,$18,and $13,in
fiscal years 2002, 2001 and 2000, respectively. The net book
value of capitalized software costs included in other assets at
June 30, 2002 and 2001 was $102 and $59, respectively.

Employee Benefits

The Company has qualified and non-qualified defined benefit
plans that cover substantially all of the Company’s domestic
employees and certain of its international employees. The
Company follows the accounting guidance as specified in
SFAS No. 87, “Employers Accounting for Pensions,” for the
recognition of net periodic pension cost.

The Company provides certain health care benefits for em-
ployees who meet age, participation and length of service
requirements at retirement. The Company follows the ac-
counting guidance as specified in SFAS No. 106, “Employers’
Accounting for Postretirement Benefits Other Than Pension,”
for the recognition of postretirement benefits.

The Company provides for medical, dental, vision, life and
other benefits to its employees. The Company accrues for
estimated claims incurred but not reported based on esti-
mates provided by its actuaries.

The Company follows the accounting guidance as spec-
ified in SFAS No. 112, “Employers Accounting for Postem-
ployment Benefits”, for the recognition of certain disability
benefits.

The Company has various incentive compensation pro-
grams, including a performance unit program and The Clorox
Company Retirement Investment Plan (ERIP). Certain pay-
ments or contributions under these programs are subject
to the Company achieving certain performance targets. The
Company reviews these performance targets on a peri-
odic basis and accrues for incentive compensation costs
accordingly.

Environmental Costs

The Company is involved in various environmental remedi-
ation and on-going compliance activities. As sites are iden-
tified and assessed, the Company determines its potential
environmental liability. The Company follows the accounting
guidance as specified in SOP 96-1, “Environmental Reme-
diation Liabilities”. Based on engineering studies and man-
agement judgment, the Company has estimated and accrued
for future remediation and on-going monitoring costs on an
undiscounted basis, and environmental expenditures are in-
cluded in other expense, net.

Restructuring Liabilities

The Company follows the guidance of Emerging Issues
Tasks Force (“EITF”) Issue No. 94-3, “Liability Recognition for
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Certain Employee Termination Benefits and Other Costs to
Exit an Activity (including Certain Costs Incurred in a Re-
structuring),” for recognition of liabilities and expenses asso-
ciated with exit and disposal costs when facilities are partially
or completely closed. Employee termination and severance
costs are recognized at the time the group impacted has been
notified. Other qualified exit and disposal costs are recog-
nized at the time a plan has been approved by management.

Revenue Recognition

Customer sales are recognized as revenue when the risk of
loss and title pass to the customer, generally at the time of
shipment. Customer sales are recorded net of allowances
for damaged goods returns, trade promotions, coupons and
other discounts, which are recognized as a deduction from
sales at the time of sale. The Company routinely commits to
one-time or on-going trade promaotion and coupon programs
with customers that require the Company to estimate and
accrue the ultimate costs of such programs. The Company
records an accrual at the end of each period for the earned,
but unpaid costs related to the programs. Trade promotion
and coupon costs are recorded as a deduction from sales.
The Company also provides for an allowance for estimated
damaged goods returns, which is recognized as a deduction
from sales at the time of sale.

The Company provides for an allowance for doubtful ac-
counts based on historical experience and a review of its
receivables. Receivables are presented net of an allowance
for doubtful accounts of $15 at both June 30, 2002 and 2001.
The Company'’s provision for doubtful accounts and deduc-
tions for charge-offs of receivables were $11 and $6, respec-
tively, in fiscal year 2002, $5 and $3, respectively, in fiscal
year 2001, and $8 and $5, respectively, in fiscal year 2000.

Advertising

The Company expenses advertising costs in the year
incurred.

Income Taxes

The Company uses the asset and liability method to account
for income taxes, including recognition of deferred tax assets
included in other current assets and liabilities for the antic-
ipated future tax consequences attributable to differences
between financial statement amounts and their respective
tax bases. Income tax expense is recognized currently for
taxes payable on remittances of foreign earnings, while no
provision for expense is made for taxes on foreign earnings
that are deemed to be permanently reinvested. The Com-
pany reviews its deferred tax assets for recovery. A valuation
allowance is established when the Company believes that it
is more likely than not that some portion of its deferred tax
assets will not be realized. Changes in valuation allowances
from period to period are included in the Company’s tax pro-
vision in the period of change.

Foreign Currency Translation

Local currencies are the functional currencies for most of
the Company’s foreign operations. Assets and liabilities are
translated using the exchange rates in effect at the balance
sheet date. Income and expenses are translated at the av-
erage exchange rates during the year. Translation gains and
losses not reflected in earnings are reported in accumulated
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other comprehensive net losses in stockholders’ equity. De-
ferred taxes are not provided on translation gains and losses
where the Company expects earnings of a foreign subsidiary
to be permanently reinvested. During fiscal year 2002, the
Company has determined that, at this time, foreign earnings
from certain countries and joint ventures are no longer per-
manently reinvested and, therefore, the income tax effects
of $119 have been recorded to other assets with an offset
to accumulated other comprehensive net losses. Transac-
tion gains and losses where the U.S. dollar is the functional
currency are included in other expense (income), net.

Earnings Per Common Share

Basic earnings per share is computed by dividing net earn-
ings by the weighted average number of common shares
outstanding each period. Diluted earnings per share is com-
puted by dividing net earnings by the diluted weighted av-
erage number of common shares outstanding during the
period. Diluted earnings per share reflects the potential di-
lution from common shares issuable through stock options,
restricted stock and share repurchase contracts.

Derivative Instruments

Effective July 1, 2000, the Company adopted SFAS No. 133
“Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activi-
ties,” as amended by SFAS No. 138, “Accounting for Certain
Derivative Instruments and Certain Hedging Activities.” SFAS
No. 133, as amended, establishes accounting and reporting
standards for derivative instruments, including certain deriva-
tive instruments embedded in other contracts, and for hedg-
ing activities. The statement requires that an entity recognize
all derivatives as either assets or liabilities in the statement
of financial position and measure those instruments at fair
value. The effect of this new standard was a reduction of fis-
cal year 2001 net earnings of $2 (net of tax benefit of $1),
which was recognized as a cumulative effect of a change in
accounting principle and an increase in fiscal year 2001 ac-
cumulated other comprehensive income of $10 (net of tax
benefit of $7). The ongoing effects are dependent on future
market conditions and the Company’s hedging activities.
The use of derivative instruments, principally swap, for-
ward and option contracts, is limited to non-trading purposes
and includes management of interest rate movements, for-
eign currency exposure and commodity exposure. Most in-
terest rate swaps and commodity purchase and foreign ex-
change contracts are designated as fair-value or cash-flow
hedges of fixed and variable rate debt obligations, raw ma-
terial purchase obligations, or foreign currency denominated
debt instruments, based on certain hedge criteria. The criteria
used to determine if hedge accounting treatment is appro-
priate are (a) the designation of the hedge to an underlying
exposure, (b) whether or not overall risk is being reduced and
(c) if there is correlation between the value of the derivative
instrument and the underlying obligation. Changes in the fair
value of such derivatives are recorded as either assets or
liabilities in the balance sheet with an offset to current earn-
ings or other comprehensive income, depending on whether
the derivative is designated as a hedge transaction and the
type of hedge transaction. For fair-value hedge transactions,
changes in fair value of the derivative and changes in the
fair value of the item being hedged are recorded in earnings.
For cash-flow hedge transactions, changes in fair value of
derivatives are reported as other comprehensive income and
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are recognized into earnings in the period or periods during
which the hedge transaction effects earnings. The Company
also has contracts with no hedging designations. At June
30, 2002 and 2001, the Company held a written put option
contract for the purchase of resin that does not qualify for
hedge accounting treatment. Additionally, in fiscal year 2002,
the Company elected to discontinue hedge accounting treat-
ment for its foreign exchange contracts that are considered
immaterial. The financial statement impact of this change to
the Company’s consolidated statement of earnings and bal-
ance sheet as of and for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2002
is insignificant. These contracts are accounted for by ad-
justing the carrying amount of the contracts to market and
recognizing any gain or loss in other expense (income), net.

The Company uses several different methodologies to es-
timate the fair value of its derivative contracts. The estimated
fair values of the Company’s interest rate swaps, certain com-
modity derivative contracts and foreign exchange contracts
are based on quoted market prices, traded exchange market
prices or broker quotes and represent the estimated amounts
that the Company would pay or receive to terminate the con-
tracts. The estimated fair values of the Company’s resin com-
modity contracts were previously determined using valuation
models, including a Black-Scholes model for the written op-
tion, with forward resin market price curves provided by mar-
ket makers. Starting in fiscal year 2002, the Company is using
forward resin market price curves provided by other external
sources because of a lack of available market quotations.
Factors used to determine the fair value of the resin forward
curve are based on resin market information, which considers
many economic factors, including technology, labor, material
and capital costs, capacity, world supply and demand.

Stock-Based Compensation

The Company accounts for stock-based compensation us-
ing the intrinsic value method prescribed in APB Opinion
No. 25 whereby the options are granted at market price,
and therefore no compensation costs are recognized. Com-
pensation cost for stock options, if any, would be mea-
sured as the excess of the quoted market price of the
Company’s stock at the date of grant over the amount an
employee must pay to acquire the stock. Restricted stock
awards are recorded as compensation cost over the requi-
site vesting periods based on the market value on the date
of grant. Unearned compensation cost on restricted stock
awards is shown as a reduction to stockholder’s equity. SFAS
No. 123, “Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation,” es-
tablished accounting and disclosure requirements using a
fair-value based method of accounting for stock-based
employee compensation plans. The Company has elected
to retain its current method of accounting as described
above and has adopted the disclosure requirements of SFAS
No. 123.

Reclassifications

Certain reclassifications have been made to the prior years’
financial statements to conform to the current year’s presen-
tation, including the reclassification of income related to the
Company'’s low income housing partnerships to income tax
expense, previously reported as a part of other income, to
conform to the current year’s presentation.
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1.60

SARA LEE CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES
(JUN)

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Dollars in millions except per share data)

Basis of Presentation

The consolidated financial statements include Sara Lee Cor-
poration and its controlled subsidiaries (the corporation) and
have been prepared in accordance with generally accepted
accounting principles (GAAP). The preparation of consoli-
dated financial statements in conformity with GAAP requires
management to make use of estimates and assumptions
that affect the reported amount of assets and liabilities, rev-
enues and expenses and certain financial statement disclo-
sures. Significant estimates in these consolidated financial
statements include allowances for doubtful accounts receiv-
able, net realizable value of inventories, the cost of sales
incentives, useful lives of property and identifiable intangible
assets, the evaluation of impairments of property, identifiable
intangible assets and goodwill, income tax and valuation re-
serves, the valuation of assets and liabilities acquired in busi-
ness combinations, and assumptions used in the determina-
tion of the funded status and annual expense of pension and
postretirement employee benefit plans. Actual results could
differ from these estimates.

The corporation’s fiscal year ends on the Saturday closest
to June 30. Unless otherwise stated, references to years re-
late to 52-week fiscal years. Certain prior year amounts have
been reclassified to conform with the current year’s presen-
tation.

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Principles of Consolidation

The corporation consolidates companies in which it owns
or controls more than 50% of the voting shares. The results
of companies acquired or disposed of during the year are
included in the consolidated financial statements from the
effective date of acquisition or up to the date of disposal.
All significant intercompany balances and transactions have
been eliminated in consolidation. Gains or losses resulting
from the issuance of common stock by a subsidiary of the
corporation are recognized in eamings in the period realized.

Foreign Currency Translation

Foreign-currency-denominated assets and liabilities are
translated into U.S. dollars at exchange rates existing at the
respective balance sheet dates. Translation adjustments re-
sulting from fluctuations in exchange rates are recorded as a
separate component of other comprehensive income within
common stockholders’ equity. The corporation translates the
results of operations of its foreign subsidiaries at the av-
erage exchange rates during the respective periods. Gains
and losses resulting from foreign currency transactions, the
amounts of which are not material, are included in net
income.

AICPA Accounting Trends & Techniques

Sales Recognition and Incentives

Sales are recognized when title and risk of loss passes to
the customer. The corporation offers a variety of sales incen-
tives to resellers and consumers of its products, and the poli-
cies regarding the recognition and display of these incentives
within the consolidated income statement are as follows:

Discounts, Coupons and Rebates

The cost of these incentives are recognized at the later of
the date at which the related sale is recognized or the date
at which the incentive is offered. The cost of these incen-
tives is estimated using a number of factors including his-
torical utilization and redemption rates. Substantially all cash
incentives of this type are included in the determination of
net sales. Incentives offered in the form of free product are
included in the determination of cost of sales.

Slotting Fees

Certain retailers require the payment of slotting fees in order
to obtain space for the corporation’s products on the retailer’s
store shelves. The cost of these fees is recognized at the
earlier of the date cash is paid or a liability to the retailer is
created. These amounts are included in the determination of
net sales.

Volume-Based Incentives

These incentives typically involve rebates or refunds of a
specified amount of cash consideration that are redeemable
only if the reseller completes a specified cumulative level of
sales transactions. Under incentive programs of this nature,
the corporation estimates the anticipated rebate to be paid
and allocates a portion of the estimated cost of the rebate to
each underlying sales transaction with the customer.

Cooperative Advertising

Under these arrangements the corporation agrees to reim-
burse the reseller for a portion of the costs incurred by the
reseller to advertise and promote certain of the corporation’s
products. The corporation recognizes the cost of cooperative
advertising programs in the period in which the advertising
and promotional activity first takes place. The costs of these
incentives are generally included in the determination of net
sales.

Fixtures and Racks

Store fixtures and racks are given to retailers to display cer-
tain of the corporation’s products. The cost of these fixtures
and racks is recognized in the determination of net income
in the period in which they are delivered to the retailer.
During 2002, the corporation adopted the provisions of
Emerging Issues Task Force (EITF) Issue 01-9, “Accounting
for Consideration Given by a Vendor to a Customer.” This
EITF statement established requirements for the recognition,
measurement and display of certain sales incentives. All prior
period financial statements have been restated for the adop-
tion of EITF Issue 01-9. The restatement of prior period fi-
nancial statements had no impact on income from continu-
ing operations, netincome, earnings per share or the financial
position of the corporation. The restatement of prior period fi-
nancial statements did, however, result in the reclassification
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of certain amounts within the consolidated statements of in-
come. With these adjustments, in 2001, net sales decreased
by $1,115, cost of sales increased by $35 and selling, gen-
eral and administrative expenses decreased by $1,150. In
2000, net sales decreased by $1,057, cost of sales increased
by $24 and selling, general and administrative expenses de-
creased by $1,081.

Aavertising Expense

Advertising costs, which include the development and pro-
duction of advertising materials and the communication of
this material through various forms of media, are expensed
in the period the advertising first takes place. Advertising ex-
pense is recognized in the selling, general and administrative
expenses caption in the consolidated statements of income
and was $425 in 2002, $393 in 2001 and $391 in 2000.

Inventory Valuation

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost or market. Cost
is determined by the first-in, first-out (FIFO) method for 96%
of the corporation’s inventories at June 29, 2002, and by
the last-in, first-out (LIFO) for the remainder. There was no
difference between the FIFO and LIFO inventory valuation at
June 29, 2002. Had the FIFO valuation been used for the
valuation of all inventories, the book value would have been
higher by $7 at June 30, 2001, and $12 at July 1, 2000.

Property

Property is stated at historical cost, and depreciation is com-
puted using the straight-line method over the lives of the as-
sets. Machinery and equipment is depreciated over periods
ranging from 3 to 25 years and buildings and building im-
provements over periods of up to 40 years. Additions and
improvements that substantially extend the useful life of a
particular asset and interest costs incurred during the con-
struction period of major properties are capitalized. Repairs
and maintenance costs are charged to expense. Upon sale
or disposition of a property element, the cost and related
accumulated depreciation are removed from the accounts.

The corporation periodically tests property for impairment,
relying on a number of factors including operating results,
business plans and future cash flows. Recoverability of prop-
erty is evaluated by a comparison of the carrying amount
of an asset or asset group to future net undiscounted cash
flows expected to be generated by the asset or asset group.
If these comparisons indicate that an asset is not recover-
able, the impairment loss recognized is the amount by which
the carrying amount of the asset exceeds the estimated fair
value.

Trademarks and Other Identifiable Intangible Assets

The primary identifiable intangible assets of the corpora-
tion are trademarks acquired in business combinations, cus-
tomer relationships and computer software. The corporation
adopted the provisions of Statement of Financial Account-
ing Standards (SFAS) No. 142, “Goodwill and Other Intangi-
ble Assets,” at July 1, 2001. Under the provisions of SFAS
No. 142, identifiable intangibles with finite lives are amor-
tized and those with indefinite lives are not amortized. The
estimated useful life of an identifiable intangible asset to the
corporation is based upon a number of factors including
the effects of demand, competition, expected changes in
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distribution channels and the level of maintenance expen-
ditures required to obtain future cash flows. Prior to the start
of 2002, the corporation followed the provisions of Account-
ing Principles Board (APB) Opinion No. 17, which required
that all identifiable intangibles be amortized by systematic
charges to income over the period expected to be benefited.

The corporation tests identifiable intangible assets for im-
pairment on an annual basis, relying on a number of fac-
tors including operating results, business plans and future
cash flows. Identifiable intangible assets that are subject to
amortization are evaluated for impairment using a process
similar to that used to evaluate elements of property. The
impairment test for identifiable intangible assets not subject
to amortization consists of a comparison of the fair value of
the intangible asset with its carrying amount. An impairment
loss is recognized for the amount by which the carrying value
exceeds the fair value of the asset.

Gooawill

Under the provisions of SFAS No. 142, goodwill is no longer
amortized. Prior to the start of 2002, the corporation followed
the provisions of APB Opinion No. 17, which required that
goodwill be amortized by systematic charges to income over
the period expected to be benefited. That period ranged from
5 to 40 years.

The corporation tests goodwill for impairment on an annual
basis, relying on a number of factors including operating re-
sults, business plans and future cash flows. Recoverability
of goodwill is evaluated using a two-step process. The first
step involves a comparison of the fair value of a reporting unit
with its carrying value. If the carrying amount of the reporting
unit exceeds its fair value, the second step of the process
involves a comparison of the fair value and carrying value
of the goodwill of that reporting unit. If the carrying value
of the goodwill of a reporting unit exceeds the fair value of
that goodwill, an impairment loss is recognized in an amount
equal to the excess.

Stock-Based Compensation

Employee stock options are accounted for under the provi-
sions of APB Opinion No. 25, “Accounting for Stock Issued
to Employees.” APB No. 25 requires the use of the intrinsic
value method, which measures compensation cost as the ex-
cess, if any, of the quoted market price of the stock at grant
over the amount an employee must pay to acquire the stock.
The corporation makes pro forma disclosures of net earnings
and earnings per share as if the fair-value-based method of
accounting had been applied as required by SFAS No. 123,
“Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation.”

Income Taxes

Deferred taxes are recognized for the future tax effects of
temporary differences between financial and income tax re-
porting using tax rates in effect for the years in which the
differences are expected to reverse. Federal income taxes
are provided on that portion of the income of foreign sub-
sidiaries that is expected to be remitted to the United States
and be taxable.

Financial Instruments

The corporation uses financial instruments, including forward
exchange, option, futures and swap contracts, to manage its
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exposures to movements in interest rates, foreign exchange
rates and commodity prices. The use of these financial instru-
ments modifies the exposure of these risks with the intent to
reduce the risk or cost to the corporation. The corporation
does not use derivatives for trading purposes and is not a
party to leveraged derivatives.

The corporation formally documents its hedge relation-
ships, including identification of the hedging instruments and
the hedged items, as well as its risk management objectives
and strategies for undertaking the hedge transaction. This
process includes linking derivatives that are designated as
hedges of specific assets, liabilities, firm commitments or
forecasted transactions. The corporation also formally as-
sesses, both at inception and at least quarterly thereafter,
whether the derivatives that are used in hedging transac-
tions are highly effective in offsetting changes in either the
fair value or cash flows of the hedged item. If it is determined
that a derivative ceases to be a highly effective hedge, or if the
anticipated transaction is no longer likely to occur, the cor-
poration discontinues hedge accounting, and any deferred
gains or losses are recorded in selling, general and adminis-
trative expenses.

Derivatives are recorded in the consolidated balance
sheets at fair value in other assets and other liabilities. The fair
value is based upon either market quotes for actively traded
instruments or independent bids for non-exchange traded
instruments.

On the date the derivative is entered into, the corpora-
tion designates the derivative as one of the following types
of hedging instruments and accounts for the derivative as
follows:

Fair Value Hedge

A hedge of a recognized asset or liability or an unrecog-
nized firm commitment is declared as a fair value hedge. For
fair value hedges, both the effective and ineffective portions
.of the changes in the fair value of the derivative, along with
the gain or loss on the hedged item that is attributable to
the hedged risk, are recorded in earnings and reported in the
consolidated statements of income on the same line as the
hedged item.

Cash Flow Hedge

A hedge of a forecasted transaction or of the variability of
cash flows to be received or paid related to a recognized as-
set or liability is declared as a cash flow hedge. The effective
portion of the change in the fair value of a derivative that is de-
clared as a cash flow hedge is recorded in accumulated other
comprehensive income. When the hedged item impacts the
income statement, the gain or loss included in accumulated
other comprehensive income is reported on the same line in
the consolidated statements of income as the hedged item.
In addition, both the fair value of changes excluded from the
corporation’s effectiveness assessments and the ineffective
portion of the changes in the fair value of derivatives used as
cash flow hedges are reported in selling, general and admin-
istrative expenses in the consolidated statements of income.

Net Investment Hedge

A hedge of a net investment in a foreign operation is de-
clared as a net investment hedge. The effective portion of
the change in the fair value of derivatives, based upon spot
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rates, used as a net investment hedge of a foreign opera-
tion is recorded in the cumulative translation adjustment ac-
count within common stockholders’ equity. The ineffective
portion of the change in the fair value of a derivative or non-
derivative instrument designated as a net investment hedge
is recorded in selling, general and administrative expenses,
or interest expense if the hedging instrument is a swap, in
the consolidated statements of income. Non-U.S.-dollar fi-
nancing transactions are accounted for as net investment
hedges when the hedged item is a long-term investment in
the corresponding foreign currency.

Natural Hedge

A derivative used as a natural hedging instrument whose
change in fair value is recognized to act as an economic
hedge against changes in the values of the hedged item is
declared as a natural hedge. For derivatives designated as
natural hedges, changes in fair value are reported in earn-
ings in the selling, general and administrative expenses line
of the consolidated statements of income. Forward exchange
contracts are recorded as natural hedges when the hedged
item is a recorded asset or liability that is revalued in each
accounting period, in accordance with SFAS No. 52, “Foreign
Currency Translation.”

Business Acquisitions and Dispositions

All business acquisitions completed in 2002 have been ac-
counted for under the provisions of SFAS No. 141, “Busi-
ness Combinations,” which requires the use of the purchase
method. All business acquisitions completed in 2001 and
2000 were accounted for under the purchase method as set
forth in APB No. 16, “Business Combinations.” While the pur-
chase methods as defined in APB No. 16 and SFAS No. 141
are similar in many respects, they differ as to the criteria for
the recognition of identifiable intangible assets. For all acqui-
sitions completed in these periods, cash and the fair value of
other assets distributed and securities issued uncondition-
ally and amounts of consideration that are determinable at
the date of acquisition are included in determining the cost
of an acquired business. Consideration that is issued or is-
suable at the expiration of a contingency period, or that is
held in escrow pending the outcome of a contingency, is not
recorded as a liability or shown as an outstanding security
unless the outcome of the contingency is determinable.
Gains on business dispositions are recognized when the
transactions close and the amounts are realized. Losses on
business dispositions are realized when the losses are prob-
able and measurable. In measuring gains or losses on the
disposition of a business, the consideration received is mea-
sured as the amount of cash and the fair value of other assets
received and securities transferred unconditionally.
Substantially all consideration associated with business
acquisitions and dispositions recognized in 2002, 2001 and
2000 involved the receipt or payment of cash or shares of the
corporation’s common stock. These amounts are disclosed
in the consolidated statements of cash flows and the con-
solidated statements of common stockholders’ equity.
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1.61
XEROX CORPORATION (DEC)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

(Dollars in millions, except per-share data and unless
otherwise indicated)

Note 1—Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

References herein to “we,” “us” or “our” refer to Xerox Cor-
poration and its subsidiaries unless the context specifically
requires otherwise.

Description of Business and Basis of Presentation

We are The Document Company®, and a leader in the global
document market, developing, manufacturing, marketing,
servicing and financing a complete range of document equip-
ment, software, solutions and services.

Liquidity, Financial Flexibility and Funding Plans

We manage our worldwide liquidity using internal cash man-
agement practices, which are subject to (1) the statutes, reg-
ulations and practices of each of the local jurisdictions in
which we operate, (2) the legal requirements of the agree-
ments to which we are parties and (3) the policies and co-
operation of the financial institutions we utilize to maintain
such cash management practices. In 2000, our operational
issues were exacerbated by significant competitive and in-
dustry changes, adverse economic conditions, and signif-
icant technology and acquisition spending. Together, these
conditions negatively impacted our liquidity, which from 2000
to 2002 led to a series of credit rating downgrades, eventually
to below investment grade. Consequently, our access to cap-
ital and derivative markets has been restricted. The down-
grades also required us to cash-collateralize certain deriva-
tive and securitization arrangements to prevent them from
terminating, and to immediately settle terminating deriva-
tive contracts. Further, we are required to maintain minimum
cash balances in escrow on certain borrowings and letters
of credit. In addition, as discussed in Note 15, the Securities
and Exchange Commission (the “SEC”) would not allow us to
publicly register any securities offerings while its investiga-
tion, which commenced in June 2000, was ongoing. This ad-
ditional constraint essentially prevented us from raising funds
from sources other than unregistered capital markets offer-
ings and private lending or equity sources. Consequently,
our credit ratings, which were already under pressure, came
under greater pressure since credit rating agencies often in-
clude access to capital sources in their rating criteria.

While the conclusion of the SEC investigation in 2002 re-
moved our previous inability to access public capital markets,
we expect our ability to access unsecured credit sources to
remain restricted as long as our credit ratings remain below
investment grade, and we expect our incremental cost of
borrowing to increase as a result of such credit ratings.

In June 2002, we entered into an Amended and Restated
Credit Agreement (the “New Credit Facility”) with a group of
lenders, replacing our prior $7 billion facility (the “Old Re-
volver”). At that time, we permanently repaid $2.8 billion of
the Old Revolver and subsequently paid $710 million on the
New Credit Facility. At December 31, 2002, the New Credit

ATT-SEC 1.61

Facility consisted of two tranches of term loans totaling
$2.0 billion and a $1.5 billion revolving credit facility that in-
cludes a $200 letter of credit subfacility. At December 31,
2002, $3.5 billion was outstanding under the New Credit Fa-
cility. At December 31, 2002 we had no additional borrowing
capacity under the New Credit Facility since the entire revolv-
ing facility was outstanding, including a $10 letter of credit
under the subfacility.

The New Credit Facility contains affirmative and nega-
tive covenants. The New Credit Facility contains financial
covenants that the Old Revolver did not contain. Certain of
the more significant covenants under the New Credit Facility
are summarized below (this summary is not complete and
is in all respects subject to the actual provisions of the New
Credit Facility):

¢ Excess cash of certain foreign subsidiaries and of Xerox
Credit Corporation, a wholly-owned subsidiary, must be
transferred to Xerox at the end of each fiscal quarter;
for this purpose, “excess cash” generally means cash
maintained by certain foreign subsidiaries taken as a
whole in excess of their aggregate working capital and
other needs in the ordinary course of business (net of
sources of funds from third parties), including reason-
ably anticipated needs for repaying debt and other obli-
gations and making investments in their businesses. In
certain circumstances, we are not required to transfer
cash to Xerox Corporation, the parent company, if the
transfer cannot be made in a tax efficient manner or if it
would be considered a breach of fiduciary duty by the
directors of the foreign subsidiary;

¢ Minimum EBITDA (a quarterly test that is based on
rolling four quarters) ranging from $1.0 to $1.3 billion;
for this purpose, “EBITDA” (Earnings before interest,
taxes, depreciation and amortization) generally means
EBITDA (excluding interest and financing income to the
extent included in consolidated net income), less any
amounts spent for software development that are cap-
italized;

* Maximum leverage ratio (a quarterly test that is calcu-
lated as total adjusted debt divided by EBITDA) ranging
from 4.3 to 6.0;

e Maximum capital expenditures (annual test) of $330 per
fiscal year plus up to $75 of any unused amount car-
ried over from the previous year; for this purpose, “capi-
tal expenditures” generally mean the amounts included
on our Statement of Cash Flows as “additions to land,
buildings and equipment,” plus any capital lease obli-
gations incurred;

¢ Minimum consolidated net worth ranging from $2.9 bil-
lion to $3.1 billion; for this purpose, “consolidated net
worth” generally means the sum of the amounts in-
cluded on our balance sheet as “Common sharehold-
ers’ equity,” “Preferred stock,” “Company-obligated,
mandatorily redeemable preferred securities of sub-
sidiary trust holding solely subordinated debentures of
the Company,” except that the currency translation ad-
justment effects and the effects of compliance with
Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 133,
“Accounting for Derivatives and Hedging” (“SFAS No.
133”) occurring after December 31, 2001 are disre-
garded, the preferred securities (whether or not con-
vertible) issued by us or by our subsidiaries which were
outstanding on June 21, 2002 will always be included,
and any capital stock or similar equity interest issued af-
ter June 21, 2002 which matures or generally becomes
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mandatorily redeemable for cash or puttable at holders’
option prior to November 1, 2005 is always excluded;
and

¢ Limitations on: (i) issuance of debt and preferred stock;

(i) creation of liens; (jii) certain fundamental changes
to corporate structure and nature of business, includ-
ing mergers; (iv) investments and acquisitions; (v) as-
set transfers; (vi) hedging transactions other than those
in the ordinary course of business and certain types
of synthetic equity or debt derivatives, and (vii) certain
types of restricted payments relating to our, or our sub-
sidiaries’, equity interests, including payment of cash
dividends on our common stock; (viii) certain types of
early retirement of debt, and (ix) certain transactions
with affiliates, including intercompany loans and asset
transfers.

The New Credit Facility generally does not affect our ability
to continue to monetize receivables under the agreements
with General Electric (“GE”) and others. Although we cannot
pay cash dividends on our common stock during the term of
the New Credit Facility, we can pay cash dividends on our
preferred stock, provided there is then no event of default. In
addition to other defaults customary for facilities of this type,
defaults on other debt, or bankruptcy, of Xerox Corporation,
or certain of our subsidiaries, would constitute defaults under
the New Credit Facility.

At December 31, 2002, we are in compliance with all as-
pects of the New Credit Facility including financial covenants
and expect to be in compliance for at least the next twelve
months. Failure to be in compliance with any material pro-
vision or covenant of the New Credit Facility could have a
material adverse effect on our liquidity and operations.

The New Credit Facility generally does not affect our ability
to continue to securitize receivables under the agreements
we have with GE and others, as discussed further in Note 5.
Although we cannot pay cash dividends on our common
stock during the term of the New Credit Facility, we can
pay cash dividends on our preferred stock, provided there
is then no event of default. In addition to other defaults cus-
tomary for facilities of this type, defaults on our other debt, or
bankruptcy, or certain of our subsidiaries, would constitute
defaults under the New Credit Facility.

At December 31, 2002, we are in compliance with all as-
pects of the New Credit Facility including financial covenants
and expect to be in compliance for at least the next twelve
months. Failure to be in compliance with any material pro-
vision or covenant of the New Credit Facility could have a
material adverse effect on our liquidity and operations.

With $2.9 billion of cash and cash equivalents on hand at
December 31, 2002, we believe our liquidity (including oper-
ating and other cash flows we expect to generate) will be suf-
ficient to meet operating cash flow requirements as they oc-
cur and to satisfy all scheduled debt maturities for at least the
next twelve months. Our ability to maintain sufficient liquid-
ity going forward is highly dependent on achieving expected
operating results, including capturing the benefits from re-
structuring activities, and completing announced finance re-
ceivables securitizations. There is no assurance that these
initiatives will be successful. Failure to successfully complete
these initiatives could have a material adverse effect on our
liquidity and our operations, and could require us to consider
further measures, including deferring planned capital expen-
ditures, reducing discretionary spending, selling additional
assets and, if necessary, restructuring existing debt.
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We also expect that our ability to fully access commer-
cial paper and other unsecured public debt markets will
depend upon improvements in our credit ratings, which in
turn depend on our ability to demonstrate sustained prof-
itability growth and operating cash generation and continued
progress on our vendor financing initiatives. Until such time,
we expect some bank credit lines to continue to be unavail-
able, and we intend to access other segments of the capital
markets as business conditions allow, which could provide
significant sources of additional funds until full access to the
unsecured public debt markets is restored.

Basis of Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the accounts
of Xerox Corporation and all of our controlled subsidiary com-
panies. All significant intercompany accounts and transac-
tions have been eliminated. Investments in business entities
in which we do not have control, but we have the ability to ex-
ercise significant influence over operating and financial poli-
cies (generally 20 to 50 percent ownership), are accounted
for using the equity method of accounting. Upon the sale
of stock of a subsidiary, we recognize a gain or loss in our
Consolidated Statements of Income equal to our proportion-
ate share of the corresponding increase or decrease in that
subsidiary’s equity. Operating results of acquired businesses
are included in the Consolidated Statements of Income from
the date of acquisition. For further discussion of acquisitions,
refer to Note 3.

Certain reclassifications of prior year am<ns1:XMLFault xmlns:ns1="http://cxf.apache.org/bindings/xformat"><ns1:faultstring xmlns:ns1="http://cxf.apache.org/bindings/xformat">java.lang.OutOfMemoryError: Java heap space</ns1:faultstring></ns1:XMLFault>